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Summa.ry

From Tennig Court to Opera House

The thesis is divided inbhree volumes. Volume I contains the
narrative relating the reconstruction of three theatres, the Duke's
Theatre in Lincoln's Inn Pields, the HNew Theatre in Lincoln's Im
Fields and the Queen's Theatre in the Haymarket. Volume II contains
the graphic material, the plates that illustrate the narrative, and
the Appendixe. Plans and other related drawings are placed within the
text in Volume I.

Volume I is in three parts and includes the bibliographye.

Volume I, part 1, contains a projected reconstruction of the Duke's
Theatre in Lincolnts Imn Fields, (LIF I and LIF II), which existed from
1661 dovn to 1714.

Volume I, part 2, contains a reconstruction of the New Theatre in
Lincoln's Inn PFields, 1718-1745.

Volume I, part 3, contains a reconstruction of the Queen'!s Theatre
in the Haymarket, 1705=1709.

In each part which is devoted to an individual theatre, the plot
on which the theatre was built is established. This is followed by a
limited discussion of the managerial difficulties encountered by the
entrepreneurs against the background of contemporary theatrical activity.
The section then concludes with a projected reconstruciion of that
rarticular theatre in the light of an analysis of graphic and textual
evidence. The theatre is described verbally and in graphic form, each
reconstruction being accompanied by plans and elevations of the theatre

under consideration.



xii

Part 1 traces the conversion by Sir William Davenant of Lisle's
Tennis Court into the Duke's Theatre, Lincoln's Inn Fields, which is
considered to %be the first modern theatre in England. A reassessment
of the land leases for the plot on which the theatre stood shows that
it was considerably larger than had been thought. On this revised plot
the reconstruction is projected.

Part 2 presents new evidence that establishes the site and
structure of the third theatre that was built on the site of Lislets
Tennis Court, the New Theatre in Lincoln's Inn Fields, (LIF III), built
by Christopher Rich. Within this sitructure a projected reconstruction
is offered of the theatre that operated between 1714 and 1745.

Part % contains an analysis of designs by Sir James Thornhill.

This pictorial evidence provides material allowing a projected recon-
struction of the original theatre, the Queen's Theatre in the Haymarket,
built by Sir John Vanbrugh. The account and reconstruction of this
theatre is limited to the years 1705«G, for these were the years during
which it retained ifts original form. The state of the theatre following
the alterations of 1709 is already well documented. This section
concludes with a brief account of the influences upon Vanbrugh's theatre
architecture and assesses his achievement.

This collection of reconstructions can be read in two ways; either
as an account of theatre architecture arranged historically, tracing the
development through Lincoln's Inn Fields I and II and then diverging by
two paths following first +that pursued by Thomas Betterton and the
Lincoln's Inn Fields Company who moved into the Queen'ts Theatre, and
then moving on %o study Lincoln's Inn Fields III; or alternatively,
one may trace the series of theatres built in Lincoln's Inn Fields and

then return to the building activities of 1705 and the Queen's Theatre.



The box Yol. III contains the large scale drawings showing
the reconstruction of LIF I, LIF III and the Queen's Theatre in
the Haymarket. Pigures showing the reconstruction of LIF I and
LIF I11 are figs. 16, 17, 25, 29, 30 & 31. Figures for the Queen's
Theatre in the Haymarket are figs. 34, 35, 36, 37, 38, 39, 42,

43, 46 & 47.
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Volume II contains the scurce material, graphic and literary,
that reflects the developments of the theatre, the reconstruction of
which is undertaken in Volume I. The plates show maps, paintings and
engravings of the vestiges of the theatres during the 19th century,
stage designs, theatre plans and elevations. The Appendix conteins
transcriptions of the principal documentary evidence employed in the

several reconstructions,

Note regarding the transcription of documents

In the text the lacunae in the quectations from transcribed
documents are the result of omitting irrelevancies. In the
Appendix the lacunae that occur in the transcriptions are due

to illegibility in the original document.



Lincoln's Inn Fields: Lisle'!'s Tennis Court

Ligle's Tennie Court - The Duke'!s Theatre in Lincoln!s Inn Fields

The Site: 1656 = 1705

1.
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Lisle's Tennis Court - The Duke's Theatre in Lincoln's Inn Fields.

The second tennis court to be converted into a theatre at the
Restoration was Lisle's Tennis Court in what became Portugal Street,
Lincoln's Inn Fieldso1 This conversion, carried out by Sir Williem
Davenant, manager of the Duke's Company of Comedians, was of the greatest
significance, for it was in this theatre that changeable scenery was
first introduced into the public playhouse. That innovation placed the
Duke's Theatre at the beginning of new developments in British theatre
which were to influence theatre architecture down to the present.
Immense as its contemporary influence must have been, little is known
of its actual dimensions and internal arrangements. Although this study
produces considerably more evidence regarding the site on which the tennis
court and theatre were built, it is not the final word on the theatre's
interior. What is offered here ig a more solid foundation upon which
speculation may be built.

Three theatres operated on the site of the original Lisle's tennis
court; the first two theatres were conversions of the tennis court, the
third ‘theatre was built upon the same site but the former ftennis court
was demolished and the new theatre raised on new foundations. Lisle's
tennis court was built in 1656 and converted by Sir William Davenant in
1661. This first theatre, the Duke's Theaire, remained in action until
1674, when it reverted to its original state. In 1695 Betterton's
seceding company returned to the restored temnis court, whereupon it
was reconverted to a theatre until 1705. After several years of disuse
Christopher Rich demolished the tennis court-theatre and built on the

same site +the New Theatre in Lincoln's Imn Fields, which functioned
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from 1714 to 1756. The theatre after that date was used for nearly a
century as a dwelling house, offices and warehouse. Finally in 1848,
while in +the hands of Messrs Spode and Copeland, it was sold to the
Royal College of Surgeons of England. The College demolished the
building and extended their premises, which already cccupied the
neighbouring site.

Much has been written upon this subject in recent and not quite
so recent years, especially by Leslie Hotson2 who speculated upon the

3

scope of the tennis court~playhouses, and by Paul Sawyer” who, in The

New Theatre in Lincoln's Inn Fields, projected a reconstruction of the

third theatre. Together, both Hotson and Sawyer surveyed the same

ground as is covered by this research, but neither of them svailed hime

self of all the material presented here. Consequently neither draws

a8 accurate a picture of the theatres as is afforded hy this present work.
To state the case briefly here and examine it at length below, the

present evidence shows that the tennis court theatres were considerably

larger than the 75'0" x 30'0" described by Hotson, and the third theatre

definitely larger than the 8910" x 48'Q" discussed by Sawyer. The first

two theatres were probably at least 108'0" x 42t0", and documentary

evidence proves that the third theatre was 113!'0" x 49'6"., 3Both theatres

possessed additional adjoining premises.

This study re-examines the documents studied by Hotson and Braines,4

(upon whom Hotson depended), and those more recently found in the Public

Record Office, London County Hall, the British Library, and the Westminster

Public Library. Particularly wvaluable are the title deeds of the site and

detailed plans drawn up by Sir Charles Barry, held by the Royal College

of Surgeons of England, which relate especially to the last theatre on

the site. Considerably more graphic evidence than previously published
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is employed to support the legal documents mentioned above, all of

which allow the presentation of a corrected and more certain evaluation
of not only the events and characters involved in the building of Lisle's
Tennis Court but also the temnis court itself, which was to become, under
Sir William Davenant, the Duke's Theatre, and fifty years later it was
demolished to make way for Christopher Rich's New Theatre in Lincoln's
Inn Fields.

In spite of the abundance of evidence dating from the years in
which purchase was made of the site, there are still periods for which
little information has been found. The most important facts upon which
all this documentation fails to enlighten are the most crucial. The
problem is that although the early documents explain the site on which
the theatres were subsequently constructed, they do not describe those
tennis courts or the theatres. Furthermore although the documents record
the events which gave rise to the scope of the site in 1848, there is no
evidence to confirm that the vestiges drawn in 1848 represent the theatre
built in 1714. Finally whilst it will be shown that the 1848 drawings
indicate, with minor modifications, the 1714 structure, no evidence has
been found that would enable one to conclude that the 1656 tennis court
was of the same dimensions as the 1714 theatre.

The purpose of this research is to set out and clarify first, the
complexities of the development of the actual site as it changed over
the years from its initial purchase in 1656 down to its sale in 1848.
Baving established the boundaries of the site at different periods,(this
will be considered in two phases, 1656-1705, and 1705-1848),the second
objective will be to reconstruct the tennis court built in 1656 according
to the limitations imposed by the site and thirdly, the theatres placed
within that tennis court. FMinally a reconstruction of the purpose built

theatre of 1714 will be projected.



In order to present as briefly and as fully as possible the
evidence provided by the documente cited it is necessary to give
certain background information regarding the characters involved in
the development of Lislet's Tennis Court and its environs, for reference
is constantly made to these in the deeds studied below. A short bio~
graphical account of the owners of the temnis court, followed by a
description of Lincoln's Inn Fields as it was in 1656, will therefore
introduce the discussion concerning the purchase of the land on which
the tennis court was built.

The Owners and Builders of Lisle's Tennis Court, 1656 - 1737.

Because those who purchased the lend on which they built a tennis
court pursued their differences by litigetion, we know a considerable
amount about them, their activiities, and of course, the object of their
claims, the site upon which three theatres would stand. This under-
taking was primarily a family affair and due to marrying, remarrying
and subsequent children, the names of characters change and their
relationships one to another become confused. To simplify the matter
reference may be made to the Moore-Lisle-Reeve family table. The
table shows in a highly compressed form the dates of births, deaths
and marriages within the family, the towns from which they haled, theixr
careers and where known, their wills. A slightly more extended bio-

graphy of the principal characters is provided in the appendix.

Se



The Moore - Lisle = Reeve Families

Richard MOORE = 7

( 27 - 1662)
Hatfield, Bampshire
Will, 10 Oct. 1662

HorLtio I) =
1622 = 1660 1652
Matric. 8. 6. 1638
Balliol Coll. Oxon.
Grads B.d., 1l. 2. 1640/1

Student Inner Temple 1640.
Called to Bar, 1650/1.

f
Horatio (II) = Anne ? Frances

1658/9~1708 d.1708 ?
Reversionary grant,
Royal Tennis Court,

25 Nov. 1676.
Master of His Majesty's
Tennis Courts, 23. 8. 1698.
P,C.C, Admins. 1710 Aug.,
Prob. 6/86, f.166.

1705 Mortgaged interest
in Lislet's Tennis Court, 1705.

? TYIER = Anne ? = Thomas LISLE
(d.1698) 1655 (d.1680)
London

Anne TYIER = Richard REEVE
? - after 1662 2 - 1702
1714 Dagnall, Bucks

Executor, R.Moore will.
Will proved by widow,

25. 6. 1702,
Property - Lisle's T.C.,
New Windsor, Bucks.,
Warwickshire, and 4
houses in Sermon lLane,
London.

| | l
Thomes = A,Topham Olivia ? Cockshed
1673-1737 ? ? ?
Matric. 23, 11l. 1688
Trinity Coll. Oxon.
Grad.
Called to Bar, Inner Temple, 1698.
Middle Temple, 1713.
King'!s Councillor, 1718,
Sergeant-at-Arms, 1723,
Treasurer & Attorney-general Duchy
of Lancaster, 1728.
Judge of Common Pleas, 1733-36.
Kt., 25 Jan. 1736.
Lord Chief Justice of the Court of
Common Pleas, 173%6.
P.C.C. 20 Jan., 1737.

Bequeathed interest to Thomas REEVE
gon of late cousin John REEVE.
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The Site - Lincoln's Inn Fields defined; the site and early illustrations.

Before considering the internal characteristics of the theatres it
is necessary to clarify the precise limits of the site and by deduction
the overall proportions of the buildings, a8 owner and lessee succeeded
one another, each developing the original site according to his particular
purposes. Sometimes this entailed the sale of part of the property, on
other occasions the acquisition of additional land.

The description of several fields which constituted Lincoln's Inn
Fields which follows is given not only to facilitate the reading of the
title deeds related to the purchase of the land but also because it is
necessary to establish correctly the site of the temnnis court which was
previously inaccurately determined by Leslie Hotson.5 Further this
reconstruction shows that the original site of the tennis court was
only slightly reduced in the 1848 plans. The differences between the
first and last plot are not the result of any realignment or the result
of any additional purchases of land in 1714.

The tennis court, the New Tennis Court,6 later and more familiarly
called Lisle'!s Tennis Court - first mention of this title is to be found
in Davenant's indenture, dated 7 March 1660/17 - wes built during 1656-7
on a plot of ground situated in Lincoln's Inn Fields. It is represented
in two contemporary maps, Faithorne and Newcourt, pl.I, 1658; and Hollar,
pl.II, 1658. The most concise and informed historical account of Lincoln's

Inn Fields and its development is to be found in the Survey of London,

vol. III, pt. I, 'St.Giles in the Fields'.8 The portion of Lincola's Inn
Fields with which one is concerned straddled the parish of St Giles in
the Fields and the adjacent parish of St Clement Danes. Unfortunately
the latter has not yet received the same attention in that Survey as the

former. A brief explanation of the environs follows, making reference
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to pl.II and fig.l.9 This is to make more readily accessible the
argunent and the recitation of excerpts from the documents relating
to the plots which are discussed below.

The Hollar map, pl.II, affords the clearest visual representation
of the site. Although usually dated 1658 it must have been drawn
earlier since by that year further developments which are the subject
of this research had already taken place. Nevertheless the map does
show Lincoln's Inn Fields almost completely developed, on the west end
north confined by buildings; on the east Lincoln's Inn Wall made the
third side of the square which, on the fourth side, though completed on
the south-west corner, was open on the south~east, allowing the fields
to flow into the area labelled 'Lesser Lincoln!s Inn Fields'. It was
here that the tennis court was situated, shown in the detail of pl.II,
pl.IIT.

In the deeds to be examined Lincoln's Inn Fields is described in
terms of its three constituent fields, Purse Field on the west, Cup
Pield on the east and Ficketts Field on the south. W.¥. Braines, in

his introduction to vol.III, Survey of London, suggested that the

boundaries between these fields, which seemed to be wvague even to
contemporaries, were defined,(see fig.l), by, on the west, Purse Field
bounded by the Sewer on the south and the Ditch on the east, Cup Field
by the Ditch on the west, Lincoln's Inn Wall on the east and the Sewer
on the south, and both fields terminated in the west and north, respec-
tively, by the boundary created by the new building. Ficketts Field
extended south of the line described by the Sewer which traversed the
fields on the west from the Essex Streset Sewer eastward to the bridge
at the south end of Lincoln's Inn Well. The precise course of the

gewer is not known but it seems that it did not follow the same line as
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that indicating the parish boundaries. Consequently there are frequent
ambiguities or unintended confusions in the descriptions of plots, for
it would seem that they overlapped both field and parish boundaries so
that literary precision is lacking when defining exactly the field or
parish in which the land was situated, to the north St. Giles in the
Fields or in the south, St, Clement Danes.

In addition to showing these boundaries within Lincoln's Inn
Fields, fig.l dintroduces, in a simplified form, the area under dis-
cussion at the time when preparations were being made for the building
of Lisle's Tennis Court. By the year 1654, the first moves towards the
development of the tennis court are recorded. All that southerm portion
of the land hounded by what were to become known in the north as
Portugal Row and in the south as Portugal Street was developed, on the
west, as far eastward as the house which was later to be numbered 41.
This whole area 'I' is coloured blue. It was to the south of Purse
Field, and ran south over the parish boundary into Ficketts Field to
Portugal Street (sometimes called the Causeway or Playhouse Street).

It extended to the east as far as the boundary between Purse Field and
Cup Field - the Ditch. No. 41 Portugal Row was bullt for Sir Basil
Brookes on & plot he had bought in 1640 from William NewtonlO and in
subsequent land transactions it was in relation %o the eastern wall of
No. 41, then in the hands or occupation of Lord Brudenell, that measure-~
ments were made defining the dimensions of the eastern percels of ground.
The line indicating the eastern wall of No. 41 is marked more heavily
than the others and extended north and south to make clear the function
that the wall performed.

Cup Field.

On 30 December 1652 Sir William Cowper bought from Judith Hill,11

his widowed sister, for £190, a large portion of Lincoln's Inn Fields,
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tall that field with appurtainances commonly called and known by the
name of Copfield or Cupfield situate lying and being in the parish of
8t Giles in the Fields or St Clement Danes containing by estimation
six acres's It was in the later years of the 1650s that Sir William
Cowper and his associates developed the southern part of this property,
breaking it up into smeller plots which they either sold independently
or developed themselves. Fig.l, area II, coloured sepia, shows this
field. The precise area of the Cowper holding as shown in fig.l is
determined by later transactions to be discussed below.

Cup Field and Fickette Field.

By reference to evidence drawn from three documents it is possible
to determine the narrower boundaries that confined the area of Cup
Pield and Ficketts Field that contained the tennis court-playhouse and
its agsociated buildings; first, an agreement between the Society of
Lincoln's Inn and Sir William Cowper and his oonfederates.12 This
covenant arose out of a long battle between the Society and the would=be
developers in which the Society attempted to resist any building on the
Fields.l3 The agreement defined the eastern houndary of the site.
Secondly, there wes an agreement made between Sir William Cowper and Co.
and Richard Kirby,l4 defining the scope and style of the development of
two double houses that Cowper was erecting adjacent to, or in close
proximity to, those built by Horatio licore I, which in turn abutted on
¥o. 41 Portugal Row. Of particular importance are two items in that
agreement which help interpret the meaning of the descriptions of the
various plots found in the Close Rolls.

The third document is that which hes already been noted above, namely
the indenture of sale of the plot No. 41 Portugal Row,15 for this pro-
vides part of the information required to measure the western boundary,

the wall and its length north and south, on the eastern side of this plot.
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Recalling that on the south side of the ground in question,
running weet to east, was the Causeway, one can proceed to the eastern
extremity of the Cowper/Newton land and note that the Society of
Lincoln's Inn and Cowper agreement - and probably Newton was party to

another similexrly worded - states that all building conducted by Cowper

should terminate forty foot from the Lincoln's Inn Wall.16 The broken

lines, figs. 1 and 2, show this boundary on the east of the combined
Cup Field and PFicketts Field plots. On the north, the broken line is
derived from the projection eastward of the line followed by the posis
and rails before the houses to the west of No. 41 Portugal Row. These
railg are to be seen clearly in the Hollar map, pl.II, and follow almost
exactly the line of the kerb shown on the 1874 Ordmnance Survey map of
the district. Justification for this step in the reconstruction rests
upon Items 5 and 9 of the agreement between Cowper and Xirby which

state respectively,

That the said Richard Kirby his executors administrators
and assigns shall and will and sufficiently with stones
pave all the breadth of the street alloted and appointed
from the front of the two said houses hence to the rails
in range with the rails standing on the north side of
Portugal Row aforesaid and in length along and so far as
the said paved off ground doth extend and slmll raise or
take lower the same if need bs.

and Item 9,

That the said Richard Kirby his executors administrators
and assigns shall and will enclose one piece of ground

all the front of the said two houses with a brick wall
containing the thickness of one brick and a half in
thickness and in all ways in equal and parallel proportion
and range with those already maede in Portugal Row aforesaid
and with like and proportionable great grates of freeze
stone and pavement and two great doors at the two seversl
gates belonging with the said two houses with brick and
stone and he the said Richard Xirby his executors
administrators and assigns shall make two such arches



and veults of brick in equal height and breadth under

each of the aforesaid to be enclosed courtyards of

the said two houses and buildings with those made by

Horatio Moore Esq with iron grates to give light into

the said vaults.
These two articles clearly show that there was a considerable plot of
land standing before the facades of the houses. Item 9 indicates that
there was a forecourt which was walled about, and item 5 allows for a
paving before the forecourt posts and gates; bounded in turn by a
range of posts and rails that indicated the northern extremity of any
plot to the east of No. 41. These are the posts and rails mentioned
in the Close Rolls. When the plots of No. 41 and all those to the wes?t
were get out, their measurements were described according to a line
gtaked out on the site which showed the position or line on which were
to be built the facades of the houses.l7 The measurement was not
according %o the line described by the posts and rails, which possibly
were not then in existence. Consequently there is the seeming dis-
perity in the lengths of site found in the documents which is clarified
once one applies, as it were, an old style/new style mode of surveying.
The eastern wall of No. 41, which is the important westerly bhoundary of
the Moore I property and marked more heavily in the figures, is there-
fore éll of the 129' - 132" north and south of the Close Rolls to be
discussed and additionally, on the north, the walled forecourt and space
given over to a wide pavement. It will be seen that there is reasonable
foundation for suggesting that overall, north to south, the length of
this property could approximate 186!, and it is on this understanding
that the figures used 4o describe the land transactions and developments

are employed in the present reconstruction.

15.
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The Site - Iand Purchase; Background.

In 1639 William Newton leased to Sir David Cunningham for £1000
for a term of ninety-seven years a plot three hundred and sixty foot
long and one hundred foot wide,l8 fig.l, area III, on which Sir David
Cunningham was granted a licence to build on 5 December 1639.19

The Newton ground fig.l is labelled 'III' and coloured pink. It
was bordered in the north by the Cowper land; on the east, by the
Lincoln's Inn wall but reduced by strictures similar to those imposed
upon Sir William Cowper; on the south, by the Causeway, the name given
to that highway later to be called Portugal Street; on the west, it
was bounded by the eastern wall of No. 41, Lord Brudenell's house. The
northern boundary shown in fig.l for the Newton plot clearly does not
pernit of the three hundred and sixty foot by one hundred foot mentioned
above and in the deeds, but the boundary is arrived at by compilation of
the smaller plots into which this was later divided showing that, it is
argued, the property never was in reality a regular rectangle 360! x 100t,
but that these two dimensions describe only two gides of an irregularly
shaped piece of land. This state of affairs held down to 1654 when all
that land which had remasined open fields began to take on the more

familiar features that are still recognizable today.

The Site: Land Purchase by Horatio Moore I.

The principal sources from which information is drawn concerning
the early building activities are the bills, Complaint and Answer,
arising from the dispute between Horatio Moore II and Anne his wife
against Anne Lisle (his grandmother), Richard Reeve (his step-father),
Amme Reeve (his mother), and Thomas Reeve (his half-brother). This case
occurred in 1689 when Horatio Moore II, whose father, Horatio Moore I,

had built the temnie court, claimed that he wes being deprived of his
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inherited right and title to the tennis court and the land on which
it was built. That there were two Horatio Moores seems to have eluded
Lealie Hotson when he read the documents; for had he recognized this
fact he may well have paid more attention to other bills he listed in
hisg Appendix20 and yet never used in his argument. Where possible,
evidence will be drawn from additional supporting documents that have
been read more recently, and reference will be made to transcriptions
to be found in the appendixe
With regard to the specific plot of ground with which one is
concerned, it is not necessary to pursue its history earlier than 1639,
for it was in that year that the land passed intc the hands of the man
from whom Horatio Moore I made his purchase. In the deeds of that 1639
lease, the dimensions that defined the site that ultimately contained
the tennis court were set down.
On 19 December 1639 William Newton leased to Sir David Cunningham
for £1000
from the first day of All Saints last past before the date
thereof for and during and unto the full end and term of
four score and seventeen years . . . all that and so much
of a field called Ficketts Field extending from a field
called Purse Field west unto or towards Lincoln's Inn Well
east as did contain in length three hundred and three score
foot of assize or thereabouts and in breadth all along from
the north part of a field called Cup Field southwards into
Fickette Field as aforeseid one hundred foot or more there-
abouts with such licence liberty privilege and authority to
build upon the said premises as was in any wise granted and
authorised unto William Newton by virtue of one licence

granted under the Great Seal of England bearing date 5
December 1639.21

This area is indicated on fig.2, as 'III!', and coloured pink.
Nothing of any great moment seems t0 have happened to this site until
after the death of William Newton when, in the process of executing the

will of the deceased, Humphrey Newton agreed on 12 August 1644 to






lease to Sir David Cunningham, for £1732 for the term of ninety-seven
years, all that ground previously mentioned, 360! x 100'. This was on
condition that Sir David was to redemise or convey one hundred foot
square of the 360! plot to Humphrey Newton and Thomas Newton, who
would grant and release to Sir David the freehold of the remaining

2

260'.2 This partitioning of the area 'III' is marked in fig.2 as

Iils. and IIIaz.

1
Nearly ten years later, 22 February 1654/5, Sir David Cumninghem,
by leasing 'for all the time and term of years {0 come and unexpired
which he the said Sir David Cunningham then had right', to Anne Tyler
of Fetter lLane in the parish of St,Dunstan in the West, London, widow,
for £650, set in motion the development of the site on which was to be
built the tennis court, that is,

g0 much of the said field called Ficketts Field hefore
mentioned extending from the foresaid field called Purse
Field west and doth contain in length two hundred and

three score foot of assize and in breadth all along from

the aforesaid field called Cup Field southwards into
Ficketts Field aforesaid one hundred foot of assize
together with all appurtainances whatsoever thereunto

belonging and all such licence liberty and authority to
build before mentioned.23

This plot has been referred to in fig.2, IIIaz.

The nature of this transaction was disputed by Horatio Moore II in
1689, claiming that Anne Tyler held the property in trust for Sir David
Cumningham and that no money was exchanged,24 but the Harris Bill of

166227 and the Cowper-Moore indenture of 165826

would seem to support
the Lisle statement, though in the last document the real situation is
confused by the nature of the exchange of the property involved and the

fact that search has failed to produce its counterpart.
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It was in that year, 1655, that Anne Tyler merried Thomas Lisle,
and it was claimed that thereafter all the ensuing transactions under-
taken by Hoxatio Moore I were not for himself but were in trust for
the Lisles.>! This state of affairs Horatio Moore II disputed. It is
to these purchases that attention now turns.

In 1656 Horatio Moore I and his associate James Hooker began %o
purchase the freehold of several plots of land, the first of which was
to contain the tennis court; but the descriptions of this particular
plot require some unravelling. The dimensions are given first and the
placing of the plot within the whole site discussed after introducing
the variant directions. It should be mentioned that searches in the
Cloge Rolls for the indentures related to these sales have not been
successful and therefore one is totally dependent upon the information

provided by the 1689 documents.

iy

1Sir David Cunningham now [1656] become weil and lawfully seized
in his demesne of the two hundred and sixty foot by one hundred foot!
for the sum of £240 sold, 'one hundred and thirty foot in length and
seventy-three foot in breadth part of the said two hundred and sixty
and one hundred foot',28 by way of one moiety for £120 to Horatio Moore I,
and the other for the same tc James Hooker. This division of the area

IITa, is indicated in fig.2 as ITI 'bt.

2
As the Chancery documents describe this plot in different ways some
confusion has arisen which needs clarification hefore proceeding further,
for it was on this plot of ground that the court was built. Hotson
followed the directions given in the Reeve and Lisle Complaint but it
seems to me that this does not define the area in question but co?bines

it with others purchased subsequently. On the other hand the Answer of

Horatio Moore IT seems 0 be not only more helpful, but clearer in its
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delineation of the plot, because Moore II dealt with each subsequent
acquisition of ground in turn, relating each plot to its uitimate
function., The descriptions as found in both the Complaint and Answer
are given here and subsequently discussed. The first, from the Complaint

of Anne Lisle and Richard Reeve, is that

piece or parcel of ground being part and parcel of ground
being part and parcel of the said fields called Ficketts
Field Purse Field and Cup Field or one of them adjoining
on the east side to a great messuage or tenement stables
and other buildings there then or then late of Sir Basil
Brookes Kt wherein Thomas Brudenell inhsbited or dwelst

and which said piece or parcel of ground contains in
breadth from west and east on the south side of the great
messuage or building seventy three foot of assize or
thereabouts all along from the said great house stables
and buildings by the verge or edge of the causeway leading
from New Market Place ftowards Lincoln's Inn ranging from
west to east on the north side from the front of the said
great messuage towards Lincoln's Inn Wall seventy three
foot also of assize or thereabouts and extending in length
or depth from the edge or verge of the aforesaid causeway
to the front or verge of the said Sir Basil Brookes house
and all ways paths and passages then used or thereafter to
be used as well on horse back as on foot.29

The description of the same plot extracted from the Horatio Moore II
Answer instructs that it
be construed and adjudged to be of the said one hundred
and thirty foot of land in length and to be accompted
from Purge Field in the bill mentioned west unto or
towards Lincoln's Inn Wall east all along by the verge
of the causeway leading from the building and stables or
outhouses then or then late in the tenure of the Lord
Brudenell or his asgigns towards Lincolnts Inn Wall and

from the verge of the said causeway south and north
seventy three foot in breadth.30

It will be noted that each description of the property gives rise to
different interpretations of the plot. Admittedly these statements
refer to events which took place nearly forty years earlier, but
reference must have been made to the original indentures, and one
can only suggest that there was error on the part of the clerks or

wilful confusion introduced by one of the parties. According to the
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Lisle~Reeve Complaint the plot was seventy three foot wide in the
north and south and extended all along from north to south the eastern
wall of Lord Brudenell's house, No. 41, whatever this dimension was,
for it was never given within these documents. It has only been
arrived at by reference to the indenture of the sale of the plot No. 41,
the agreement between Cowper and the Society of Lincoln's Inn, and sube
sequent land exchanges, all of which have been compared with the Barry
plan of 1848°% showing the whole site in order 4o justify the conclusion
drawn here.

The Moore Answer, however, does provide both dimensions, length
and breadth, more precisely, namely seventy three foot north and south
along the southern end of fthe eastern wall of No. 41, and all along the
Causeway in the south from the wall of No. 41 towards Lincoln's Inn Wall
one hundred and thirty foot. The principal difference in the two
descriptions is that the Lisles claimed that the ground ran in length
from north to south alongside No. 41, whereas the Moores stated that it
ran from east to west along the Causeway; clearly only one can be
accepted.

The evidence would seem to support the Moore statement for it will
be recalled that this plot of land was part of the original 260! x 100!
acquired by Cunningham from Newton and therefore, since that plot was
only 100' wide north and south, the division of this plot when part of
it was 80ld to Horatio Moore I and James Hooker could only permit the
130' length to run east and west. By reference to the plans of the area
in question, fig.2, it will be clear that if this plot had run along the
eagtern wall of No. 41, north and south, for 130' it would have encroached
upon lend owmed not by Sir David Cunningham but by Sir William Cowper and
his associates. These factors argue in favour of accepting Moore II's
statement and further evidence drawn from later developments makes for

additional support.
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From the graphic evidence it is quite ciear that the tennis
court, as illustrated by both Faithorne and Hollar, occupied & plot
whose length ranged from west to east towards Lincoln's Inn Wall. In
order not to labour the point here, pls, IV, V, VI and V1132 support
this solution to the documentary evidence. All subsequent maps of the
area in the intervening years show the same orientation and Barry's
plen of the site provides the ultimate confirmation.

In conclusion it is claimed that the plot of 130' x 73! was
situated on the northern verge of the Causeway running from the eastern
wall of No. 41 towards Lincoln's Inn Wall for 130' and northwards, from
the southern corner of the eastern wall of No. 41, 73's. The plot is
shown in this positicn in fig.3%, 'b', where its relationship tc the
larger piece or parcel of ground from which it was divided is apparent.

Two further plots were bought by Horatio Moore I and James Hooker
which came from the remaining 130' x 100' that Sir David Cunningham
still possessed in 1656. Again these two plots are described as being
'all of this part of the said parcel of ground of two hundred and sixty
foot in length and one hundred foot in breadth's With regard to this
transaction there is no dispute in the 3ills and both the Moore II
Answer and the Lisle-Reeve Complaint confirm that on 25 July 1656 Sir
David Cunningham conveyed to Horatio Moore I for, in total, £178, by

way of two separate moieties in,

another parcel of ground lying next to the said percel

of ground last before mentioned [that considered above],
containing in breadth towards Lincoln's Inn forty five
foot and in length from Cup Field aforesaid into the said
field called Ficketts Field one hundred foot and also a
moiety of another parcel of ground lying next the last
mentioned parcel of ground containing in breadth towards
Lincoln's Inn aforesaid twenty two foot and in length
from the north part of Cup Field aforesaid into Ficketts
Field aforesaid one hundred foot with appurtainances.>>



On the same day Sir David Cumningham conveyed to James Hooker for £90
the other moiety of the said parcel of ground of twenty two foot. The
positions of these two plots of land are indicated on fig.3 as 'c! and
'd', leaving an area 'e!, of the original 260! x 100' still in the hands

of Cunninghem but apparently leased to Anne Lisle since 1655,

The Portugal Row Plot Adjoining to the North.

Two years after purchasing the 130t x 73' site, and when the tennis
court had been built, Horatio Moore I entered upon an exchange of land
with his neighbours to the north, Sir William Cowper and Cos. The
importance of these negotiations is that first, the exchange which
followed provided Moore I with direct access to Lincoln's Inn Fields,
second, the deeds recording the re~sale of land, when divided into
smaller plots, provide information relating directly to the tennis court.

The transactions that resulted inveolved the exchange of the two
previous purchases by Moore I and Hooker, along with a portion of the
larger plot acquired earlier, for a plot of land 72' wide by 113! in
length which was part of Cup Field; the area belonging to Sir William
Cowper and his associates,.fig.B, I1I, to the north of Ficketts Field.
There is confusion over the precise area of the ground which Moore I and
Hooker exchanged, but it is possible to suggest a solution by reference

34

to the Cowper and Moore indenture”™ and later developments.

The description of this plot to the east of the now erected court
is drawn from an indenture of 26 February 1657/8. On that day the
exchange of land was recorded by ftwo indentures, one of two parts, Sir
Willian Cowper, Captain James Cowper, Robert Henley and William Cowper
of the first part and Horatio Moore I of the second part, the other a
tripartite agreement between Horatioc Moore I and Anne Tyler of the first

part, John Henley of the second and William Cowper of the third.

23,
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Unfortunately only the first indenture appears to have been enrolled
amongst the Close Rolls, and no search has uncovered the second, which
would undoubtedly be of greater value here. However, the descriptions

of the plots to be exchanged are as follows. Moore I was to exchange

for and in consideration of & certain parcel of land
being part of Ficketts Field in the parish of St

Clement Danes in the county Middlesex by the said
Horatio Moore and Anme Tyler widow or cne of them
granted and conveyed or mentioned and intended to be
granted and conveyed by several equal moieties or

half parts unto John Henley of the Inner Temple London
gent and his executors administrators and assignes and
unto the said William Cowper his executors administrators
and assignes.

John Henley and William Cowper exchanged a plot which was described as,

all that or go much of a certain field called or known
by the name Cup Field otherwise Copp Field lying and
being in the several parishes of St Giles in the Fields
and of 5t Clement Danes or within one of them in the
said county of Middlesex beginning or extending on the
west part from the outer eastern post of the rails
before the brick house now or late belonging unto or
now or late in the tenure occupation or possession of
the Lord Brudenell standing at the east end of the
southern long roe or range of buildings in the field
commonly called or known by the name of Lincoln's Inn
Fields in the said county of Hiddlesex and from thence
in front extending seventy two foot of assize straight
on eastward from the said post of the said rails to-
wards Lincoln's Inn aforesaid and from the aforesaid
front running southward hence unto the said field
called Ficketts Field containing by estimation one
hundred and thirteen foot of assize or thereabouts
north and south by the same more or less.

The first description is not vexry informative and has to be augmented by
information found elsewhere but the second gives about as much information
a8 is required. But with regard to the land left in the possession of
Moore I upon which the tennis court stood, one must turn to the 1689

bille which, in places, recite accurately the above mentioned indenture,
and elsewhere, one hopes that that which is now lost is repeated with the

same accuracy, even though what is meant is not always cleaxr,
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Both Complaint and Answer give the same rendering of the plot
that was acquired by Moore I but concerning the plot exchanged, where
the Complaint only =ays, 'for the consideration therein mentioned!,
the Answer, which might well be drawn from the original counterpaxrt,
is confusing,

in consideration of the conveyance hereafter mentioned

to be made by Sir William Cowper James Cowper Robert

Henley and William Cowper and one hundred pounds paid

to Horatio Moore and part thereof to Amnne Lisle and set

over to one Jolm Henley and fthe said Sir William Cowper

e o « a parcel of ground part of Ficketts Field aforesaid

one hundred and eighty eight foot in length from the

house then in the possession or occupation of the Lord

Brudenell eastward and from the utmost south bounds of

Cup Field aforesaid to the pales then before the said

tennis court one hundred foot being part of the said

two hundred and sixty foot in length and one hundred

foot in breadth so demised by the sgaid William Newton

to the said Sir David Cunningham,35
The confusion of this direction has been compounded by the fact that
Hotson transcribed 188!' as 180'.36 I+t is suggested that there is here
an error of omission in the original indenture which can be rectified
by the following argument.

The crux of the matter is that it would seem that this clause means
Moore I to exchange a considerahly larger plot of land than he either
possessed or was to gain. In this respect I suggest that only the
67' x 100', part of the 260! x 100!, plus an additional unused section
of the 73" x 130! gite was exchanged: the size of the sites then
becomes comparable for such a transaction. If, as I suspect, not much
more than 5!'0" was relinquished from the 73' x 130! site, enough to
allow Cowper to give a straight north south wall between what were to
become 36 and %5 Portugal Row, the area exchanged was approximately
721 x 100! in Ficketts Field for the northerly 72' x 113!, In this

cage Moore ] was gaining square footage and, if Anne Tyler/Lisle and

Moore did receive, in addition, £100 they must have driven a haxrd



bargain with the Cowpers. The reason for the apparent disparity

could be explained thus: first, the £100 was buying out Anne Tyler's
lease on the property; secondly, there is the value which Cowper and
Co. attached to the need to have stable access in Portugal Street for
the houses they were to build in Portugal Row. Further it is argued
that Moore I had already built his tennis court X the land to the north
of it had depreciated in two respects, first, Moore could claim right
of access to the northern side of the temnis court from Lincolnt!s Inn
Fields and secondly, the impossibility of providing stabling at the
rear of any houses built upon Portugal Row directly north of the court.
There is of course another point that may have been considered, the
'nuisance factor'! that the tennis court must have presented for the
'quality! who wished to build their Town houses in what had become a
desirable address.

Clarifying the meaning of the above quotation from the Moore II
Answer, I suggest that here again one has a Bill which only gives
dimensions in one direction whilst appearing to give them in two. The
suggestion is that the 188' is the length, north and south, of the
property held by Lord Brudenell, and that the 100! dimension was the
100" north and south of the plots that Moore I and Hooker had purchaged
from Cunningham, for the wording reverts to that familiar in those
indentures. There is nowhere in this apparent recitation of the missing
indenture & measurement giving breadth east~west, except in the vaguest
terms, east of the pales before the tennis court. What is avoided is
the difficulty of stating clearly the dimensions of that strip of land
between the tennis court and the prewviously documented plots, which
alone had a legal description. Any other interpretation of these inden-

tures fails to answer for the material evidence on the ground.

26,
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What is also of importance for determining the dimensions of
the theatre and its use is the plot of land that lloore I and Hooker
acquired in the exchange with Cowper and Co., who

in consideration of assignment and conveyance last
mentioned . o o did grant sell and convey « « » part
of Cup Field eforeseid extending from the uttermost
eastern post of the rails before the Lord Brudenell's
house eastward toward Lincoln's Inn seventy two foot
or thereabouts and southward into Ficketts Field
aforegaid one hundred and thirteen foot or thereabouts
as in the bill is allegedsd’

or described as,
extending on the west part from the outer most eastern
post of the rails before the brick house then or then
late belonging unto or then late in the tenure occupation
or possesgion of the Lord Brudenell standing at the westi
(sic) end of the southern long roe or range of buildings
in the field called Lincolnts Inn Field and from thence
in front extending seventy two foot of assize straight
or. eestward from the said post of the said rails towards
Lincoln's Inn aforesaid and from the aforesaid front
rumning southward hence unto the said field called
Ticketts Field containing by estimation one hundred

and thirteen foot of assize or thereabouts north and
south by the same more or less.>®

There is nothing conflicting in these descriptions, which depend upon
the Cowper and Moore indenture, and this wording is also followed in
the Richard Moore Bill’? although he gives the date of the indenture as
29 not 26 February 1657/8, but two points arise that are of interest.
First the rails that are mentioned in the indentures are to be seen in
the Hollar drawing, pl.l1Il, and they, on the evidence drawn from the
Cowper-Kirby agreement, establish the northerly extremities of the
plots with which one is involved. This line of posts and rails, accor-
ding to the measurements of the 1874 Ordnance Survey Map, would seem to
have been later supplanted by the kerbs before the houses in Portugal
Row, and this line has been used in all the reconstructions of the site

to be found in +the numerous figures and the larger scale drawings. The
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second point to be noted is that the previous descriptions of the
plot 130! x 73! could not have had its length oriented north and
south, for it was part of the Cowper properity and, even if that had
been the case, it would have meant that Moore I had bought the same
land twice.

The area under discussion, 72' x 113! is shown on fig.4, 'f?',
and coloured pink. Its relationship with the pink area 'b' is clear.

The importance of this site, 'f', and the development of it, to
the theatre that followed the tennis court is that it helps to establish
several feamtures: first, the location of the passage that led from
Lincoln's Inn Fields to the northern side of the temnis court; secondly,
the position of the two adjoining houses at the north side of the tennis
court; thirdly, the encroachments made by Davenant upon the property to
the north of the court in order to give himself a scene dock; fourthly,
the position and width of the western passage that connected Portugml
Street to Portugal Rowj and finally, those buildings which were developed
adjacent to No. 38 Portugal Row, i.e., 37 and 36 Portugal Row, the latter
of which was contiguous to that plot later numbered 20 Portugal Street
and therefore defined the eastern boundary of the temnis court site.4o
Fige5 shows that the tennis court which was initially surrounded on
three gides by open fields was now becoming absorbed into a housing
development, sandwiched bhetween Portugal Row on the north, Portugal
Street on the south, extensions to houses on Portugal Row to the east

and Lord Brudenell's property on the west. Consideration will now be

given to each of the points raised above.






The houses 40, 39 and 38 Portugal Row, built on the plot to the north

of the tennis court.

Hewing acquired this plot on Portugal Row, fig.d4, 'f', Horatio
Moore I lost no time in developing it. The recent findings in this

area contradict those of Hotson41

and it will therefore be necessary
t0 deal at some length with establishing the changes that were wrought
upon this plot standing to the north of the court, which, it will be
remembered, was already standing by the time building operations
started on those houses subsequently numbered, from west to east, 40,
39, and 38 (see fig.5).

The fundamental point at variance between the facts and Hotson's
interpretation of them which is to be found graphically in his plan
of the site of the first Duke's Theatre, pl.VIII, is that on the plot
72' x 113, there were indeed three houses built each with a frontage
of 24'; but Horatio Moore I built two houses, not one, the first for
himself, the other in trust for Thomas Lisle, and it was the third, not
the second, that he sold to John Emline. The owners, if not occupiers,
of the three houses or plots 40, 39 and 38 at the close of 1658 were
respectively Horatio Moore I, Thomas Lisle and John Emline. Richard
Adams, who Hotson suggested occupied the site of No. 38, possessed or
occupied the adjacent site to the east, i.e., No. 37, which was built
on Cowper land not sold to Horatio Mcore I. This house, No. 37, had
an important part to play in the history of the theatre in the late
years of the following century, and the land it occupied is already
important, for it backed on to the northern side of the tennis court.
The importance of the ownership of the houses is not to establish that
there were three houses, but the relstionship between Emline's house

or plot and those of Moore I, for it was through Emline's land that it

510



was agreed the passage way should pass from Lincoln's Inn Fields
to the tennis court. In consequence it is shown now, fig.5, twenty
four foot further to the east than given by Hotson. Additionally
Emline's plot, when later in the ownership of one Witherings, was
subject to further encroachment which relates to Davenant's building
an extension north and westward over this ground. One should therefore
be prepared to find both the scene house and the theaire larger than
has hitherto been projected.

It is not easy to understand the reason for Hotson's ignoring
thig fact, for it is mentioned in two documents he found in the Public
Record Officey first, the bill of John Harris and Richard Harris,
29 January 1661/2;42 and secondly the bill of Horatio Moore II on
4 February 1661/2,43 which was the first time Horatio Moore II defended
himgelf against the Lisles who attempted to deprive him of his inheri-
tance. In this instance Horatio Moore II was of course but a few years
old and his case was pursued by his grandfather Richard Moore.

The nature of the first bill, that of the Harrises, will be better
understood if one considers first the loore claims found in the second
bill. The burden of Richerd Moore's complaint wasg

that whereas Horatio Moore your orators late father
deceased on or about 29 February 1657 . . . did for

a valuable consideration purchase to him and his heirs
of Sir William Cowper land Co.] . . . & piece or parcel
of ground being part of Cup IField . . « of which piece
of ground so purchased by your orators said father your
orators said father sold to John Emblyn44 [sic] and on
the other part he did erect two several houses the
interest of and to one of which houses did belong to
Thoma.s Lisle Esq and your orators said fathers name

was only used in trust for the said Thomas Lisle which
the said Thomas Lisle hath since scld and conveyed the
said house to William Witherings Esq and your orators
said father reserving to himself the third house did
likewise reserve the originel deed of purchase to him=
self and to his heirs for the maintenance of their
title to the said third house.4?
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In 1662 Thomas Lisle had seized tis~leed onder Sewe Fm(’axk ang he
was, it was feared, attempting to sell the house ag his own. Perhaps
he was trying to claim that both houses were in trust for him and now
that he had sold his own house was trying %o move into his deceased
son-in-law's house. Whatever the background to this affair was, later
events show that he did not succeed; %wut of more importance here is
the fact that this document clearly demonstrates the existence of thrsee
houses, of which two were built by Horatio Moore I. Furthermore this
confirms that shortly after the initial building operations William
Witherings was the owner of two, one purchased from Lisle and the other
from Emline, while the Moores retained ownership of only one.

If this were not enough proof one can turn to the Harris Bill.
This is a long story in which the Harrises were the executors of the
will of Edward Harris and were trying to collect the assets of the said
Edward. Years before, Sir David Cunninghem had raised a loan of £600,
the principal and interest of which he had not repaid, even, it was
claimed, after a judgement had been successfully sought against him.
He hed since died. In 1662, therefore, the Harrises were attempting to
recuperate this principal and interest from those who had derived their
estate from the purchasers of the land in Ficketts Field sold to them
by Sir David Cunninghem, i.e., that plot 360! x 100'. The result of
this action has not been pursued, but the important matter is that the
Harrises listed the names of those holding property related to that
held by Sir David Cunningham,
The Harris Bill sete out this roll as follows:
Thomas Lisle and Anne his wife and Anne Moore widow are
tenants of two messuages and William Witherings is tenant
of two more and that Robert Henley Esq and James Cowper Esq
are tenants of six other messusges or tenements all of which
said ten messuages or tenements are lately built upon the

said piece of ground of which the said Sir David Cunningham
Wa8 . » « possessed.
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Iater the document proceeded to be a little more explicit:

the above plotting and contriving how to hinder Harris

& Harris confederating with William Lenthall Eaq [John]

Carew Esq Lord Morley Richard Adams Esq Sir Richard

Fanshaw Earl of Westmorland Lord Strangford Lord Coventry

Horatio Moore and divers others.4
The names presented here are those who occupied all those houses built
along Portugal Row to the east of Lord Brudenell's house, as well ag the
tennis court. The Lisles tried fto avert any immediate action in the
case by claiming that it would have to wait until Horatio Moore II was
come of age and succeeded to his inheritance.47 It is interesting that
the Lisles were claiming Horatio Moore II had some right in the title
of this property and nearly thirty years later Horatio Lioore II was in
Court defending his claim to this very same property; Both documents
corroborate therefore in showing the number of houses built by Horatio
Mocre I: +the two messuages of the Lisle/Moore group refer to the
tennis court and No., 40 Portugal Row, and the two houses owned by
William Witherings were respectively Nos. 39 and 38.

There are further documents that support the fact that Horatio
Mocre I divided the land as set out above. These documents relating
to the houses Nos. 39 and 38 are in the keeping of the R.C.3. of E.48
and were evidently not seen by Hotson. The contents of these will be

dealt with in the appropriate place.

The plot on Portugal Row - its houses and the passage.

It is not clear to what extent Horatio loore I encroached upon
that ground, previously bought from Cumningham, on which he had erected
the tennis court with two houses adjoining to the north, when he set the
southern boundaries to the two houses he built on Portusgal Row, i.¢.,
No. 40 and No. 39, fig.5. But two documents set out clearly the scope

of the plot Moore I so0ld to Emline. The first indenture sets out the
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plot size and states reservations, the second recites the previous
description but adde information as to the manner in which the
reservations were carried out. First, the indenture of conveyance

by Moore I to John Emline?? on 12 November 1658, for £110, of

all that piece or parcel of ground situate lying

and being in the north part or range of buildings

and ground in Lincoln's Inn Fields in the parishes

of 3t Giles in the Fields and St Clement Danes or

one of them in the said county of Middlesex and
containing in length from noxrth to south one hundred
and twenty seven foot of assize or thereabouts and

in breadth in front from east to west twenty four
foot of assize or thereabouts abutting upon a piece
of ground of one (Richard) Adams on the east part
upon a brick built messuage or tenement of Horatio
Moore on the west part upon the said fislds called
Lincoln's Inn Fields on the north part and upon the
blew pales within four foot of the house on the north
side of the tennis court there on the south part
together with all ways passages « « « except and
always reserved out of this present deed and grant
unto the said Horatio lloore his heirs and assigns

or tenents occupiers and others coming and going
from the said tennis court the use and liberty of

a way or passage to be left at the east or west of
the said piece of ground hereby granted to contain
three foot and three inches at least (between) within
the walls and the height of the first storey of the
building intended upon the premises and to go through
the same building as far as the said blew pales.

A year later the same plot with & new house was sold according to an
agreement of 24 November 1659 for £650 by indenture dated 3 December

1659 between John Emline and William Witherings and described as follows,

all that part or parcel of ground lately purchased by

him the said John Emline of Horatic Moore Esq and situate
and lying « . + in Lincoln's Inn Fields . . « containing

in length from north to south one hundred and twenty seven
foot of assize or thereabouts abutting upon & piece of
ground of Mr Edward Greene mentioned to be the ground of

one Richard Adam on which there is a messuage lately built
by the said Edward Greene on the east part upon a new brick
messuage or tenement of Mr Thomas Lisle or late of the said
Horatio Moore on the west part upon the fields called Lincoln's
Inn Fields on the north part and upon the blew pales within
four foot of the house on the north side of the tennis court
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there on the south part upon which said parcel of

ground hath been bargained and sold there is =a

messuage of brick newly erected which together with

the said parcel of ground were lately mortgaged for

£500 by the said John Emline to0 one Robert Plunkenett

Gent always reserved one of the parts granted unto

the said John Emline his heirs and assigns and the

tenants and occupiers and others coming to and going

from the said tennis court fthe use and liberty of the

way and passage on the west end side of the said piece

of ground as alley to pass into and from Linceoln's Inn

Fields.>0
Several important facts emerge from these indentures which relate to
the land surrounding the tennis court. The evidence drawn from them
is represented in fig.5. First, that since the original plot in
Portugal Row was only 113! north and south along the eastern wall of
Lord Brudenell's house, No. 41, there must have been an encroachment
of 14! upon the 73! north and south plot which ranged 130! along the
Causeway and upon which the tennis court was built. Secondly, it is
known that the pales upon which the Emline-Witherings plot terminated
were 4' from the house on the north side of the tennis court. There
were two houses adjoining on the north side of the tennis court but
since the documents under consideration here do not say which house,
east or west, it is not c¢lear whether this is the house later occupied
by Davenant or the one that he converted into his scene house. Various
pogsibilities arise whichk will be considered later when further encroach-
ments upon No. 38 are discussed. Third, informed by the last mentioned
indenture that the passage from Lincoln's Imm Fields was on the western
gide of the property, No. 38, it is now clear that it was about 48! east
of the wall of No. 41, the house of the Lord Brudenell, not 24! or
51

thereabouts as Hotson suggested. The phrase 'or thereabouts! is
introduced here not in imitation of the wording found in the deeds but
to draw attention to the fact that on occasion the breadth of any given

plot was not necessarily the same in the south as it was in the north






from which it was surveyed and that a formalised drawing of the area
can lead to conmsiderable error, for Portugal Row did not and does not
run parallel 1o Portugal Street and the eastern wall of No. 41 was not
at right angles to either roadway, and furthermore the houses which
were built on Portugal Row were not square to the line of railings

set before them. The point is clarified in the illustrations used as
figures to show the development of the site and also the larger scale
plans of the tennis court and its environment, fig.25.

The fourth and last detail to which attention will be drawn at
this stage is that since there are no deeds to indicate the depth of
the houses built by Horatio Moore I, one for himself, No. 40, and the
other in trust for Thomas Lisle, No. 39, one should not necessarily
agssume that he restricted himself to the depth of the original site,
113t'. It is likely that if he sold to Emline a plot 127' deep there
was precedent in the size of his own plots - agsuming that the pales to
the north of the tennis court ran in a straight line east to west and
that both houses there adjoining were of equal projection. The plots
of Nos. 39 and 40 may have extended as far south as is shown by the
dotted areas in fige6. This point will be considered further when
consolidating the development of the pathway to the west of the tennis
court which in the earliest years, before No. 40 was built, must have
allowed passage through from the Causeway to Portugal Row and the
fields beyond. Part of the pathway is shown in fig.6. The pathway
norih and west of the tennis court is indicated here in a formaliged
manner, a heavy black line, on the assumption that it might have been

used as a link with the passageway through No. 38 Portugal Row.
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Davenant's Scene House and hig Encroachment on 38 Portugal Row.

Remaining on the north side of the tennis court, there are
several docurents which relate to the conversion, in 1661, of the
tennis court into a theatre undertsken by Sir William Davenant. The
documents concern the land at the rear of No. 38 Portugal Row which
was still in the ownership of William Witherings but leased 'late to
one Carew and now in the occupation of Walker'. The bills arose out
of an action of waste taken by Witherings against Carew and Davenant
and which involved Walker as the current tenant, who wished to enjoy
the rent paid by Davenant t0 him for the liberty of using pert of his
garden when Davenant extended the house to the north of the tennis
court to do duty for a scene house., This encroachment is indicated,
fig.6, by hatching on the eastern part of the southern projection of
No. 38,

The area Davenant acquired was described as,

all that part of thegafelen wall + . . on the east end
of the then garden and backside of the said John Carew
in Portugal Row « . » and four foot of ground from the
said wall westwards into and part of the said garden or
backside with free ingress egress and regress for . . »
Davenant . « . his workmen and assigns to enter into the
same garden or backside to build upon the same wall and
four foot of ground and at the end of the said lease « «
again to pull down the same to the intent to re~erect the
said wall and to make it as it was . « . yielding and
paying every year . » o Davenant . . . should use
representations in the said theatre to the said John
CaTew « « o £4 per annume>?
This encroachment has been indicated in fig.6, and will be seen also
on the large scale ground plan fig.25. Of the two intrusions into the
plot of No. 38 that of the passage remained for many years, certainly
as long as there was either a tennis court or a theatre to the south of

it. The duration of that on the easterm side of it is by no means clear,

for even if Davenant did retire from the ground, which seems unlikely,






Richard Reeve might have done so when rebuilding the house, in 1675,
after the short lease to the King's Co.. There are no deeds of
conveyance to support the proposition, but at some point the owners
of No. 38 may have sold to the temnis court owners the fourteen foot
of ground that had been reduced on both gides, for by 1712, when
Christopher Rich rebuilt the theatre, he was able to utilise the
whole space at the rear of No. 38.

Having established that the eastern house behind the tennis court
wag to be used as a scene house, encroaching 4' upon the garden of
No. 38 from an easterly direction, it must follow that the double house
on the western side was that to which reference was made in the Emline
deeds for No. 39. This fact affords some guidance therefore as to the
breadth of the double house when the reconstruction is attempted.

No. 40 Portugal Row and the western passage beside the tennis court.

To loczte the western extremity of the tennis court attention will
be turned to the passage way that lay between the eastern wall of No. 41
and the western wall of the tennis court, pl.III and fig.7, numbered
40 Portugal Row., Initially this lane would have provided access to and
fro, through the tennis court grounds, between Lincolnts Inn Fields and
the Causeway. Possibly it was still in existence when the building was
functioning as e theatre of the first alteration, but its duration is
uncertain. It must have been blocked up and built over by 1675 when
reference is made 1o No. 40, which was then in the occupation of Sir
Philip Warwick, as having stables and a co&oh—house.54 Between 1675
and 1689 it was still owned by the Lisle-Reeve confederacy,55 but by
an indenture of sale dated 28 and 29 December 1692 for £850 Anne Lisle,
Richard Reeve and Amnne his wife, Horatio Moore Il and Anne his wife,

and Thomas Reeve conveyed to Sir Edward Abney and William Masemore the

41.






'said capital messuege'. This indenture was not produced when Josiah
Spode bought the premises in 1802 and then only the burden of the
indenture was recited. The extent of No. 40 is set out during the
occupation of Dr Hobbs and at his death, 1698, with an inventory of

56

its contents. This information is found in the reply by Katherine
Hobbs, widow and executrix of Thomas Hobbs, to the bill of Complaint
filed in the High Court of Chancery in 1699.57 The stables and coach-
houses with other out-buildings were mentioned and their position on
the site can be estimated.

The early mention, 1675, of the stables and coach-house might not
refer to those at a later date, 1698, but from the description it is
unlikely that out-buildings of the nature described could have been
contained within the confines of a plot that was restricted to the
supposed 113! depth or even that of the projected 127!, It is thought
most probable therefore, that at the very latest, 1692, and possibly
twenty years earlier, the site of No. 40 Portugal Row ran in depth the
whole length of the two original plots, i.e., 186!'. My unsubstantiated
opinion is that it became part of No. 40 when Horatic Moore I built the
house in the first instance, ZEven if the house, No. 40, were rebuilt
during the 18th century, as Braines suggests,58 the actual plot remained
the same and was divorced from that of the tennis court playhouse site
until the premises were purchased, quite independently of the playhouse
9ite, by the Royal College of Surgeons in 1830. Then the stable area
exhibited an irregular plan which was about 12! wide in the south and
narrowed to about 10' on the north.

This can be seen clearly in the Charles Barry proposal for the
extension of the College in 1833, pl.IXa.59 The drawing suggests all
the problems that Barry was coping with when he attempted to abut his

building on to that which had been long established, fig.Ta.

43.



There are six illustrations of the theatre when it was in the
occupation of Spode which show this stable more or less accurately.
It is on the left or west of the warehouse. Probably the most precise
rendering is that anonymous and undated view of the theatre from the
west which shows the adjacent buildings, pl.XIII. A preparatory
drawing or a pencil copy of this water-colour is in the keeping of the
Somerset County Archive,6o The second illustration is another, though
less delicate and more colourful, water-colour, pl.XIV, anonymous,
dated (1801) and unpublished. Thought to be roughly contemporary with
the previous picture, it is a straightforward elevation of the front
of the building and therefore pays less attention to the gtable in
quegtion. In spite of that there is nothing shown that radically
contradicts the first sketch. It does not give the impression that
the draughtsman was dependent upon the first for information. This is
gquite an important point, for the next two engravings, pls.XIX and XX,
seemt to have one common and much earlier source from which the engravers
worked without crediting the original. Consequently their work is not
an accurate representation of the scene at the date of publication, but
must refer back many years. These two illustrations are from the eastern
gide of the warehouse, the first by '0J' or 'JO!' and used by Walford,6l
1874, and this appears to have been copied by Alfred Beaver in '95, i.e.
1895, for Heckethorn,62 who published his work in 1896 when the theatre
wag no longer standing. The most obvious difference between these two
illustrations is that Beaver hes supplied his own lay figures in the
place of those supplied by '0OJ', but otherwise they show nothing in
conflict with either the first engraving or the more primitive water-
colour. The work of 'OJ!' and Alfred Beaver is here reproduced as pl.XIX,

and pl.XX, respectively.
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In conclusion, it is suggested that the south end of the passage
way became this stable and coach-house, and that there was no additional
ground utilised on the western side by the lessees of the tennis court/
playhouse, either in the remaining years of the 17th century or during
the more extensive alterations to the theatre during the 18th century.
Consequently the eastern wall of the stable was upon, if not in common
with, the western wall of the tennis court or playhouse. Hotson esti-~
mated this passage as about 5'0¢ wide,64 but now it is shown to be 12!
wide in the south on the Causeway or Portugal Street and 10! to the
north where it entered the yard at the rear of No. 40 Portugal Row.

For the larger scale drawing of this area see the plans fig.l6 and fig.29,
which follow Charles Barry's proposael plan of 1833 in this critical area.

The Teannis Court on its eastern side.

The termination of the original tennis court site in the east is
less well documented. There is the conveyance of 1658 which is ambiguous,
and there are the later plans of Charles Barry which are more precise,
ple.XIa. The confusing description found in the conveyance referring to

65

this area of the playhouse site has been discussed above - and a solution
offered which reconciles the evidence available from documentary sources
and actual building operations that took place. It will be remembered
that it was from this extract that Hotson deduced the length of the tennis
court ag approximately 75' for he smartly subiracted the two figures given
there, 188! and 100!, as denoting length east-west along the Causeway or
Portugal Street. Accepiing the error in transcription, the subtraction
of JO0OY from 180', minus the allowance for the passage on the west side

of the tennis court, 5', gave him an overall length of 75! to the
building.66 It is here proposed that a different solution provides a

more acceptable answer to the problem. It has been shown above that

the overall length of the 130! site was reduced by 5!' to 125' at the
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time of the exchange of land. It is shown in fig.7 adjoining No. 20
Portugal Street or the rear premises of No. 36 Portugal Row. This
interpretation gives the tennis court site the overall length of 125!
minus the width of the passage, which was shown above to be 12' leaving
it approximately 113! long, not 75'.

If the deeds do not satisfactorily determine the eastern wall of
the tennis court or any boundary marked by railings, the only remaining
evidence to locate the termination of the premises is to be found in the
Charles Barry plans of 1848, showing the warehouse and its neighbouring
plots. Admittedly this is nearly two hundred years after the exchange
of land, but as will be seen from the survey plan and the deeds supporting
subsequent development of the site north and south, once building took
place in the 1650 and early 1660s, the principal boundaries were establi-
shed that were to remain until the 1850s. There were minor changes to
the north but to the east there seems to have been little or no alteration.
By reference to the Barry R.C.S. plan of the whole site, 1848, it will be
noted that the warehouse, i.e., the third theatre, LIF III, extended 125!
from Lord Brudenell's wall, or from the rear of No. 40 Portugal Row,
eastward towards the house at the rear of No. 35 Portugal Row, i.e.,
¥o. 20 Portugal Street, 112/5'. What 1s suggested, therefore, is that
the plan of 1848 refers to a situation that had existed in 1714 when
Rich built the theatre and that the site remained unchanged on the east
until the R.C.S. redeveloped the whole area in the 1950s, after extensive
bomb damage. There is no documentary evidence to suggest ctherwise and
the surveys support the theory. The late 18th century and early 19th
century sketches of the theatre, when it had become the Spode warehouse,

also lend support. See pls.XIV, XVIII, XIX, X{.
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Consequently, it is argued that although the transfer of land,
part of the 260' x 100' to Cowper and Co. in exchange for the Portugal
Row gite, is unclear, the evidence on the ground would suggest that
the Moore I - Lisle group retained in length all that ground along the
Causeway eastward from the stables of No. 41 to the western wall of
what was to become known as No. 20 Portugal Street. The plot they
exchanged in 1658 was 67! x 100' made up of the two plots 45' and
22' x 100', purchased in 1656, as well as a strip, 5' x 73!, encroaching
upon the original 73' x 130' plot on which the tennis court was built.
Tlhether or not the tennis court eastern wall actually stood upon this
extreme end of the site will be argued below, but at present one is
determining the overall dimensions of the site and then placing the
tennis court within it. The strip 5' x 73! is shown as a hatched ares

in figeT.

The House on the Eastern Side, No. 20 Portugal Street.

The architectural style of the 1ittle house to the east of the
warehouse can be seen in the sketches, pls.XIV, XVIII, XIX, XX.67
These sketches must haeve been drawn prior to the building of the rear
portica of the R.C.S.. This was designed by George Dance, pls.IXb, c,
ds e, and establishes them as hefore 1809, those with the Dance elevation
after 1809 and those before the 183%%-5 development by Barry.68 The
house stylistically is of an earlier provenance than the earliest sketch,
and could have been built before the 1714 playhouse, though there is
nothing specific about the brick work thet would place the house more
precisely than the first quarter of the eighteenth century. Reference
is made here to the brick relief panels, window arches and short and

long brickwork around the doorway. Unfortunately there is no corrobo-

rating informetion to be drawn from the date of rebuilding that was
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carried out on the main houses on Portugal Row. There is no evidence
to suggest that this house could be so early as to have been occupied
by the Earl of Rochester.69 It might relate to the building activities
undertaken in 175470 at No. 36 Portugal Row and is certainly likely to
have occupied the site of the original stable to No. 36 if it was not
itself the original. Christopher Rich in 1712-1714 was building, there-~
fore, to the uttermost extent of the land on which the tennis court had
stood. That is to say that he was limited by the stables on the west
belonging to No. 40 Portugal Row, and on the east, by this house,
probably part of a stable, at the rear of No. 36 Portugal Row, sub-
sequently numbered 20 Portugal Street. The western boundary of this
property, No. 36, was determined by the exchange of land negotiated
between Cowper and Moore I in 1658.

Drawing together the overall dimensions of the site at the close
of the first period during which the tennis court operated as a theatre,
on the basis of the material discussed above, the site in 1675 presented
the picture as illustrated in fig.7, and can be described as follows: on
the south side along Portugal Street, about 112'0"; on the east side
6810" along the boundary of 20 Portugal Street and 36 Portugal Row; on
the north side, 48'0" at the rear of Nos. 36 and 37; turning south 8'0",
then west at the boundary between the tennis court/playhouse and Nos. 38
and %9, 48'0", turning south again 16'0", and 16'0" towards the west to
the corner and the boundary of No. 40. Finally, on the western side the

boundary between the theatre and No. 40 is about 43!'0",
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The North Side of the Tennis Court - Playhouse, 1674=-1705.

The reccnstruction of the tennis court sheds light on the first and

second theatres.

The only changes of any significance are those which occurred
on the north side, for there are no records or indeed any signs of
changes taking place on the other three sides during these years.

The ncrth side of the playhouse site presents the most difficult
problems, (see fig.8), for here it is likely that changes were
wrought over the forty years before the temnis court/playhouse was
demolished to make way for the purpose-built structure erected by
Christopher Rich,

In November 1671 the Duke's Company left the theatre for their
newly constructed playhouse in Dorset Garden. Their place was swiftly
taken by the King's Co., who remesined in residence from January 1672
until March 1674. Their occupation was due to the fire which had
destroyed the Theatre Royal, Drury Lane, and they stayed until that
theatre had been rebuilt. It is unlikely that Killigrew undertook
any alterations of a major kind, since his tenancy was understood to
be of a temporary nature from the very beginning.

Following the departure of the King's Company, there was obviously
no possibility, unless another disaster befell one of the companies,
that the building would be able to continue in business as a theatre,
and so the owners, Thomas Lisle, Anne Lisle, and now Richard Reeve, the
husband of Anne Moore I, took steps to maintain its commercial viability.
Their decision was to return it to its previous state and operate it as
a tennis court again. This they seem to have done. The theatre reverted
to a tennis court until 1695, when Thomas Betterton brought his seceding
company back to the tennis court and proceeded to reconvert it once more
to a playhouse. But the conversion in 1675 was not effected without

controversy,



The subgtance of the conflict between Reeve and Lisle focuses
around the fact that an agreement had been made between the holders
of the two moieties in the property to invest in its reconstruction,
but the terms had not been adhered to. Reeve, acting for his wife,
had expended £500, but nothing had been forthcoming from the Lisles,
and Reeve was becoming anxious about the repayment of the principal
and interest. The Chancery Proceedings which followed are recorded
in the Decrees and Orders, Hilary Term 1674, '® and quoted in the 1689

Bills, Complaint and Answer.72

The outcome of the various hearings
of the case was that it was considered a good idea to spend money on
the tennis court, though clearly those who were to inherit the premises
would gain the most by any monies laid out at the time., Richard Reeve,
it would appear, had already expended & considerable sum. Whether or
not more was required is not certain, but the Order of the Court was
that he was not to recuperate the money he had laid out until the death
of his wifee75 Consequently Richard Reeve never received his £500 and
interest, which was at six per cent per annum, for he died before his
wife. However, apart from this internal intrigue, the importance of
the affair ig that it records that Richard Reeve claimed to have re=
furbished the building and rebuilt one of the houses adjoining to the
north of the temnis court. This occurrence is detailed in the 1689
Bill of Complaint.74
¥With regard to setting out the geography of +the north side of the
tennis court in 1675, pieces of information from this case permit the
proposition of the following outline. Recalling that the house, No. 40
in Portugal Row, by that time probably extended all the way through to
Portugal Street, and its stables were built on the former passage way,

and noting that the western adjoining house to the north of the tennis

court according to Hollar, pl.III, was set well towards the centre of

51.
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the back wall of the court, it can be suggested that the garden area

of No. 40 ran as far south as the wall of the tennis court, and was

as wide as the frontage of that house, i.e., about 24'. On its eastern
gide, therefore, it would abut the western wall of the double gabled
house seen in the Hollar engraving, pl.I1II.

Although this may seem a rather hasty conclusion, the suggestion
is not without some support from evidence coming forward at a later
date, and although undocumented in the form of specific conveyances,
it has its bagis in agreements concerning neighbouring properties in
1714 and the ground plans of the site in 1833-1848. For the sake of
clarity discussion of these data must be deferred.

Moving further eastward on the northern side, there is the larger
of the two houses, which scems to have retained its domestic function
throughout the years; it was certainly lived in by the Davenants,75
and by Betterton when he was tenant of the playhouse, but there is
nothing to say categorically that any of the Lisles or Reeves inhabited
the place. In fact, since they had other addresses out of London, it
might well be that the house was reserved for the manager of the court
wher. it was not in use as a playhouse. &vidence in support of these

76 fpe width of

statements comes from the St.Clement Danes rate books.
this house can only be surmised. It would seem to have been over 24!
wide, and therefore would have run across the rear of No. 39 Portugal
Row, and also across at least part of the rear of No. 38 Portugal Row,
for it is 1likely that the house on the north side of the tennis court
mentioned in the Emline and Witherings indentures was this house and
not the smaller one, at the extreme eastern end of the tennis court, in

the Hollar engraving, pl.III. How wide it was is impossible to say

except that it did not extend so far eastward as to meet the rebuilt
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house to the east when Davenant encroached upon the eastern wall of
No. 38 Portugal Row. Certainly its boundary on the northern side must
have been not less than 4'0" from the rails, described as 'blew pales?',
that had determined the southward extent of No. 38's plot, 127' from
the line in Portugal Row that fixed its front. The distance the house
projected from the wall of the tennis court can only be deduced from
notiones of how wide the tennis court itself was, and the manner in
which it was placed on the site; these variables will be discussed
when the first tennis court is considered within the defined space
available.

Moving still further eastward, one can consider the house at that
end of the court. It would appear from the Hollar engraving that this
was a single house, but whether or not it was half the size of the
westerly house is impossible to say. It was not large enough for
Davenant who, as has already been noted, totally demolished it77 or
extended it. Two things are clear from this act; first, irrespective
of what had gone before, the western limit to which Davenant built,
gsecond, since the houses to the north on Portugal Row at this point
were on land outside the original plot and never part of the Moore
estate, they were confined within the boundaries of the Cowper/Henley
property. The depth of these houses was therefore 113'0%,

It is unfortunate that the length of No. 37 is never cited in
the title deeds held by the R.C.S., for that would have afforded the
documentary evidence required. However it is possible to reconstruct
this area without much controversy, for it is clear in the Barry plans
that the southern terminations of No. 37 and particularly of No. 36 do
rest (118' front to rear), more or less upon the line which determined

the northern limit of the original Moore site of 73' x 130', fig.8.
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In terms of the overall shape of the northern side of the tennis
court it is therefore suggested that it follows the line indicated in
fig.8, and could be described as, from the eastern stable wall of No. 40
along the northern wall of the tennis court, the 14' (about 14' - 16')
residue of the 24'0" to 26'0" of the same property, then northwards
along the depth of the house on the western side of the court which
poseibly terminates 131'0" from the Portugel Row frontage or 4'0" from
the wall of No. 39 which stood upon the 'blew pales!', turning eastward
along the front of this house for an unknown length, possibly more than
240" but less than 40'0", then turning back southwards the depth of
the house to meet the wall of the court. Rumnning due north from the
front of this house was the passageway, 3'3" wide, which led through to
Portugal Row and Lincoln's Inn Fields. The north wall continued there-
after due east for an unspecified distance until meeting the wall of the
eastern house adjoining the tennis court. The house at the eastern end
of the court, once it had become enlarged to do duty as the scene house
broke through the southern wall of No. 38 at a point 68'0", more or
less, from the eastern wall of the Lord Brudenell's house, i.e., No. 41.
It is considered that, even if the house did not extend northwards to
the full extent of the original plot, there was available for development
all that land to the north of the tennis court bounded by the rear walls
of Nos. 37 and 36 Portugal Row. In other words, the northern boundary
of the tennis court in this area was 113'0"™ more or less from the
Portugal Row posts and rails, and extended further eastward along these
walls as far as the western wall of No. 36, as it described its course
towards Portugal Street in the south. The northern part of the site is
clearly delineated in plan, fig.25, and fig.8 gives the general con-

figuration.
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When the theatre no longer functioned as such, after the with-
drawal of the King's Company, and Reeve undertook to return the building
to its former state, it is possible that changes took place on the
northern side of the temnis court, the precise nature of which remains
uncertain. It will be remembered that when Davenant encroached upon
the garden of No. 38, then in the occupation of one Walker, but owned
by William Witherings, Davenant had, in the agreement, contrscted 1o
make good the wall he had knocked down which had been the subject of
the action of waste taken against Carew. Richard Reeve stated that he
had rebuilt one of the houses on the north side, and it is presumed
that it must have been this particular house, for there are nc more
actions in court regarding it. There is, however, no record of this
rebuilding being in part at the charge of the Duke's Company. But in
1689, when Horatio Moore II was pursuing his rights in the property,
two houses adjoining to the north were still recorded as being part of
the premises.

The preoblem that arises over this statement that the house that
Davenant had converted was rebuilt by Reeve, is that one does not know
the extent of the Reeve reconstruction, for there is no reference to
Betterton encroaching in the same manner as Davenant when he took over
the tennis court and converted it once again to a theatre. Plainly he
made it function as a theatre with scenery for another ten years, and it
could have gone on longer had the company not become involved with
Vanbrugh and moved to his Queen's Theatre in the Haymarket. If Davenant
required the extension to the original eastern house to mske the court
function as a theatre, it is difficult to know how Betterton made it
operate without a similar building for scenery and dressing rooms. I can
only think that Reeve modified Davenant's scene house, and that his modifi-

cation did not inhibit a later reversion to its former function.
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Problems concerning the houses on the north side of the tennis court.

What is difficult to know for certain is which of the two houses
the deeds refer to, for if the house which before seemed to be entirely
devoted to domestic purposes was still in existence, Reeve could have
been referring to that westerly house. On the other hand if, as sub-
sequent plans indicate, the ares on which that house had stood was in
the possession of the Tasburghs, there is no document as yet to set any
date on the conveyance of its plot.

One additional piece of information regarding this point can be
gleaned from an abstract of title held by the R.C.S5. which, though it
does not clear up the difficulty, adds more fuel to the fire. This
particular part of the abstract relates to the two houses 39 and 38
Portugal Row which, it will be remembered, belonged to William Witherings.
By 1702 these two houses were in the possession of Henry Tasburgh, No. 39,
and Sir Robert Guldeford, No. 38. They had each come by this property
through their wives, Mary Frances and Clare, respectively. These ladies
were the daughters of Anthony llonson but their mother was a Witherings,
niece of William Witherings, and they had inherited the houses in question
jointly. In 1702, there was a partition oif the property made between the
two parties, each taking one of the two houses but 'the two houses not
being of equal value'! the one allotted to the Tasburghs was charged with
an annual rent of £8.10.0. payable to Sir Robert Guldeford and heirs.

It is quite clear that an inequality had existed between the two houses
from the moment of their erection, the passage through No. %8 and the
later encroachment upon the eastern side of its garden. From evidence
drawn from a 1714 deed of sale between Tasburgh and John Rich and
Christopher Mosyer Rich78 of a small patch of ground, the details of

which will be discussed more fully below, it would seem tlat the
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inequality mentioned here in 1702 was due to the encroachments
considered above and that both houses adjoining the theatre remained
in existence down t¢ that date and probably until 1705 when Betterton
left the theatre.

In pursuit of the houses to the north of the theatre one has
necessarily moved beyond the scope of this chaonter but the transactions
touched upon above will be returned to at a2 more appropriate moment in
the history of the site. Here it is necessary to include the evidence
regarding those houses found in the rate books.

Reference to Betterton's occupation of the playhouse is to be

found in Richard Reeve's will, 11 May 1668;

all that my messuage or tenement situate and being near

the Playhouse in Little Lincoln's Inn Fields in the

parish of 8%t Clement Danes in the county of iiddlesex

now in the tenure of lir Thomas Betterton.!9

Here it is clear that the playhouse and the adjoining house are two

distinct entities. A solution may be found in the way in which the two
buildings are rated separately. Over the years down to 1714, there were
two entries against the playhouse or tennis court. The fact that Richard
Reeve owned the westerly house as a property separste from the playhouse
and the house at the east end of the playhouse adds to what may be deduced
from the final court ruling of the 1689 suit. Reeve made this will when
the tennis court was once more a theatre, and it might well be that after
that Court ruling, Richard Reeve was given the westerly house because
that was the house upon which he had, in 1675, spent most on making
habitable after Killigrew left, and not on that house to the east which
did not have a separate existence, for as the result of Davenant's

alteration it was subsequently considered part of the theatre. Rather

than clog the matter in hand an analysis of the returns recorded in the
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various rate books is to be found in the appendix.ao What emerges

from these records is that one may deduce the presence of both buildings
down to 1714 when only a single entry covers the new playhouse., This is
true also for those years during which the theatre was dark and awaiting

destruction.

The South Side of the Tennig Court and Shops.

Returning to the outline of the tennis court site, one can conclude
by moving to the south side which stood upon the Causeway or Portugal
Street. This side is seen in the Hollar engraving, pl.III, and by
reference to fige8. Over the whole history of the site this is the side
most frequently the subject of illustrations. Here there are few com-
plications. To the west there is the wall of No. 41 Portugal Row and
the passage way which has been discussed above and, as shown, shortly
after the Hollar engraving was made and the houses to the north developed,
was built upon, providing the stables and cuthouses for No. 40. The
breadth of this passage way was shown to be about 12'0" at the Portugal
Street gateway. Proceeding eastward along the Causeway, the site ran as
far as the 1little house that was built partly on the original 130! x 73!
plot and partly upon the 45' x 100' plot that had been exchanged for the
northerly plot 72' x 113!'. Whether or not the court occupied the whole
of this length will be discussed below.

In front of the tennis court, standing adjoining the south side of
the court and probably as much on the tennis court land as upon the
public highway, were some shops, or huts that served as such. They are
said to have existed in the days of the first termmis court and perhaps
to have been removed during the period of the first theatre and, if seo,
they were replaced during the second period when it was a court. One

presumes that they were removed during the occupation of Betterton. But
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the last mention of them is in the 1689 Bills, when both Complaint and
Answersl refer to them as shops or huts and it seems likely that their
reappearance was due to the Reeve renovations. Their purpose was
possibly to serve refreshments to those visiting the tennis court.
Though the main entrance to the court was on the northern side, it is
likely that there was a path at the eastern end of the court allowing
way to the rear; this is supposition and will be discussed below.
However there were these shops which came and went, but their imper-

manence suggests that they were slight structures.

The Site of ILigle's Tennis Court, L.i.F. I and L.I.F. II, Entire.

At the end of 1705 when the Betterton Company finally left the
theatre in Lincolnts Inn Fields for the Queen's Theatre the former
remained dark until Christopher Rich pulled it down to make way for
his New Theatre in Lincoln's Inn Fields. Due to the loss of assign-
nents carried out at that date and the absence of any recitation of the
contents of the tennis court-playhouse, there remains only repetitions
of previous deeds. These need not necessarily be accurate accounts of
the building and surrounding land as it was in 1705-1712% here I allow
at least two years for the planning and construction of the theatre
erected to open in November 1714. As far as is known the description
of the site in 1705, taking into account all that hes been reviewed
above, would be as follows: (see plan, £ig.25 and fig.9).

East, all along the western wall of No. 20 Portugal Street, north and
south, from the southern wall of No. 36 Portugal Row to the Causeway

or Portugal Street in the south, 68'0".

On the south, all along the Causeway from the stable or little house

at the rear of No. 36 Portugal Row, No. 20 Portugal Street, west to the

eastern wall of the stables belonging to No. 40 Portugal Row, 112' - 113!Q".



On the west, all along the eastern wall of the stables/coach house of

No. 40 Portugel Row north and south, 45'0", plus the depth of the

original westerly house adjoining on the north side of the tennis court

which was 4'0" short of the !'blew pales! 127' south of Portugal Row,

that is, 59!0".,

61

On the north side, possibly all along the pales at the north side of the

tennis court accommodating the original house on the west, the passage
way through to Lincoln's Inn Fields between No. 39 and No. 38, to the
eastern house which underwent several changes but probably stood upon
land which had the full depth of the site to the rear walls of No. 37
and Ho. 38 Portugal Row, i.eo, the full depth of the original plot,
73' x 130!, and bounded on the east by the wall of No. 36 Portugal Row
or the wall of No. 20 Portugal Street. These boundaries to the tennis
court and the theatre site are extracted from the plan, fig.25, and
shown here in detail fig.9, and the measurements indicated.

Thus stood the theatre and its environs in 1705 when not only did

the building cease to operate as a theatre but it also changed hands in

terms of ownership and lease.
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Notes, pp. 1-61

The first temnis court converted to a theatre in London was Gibbons!
Tennig Court, Killigrew's Theatre Royal in Vere Street.

L. Hotzon, The Commonwealth and Restoration Stage, 1928, pp. 114-120,

E.A. Langhans, f'Conjectural Reconstructions of the Vere Street and
Lincoln's Inn Fields Theatres', Egsays in Theatre, vol.l, No. 1,
1982 '] ppo 14"26-

G. Barlow, 'Gibbons's Tennis Court: Hollar v. Wilkinson', T.R.I.,
N.So, V01.8, NO. 2, PP. 130"146’ |‘)gja

Hotson, ops cit., pp. 120=127.

Paul Sawyer, The New Theatre in Lincoln's Inn Fields, 1979.

also see: E. Scanlan, 'Reconstruction of the Dukets Playhouse in
Lincoln's Inn Fields, 1661-1671!', T.N., vol.10, 1956,
pp. 45-50.

E.A., Langhans, 'Notes on the Reconstruction of the Lincoln's
Inn Fields Theatres', T.N., vol.10, 1956, pp. 112-114, and
1Conjectural Reconstructions of the Vere Street and Lincoln's
Inn Fields Theatres', Essays in Theatre, vol.l, No. 1, 1982,
pp. 14-31.

Ed. Sir Lawrence Gomme, The Survey of London, vol.III, pt.I, 1912.

Hotson, op. cit., pe.l23.

P.R.0., C10/237/65, Complaint. Moore leased to Lisle, 29 Apr. 1658,
the court and houses at £80 p.a., the 'New Tennis Court!,.

Hotson, op. cit., p. 40l. Transcription of B.M. Add. Ch. 9296. Also
see W.P.L., Parish Poor Tax Registers in which the title reverted to
the New Tennis Court in 1674.

The Survey of London, vol.III, pt.I, 'St,Giles in the Fields', pp. 3-22.

The Ordnance Survey map of London, 1874, has been used in all the
figures illustrating the reconstruction of the site, scale line 5!' =
1 mile or 1/32" = 2,75,

Newton to Sir Basil Brookes, 18 Mar. 1639, 16 Chas 1 (4), C54/3229/

The messuage doth and doe abutt east upon other ground of the
said William Newton lying upon Cup Field west upon a house of
Richard Ellis carpenter lately built north upon the open field
called Purse Pield south upon the Causeway leading from Lincoln's
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Inn to Louches building with 41 foot of assize upon Purse
Tield and from the front to the end of the stable and couch
house on the east 128 foot and on the west 132 foot and
beareth in breadth upon the said Causeway 41 foot.

Sir Basil Brookes to John Warren Esq., 18 Chea I (15), C54/3297/

for £160 + +. . the house . . . and piece and parcel of ground
containeth in breadth from the wall of the said messuzage 43
foot and in length from the even line of the said front south-
ward 129 foot « « o which said plot of ground doth abutt on
the north upon the residue of Purse Field on the west side
upon the wall of the saild other house lately built on the

east side upon a piece of ground of one William Newton Gent

in the said field called Ficketts Field and on the south upon
the way leading from lLincoln's Inn to Lowches building and
containeth full 4% foot in breadth on each end all which said
premiges are situate lying and being in the said Purse Field . . .

John Warren Esg. to John Hervey of Lincoln's Inn, 13 June 1649,
€54/3%480/18.

for £400 « « + 4% foot wide . « o 129 foot in length . .

Hill to Cowper, 30 Dec 1652, CR 1652 (46), C54/3686/22.

Indenture, Judith Hill widow of Thos Hill late of Fulham and
Sir William Cowper of Ratling Court, Kent dated 30 Dec. 1652,
for the sum of £190 Judith Hill sells {o Sir %William Cowper
Bart 'all that field with appurtainances commonly called and
known by the name of Cop Field or Cupfield situate lying and
being in the parish of St Giles in the Pields and of St Clement
Danes contayning by estimation six acres . . . abutting upon

the brick wall of Lincoln's Inn walkes towards the east and all
singular edifices buildings stables yards chambers shops cellars

Chancery Proceedings, Bridges XXIII (10),

From this case it appears that Judith Hill was the sister of
Sir William Cowper and that this sale was contested by one John
Hocker on the grounds that J. Hill had made a previous agreement
to sell to J. Hooker, but subsequent actions show that he failed
in his claim.

Cowper, Henley and Cowper and the Society of Lincoln's Inn, Agreement.
The Black Books of Linceln's Inn, vol.II, p.469.

Indenture 19 June 1657 . . . to proceed with continue carry on and
erect in and upon the said field a certain row or rows of new brick
buildings immediately and directly from that part or row of houses
or buildings then lately erected called or known by the name of
Portugal Row toward the outermost wall of the Walkes of Lincolnts
Inn aforesaid but not within 40 foot of the said wall which said
new buildings are to carry and bear equal and parrallel proportions
in the front to the said buildings called Portugal Row now fronting
on the southwest side of a certain piece of ground called and known
by the name of Copfield or Cupfield hereafter mentioned and whereas
they are « « . to begin proceed with continue carry on and erect in

63,



and upon the said field a row or range of new brick buildings
from & certain alley called Partridge Alley opening into the
said field on the north side thereof toward the said utmost
wall of Lincoln's Inn Walk aforesaid but not within forty foot
of the said wall which said new buildings are to continue all
along the north side of the said field in even and equal
parrellel proportions in the front with the buildings lately
erected by one Newman or his assigns thereby making the said
new buildings to be as sforesaid and the buildings upon the
next adjoining piece of ground called Pursefield into three
sides of a quadrangle the outmost wall of Lincoln's Inn Wall
aforesaid making a fourth.

Recognitions of this contract, H.C.J., VII, 563.

Whereas there is an Agreement or contract made between the
Society of Lincoln's Inn and J. Cowper and Richard Henley Esq
and other ovmers of certain parcels of ground in Lincoln's

Inn Fields for the erecting and finishing certain houses and
new buildings on three sides of the said fields; and for the
conveying and assigning the rest and residue of the said field
unto the said Society.

15 Instances of attempts to prevent building in Lincoln's Inn Fields.

The slow development of the Fields was also to some extent due to
Government or Crown intervention; see:

4 Nov 1613, A letter from the Lords of the Privy Council to the
Justices of the Peace for the County of liiddlesex to restrain
and forbid the buildings in Lincoln's Inn Fields.

20 Feb 1613/4, The Benchers, Barristers and students of Lincoln's
Inmn + . . that not withstanding the previous Lordship's letters
there was going ahead building in Lincoln's Inn Fields. Signed
by the Lord Mayor and Aldermen of London, J.P.s of lMiddlesex,
Benchers of Grays Inn, Lincoln's Inn, Middle Temple, and Inward
Temple.

Regs of Privy Council, vol.III, f 45; 1656 Cap 24: Enacts that
every building on a new foundation built within 10 miles of the
walls of London since March 25 1620 and not having attached four
acres shall pay one year's rent or year's value . . . & commission
is appointed to administer the Act. For the prevention of burning
and firing of houses it is enacted that all built in the future
shall be of brick and stone . . . any new erection built after

29 Sept 1657 failing to comply with the new regulations shall
forfiet £100 for the use of the Commonwealth and £20 to the poor
every month . « » various provisos including that for Lincoln's
Inn Fields.

C.Su.Pl DOmo, 1656"7, VOI.CXXIX, 127, (1883>, Pp. 70-710

C.S.Ps Dom., 1657-8, vol.CLV, pp. 17-18, Act for preventing
multiplicity of building in and within 10 miles of London
exception in favour inter alia of building in Lincoln's Inn
Iields before Oct. 1359.



Instances related specifically to the building of the tennis court:
drawn from The Black Books of Lincoln's Inn, ed. W.P. Baildon, 1898,
VOl.IIo

p.414, £. 629, 5 Nov 1656; It is ordered that the Stewards doe
take care to have an information drawne against James Hooker and
Amne Tyler for new buildings in Lincoln's Inn Fields intended for
a rackett courte.

f. 630, 18 Nov 16563 That the information ordered at the
last Councel to be drawne against James Hooker and Anne Tyler for
the new buildings in Lincoln's Inn Fields intended for a tennis
court, be proceeded in by the Steward and prosecuted with effect
not w%thstanding their petition to this Councel. (See petition
below ).
pedl5, f. 633, 4 Feb 1657; A committee is appointed for receiving
propositions from Mr Henley and Mr Cowper concerning the buildings
in Cup Field and from James Hooker and Anne Tyler concerning the
new building in Lincoln's Inn Fields intended for a tennis court.
D.416, fo. 634, 12 Feb 16573 The Council accept propositions made
by kr Henley and Mr Cowper and are allowed to proceed with the
building with the consent of the Society. A Committee is set up
to deal with the conveyance - Sir Lislebone Long, (Recorder of
London), and six Benchers. The matter of the proposed tennis
court is referred to the same committee.

65,

p-417, f. 635, 30 Apr 1657; The conveyance respecting the buildings

in Cup Fields is drawn. Ordered that it shall be executed. The
matter of the tennis court is adjorned.

Pp.465-6, regarding the petiiion against further building 1656,
tthat now of late one Horatio lLivore and James Hooker Gent claiming
under the said William Newton and colour of the said letter patent
being now (as your Petitioner humbly conceive) enforce have pre-
pared a great store of bricks and other materials for the erecting
of more new buildings upon the said field . .

CeSePs Dom., 1656-'7, vol.CX.X.IX, 127’ ppo70—710

Petition « « « That now of late one Horatio ligore and James Hooker

Gent and diverse other persons unknown to your petitioners, claiming

under the said William Newton by colour of the said Letters Patent,
being not now (as your petitioners humbly conoeive) in force, have
prepared very great store of bricks and other materials for the
erection of more new building upon the said Pields; and in pur-
suance thereof have lately set up and posted diverse printed bills
in the most public places of this city, thereby to invite men to
take leases of the said Fields, anc to raise new houses upon the
same, to the great prejudice and damzge of your said Petitioners in
their liberties and privileges aforesaid; they take advantage of
the Lords the Judges being in their circuits, whereby the ordinary
courses of Justice for preventing the same is for the present
obstructed . .

5 August 1656 His Highness referred this petition to the Council,

15 August 1656 the Council ordered & stay of further building, See,
House of Commons Journal, VII, 5633 19 June 1657, debate on a Bill and
fine. pp.535 and 538 for reading of leaseholders in L.I.F. Petition.
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Cowper and Kirby Agreement, B.M., Ms Cart Cotton XXIV (47).
Items 5 and 9 from 1659 Cowper and Kirby Agreemente.

Item 5 That the said Richard Xirby his executors administrators
and assigns shall and will and sufficiently with stones pave all
the breadth of the sitreet alloted and appointed from the front of
the said two houses hence to the rails in range with the rails
gtanding on the north side of Portugal Row aforesaid and in
length along and so far as the said parcel of ground doth extend
and shall raise or take lower the same if need be.

Item 9 That the said Richard Kirby his executors . . . shall and
will enclose one piece of ground all the front of the said two

houses with a brick wall containing the thickness of one brick and

& half in thickness and in all ways in equal and parrallel proportion
and range with those already made in Portugel Row aforesaid and with
like and proportionable great grates of freeze stone and pavement and
two great doors with brick and stone and he the said Richerd Kirby

e « o shall make two such arches and vaults of brick in equal height
and breadth under each of the aforesaid to be enclosed courtyards of
the said two houses and buildings with those made by Horatio Moore
Esg with iron grates to give light in to the said vaults.

Newton to Brookes, CR 16 Chas I (4), C54/3229/

See transcription n. 10 above.

For trenscription see n. 12 above.

Close Rolls noting the staking out of sites in Portugal Row,

P.R.0., C54/3224/4, Newton to liurray, Harcbourne & Morrison, 10 Sept.1640.
ivid., C54/3172/9, Newton to Banke, 15 Aug 1638.

ibid., ©€54/3172/10, Newton to Plunkett, 17 Aug 1638.

ibid., €54/3172/11, Newton to Goode, 17 Aug 1638,
ibid., ©€54/3172/23, Newton to Hope, 15 Aug 1638.

ivid., ©€10/237/65, Complaint cites indenture to Cunningham, 1639,
ibid.

Hotson, op. cit., Appendix, p. 316.

P.R.0., 010/237/65, and C33/244/260. (Agp- p- 5T « pp-53-5%).

ibid., C10/2%7/65, 12 Aug 1644.

ibid., C10/237/65; C7/455/70 and C33/244/260, 11 Feb 1674.
(Ao p- 54 ; P 33- 34 o bp. 5 ).

24 ipia,, €10/237/65, lMoore Answer.
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P.R.C., 07/455/70, Harris and Harris Bill. (App.pp.lq-—lf)
ibid., C10/237/65, indenture Cowper to Moore, 1658.
ibid., €10/237/65, Complaint. (Ap- pp 57~ 8.

ibide, ClO/237/65, Complaint and Answer.
C.C.P. Fine, Trinity Term 1656 gives the description
which is recited in this indenture, C7/455/70.

ibide, C10/237/65, Complaint. (Adp. pp- 63-64).
ibid., C10/237/65, Answer. (Agpp. pr34).

R.,C43. of Esy Sir Charles Barry, 1848, which is too large to be
reproduced entire, can be reconstructed with pls.XIa - XId,.

It is acknowledged that only Lea and Glynne, 1706, represent the
tennis court-theatre of the first building, but it will be shown
that the 1714 theatre, LIF III, was built upon the same site as
the earlier theatre which ran in length esst-west along Portugal
Street.

P.R.0., C10/257/65, Complaint and Answer. (App: p. b5 « p- 4.

Recitation of the indenture Cowper to loore, 26 Feb 1657/8, in
1689 Bill, P.R.O., C10/237/65, see both Complaint and Answer.
(App-p- 6% o« p.as),

P.R.0., C10/237/65, Moore Answer. (App -4,
Hotson, op. cit., p.i123.

P.R.0., C10/237/65, Moore Answer. ( Agp.p- 4.
ibid., €10/237/65, Lisle Complaint. (App-p.6%).

ibid., G7/237/86. ( App. bp- 21- 23,

The renumbering of these adjacent plots occurred in 1754 when Taylor
rebuilt 36 Portugal Row, (S. of L., vol.III, p.39), and it was then
divided into two houses. This is indicated on the plans showing the
plot of LIF III. The alterations affected in nc way the tennis court
site.

Hotson, op. cit., p.l24.

67.



68,

42 p R.0., C7/455/70. (Ape. bp. 2= 34).

4 ivid., ©7/237/86. CAtp- ppr -2

44 ibid., C€54/3988/17, licore I to Emline. (Awp-PPJY-'?D-

45 ivid., ©7/237/86. (Age- pr 29

46 jvid.,  ©7/455/70, Complaint. (App. p-26)-

41 ibide, ©7/455/70, Answer. (Aﬁb‘bf53)-

48 ReCe5e of E.y Tasburgh and Guldeford Agreement, see transe., Appendix,“mhoJLL

49 P.R.0.y €54/3988/17.( Agep- . 11- 18).

50 ibid., C54/4038/42. C&@p.pp.lq-zﬁb.

b1 Hotson, op. cits., pel24, and figure facing p.l24 shown here in pl.VIII.

2 P.R.0., 07/100/68, Complaint and Answer. (A p. 36).
03 ibid., €7/100/68, Vitherings v. Carew and Davenant.(A¢p.p ¥,

o4 R.C.5. of E., Indenture of Conveyance between: Amme Lisle, Richard
Reeve & Anne his wife, Horatio Moore & Anne his wife, & Thomas Reeve
gson of Richard Reeve, and Sir Bdwaxrd Abney Kt and William Masemore,
28 & 29 Dec 1692. [App.p- 103D,

P.R.O., Foot of Fine, CP 25(2)/853. Hilary Term, 1692.

25 P.R.0., €10/237/65, Complaint. (Am@.k,sf)
56 G.C.R. Morris, 'The Household Goods of Thomas Hobbs (16477 - 1698)!,
Transactions of the London and lkiddlesex Archaeological Society,
VOl.23, pte2, (1972), ppe204-208.

51 P.R.0., €5/200/15., Hobbs v. Hobbs, 1699.

o8 Survey of London, vol.III, pt.l, pe.49.

59

See below p.47 for fuller discussion of these plates, especially
W.P.L. B 137 (8), and pls.IX, b, c, d, e.

6

0 This collection has since been sold and the location of this drawing
is not known. This note was communicated to me by the late Professor
J. Arnott.
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E. Walford, 0ld and New London, vol,III, 1894.

C.W. Heckethorn, Lincoln's Inn Fields, 1896, p.l1l51.

The stable at the rear of No. 40 Portugal Row is shown adjacent to
Dance’s 1806 Rear Portico to the R.C.S. of E., pls.IXd & IXe, and
WeP.L., B137 (4), pl.IXb, and B137/(8), dated 1809, pl.IXc.

Hotson, ope cite, p.123 and figure opposite p.124, (pl.VIII).

Supra p. 25.
HOtson, ODe Cito’ Po125o

The authenticity, discussed below of pls.XXII and XXIII, is doubted,
but the stables are not shown in pl.XVIII for this was drawn after
the alterations to Dance’s portico effected by Barry, 1835-6.

The Barry alterations to the Dance portico are shown in pl.IX.

Js Prinz, 'John Wilmot, Earl of Rochester, his Life & Writings!,
Palaestra, 154, 1927. Letter 10, p.258.

If you write me you must direct to lincoln'send Fields,
the house next to the Duke's playhouse in Portugal Row:
there lives your humble servant, Rochester. [circa. June 1670]

It is thought that Kochester was lodging temporarily in the Davenant
House attached to the theatre rather than any of the adjacent private
houses.

Survey of London, vol,III, pt.l, p.39, notes the building alterations
carried out at No. 36 Portugal Row in 1754.

P.R.O., C33/244/214 and C33/244/260. (App. b-53).
ivid., ©€10/237/65. (ﬂwp.p.SW)
For substance of the 1674 Decree see C10/237/65.

P.R.0., C10/237/65, Complaint.

The case, Moore II v. Lisle, Reeve and Co., the documents or
records of which have furnished much of the information regarding
these early years of the playhouse, though initiated in 1689,
seems to have dragged on for two years or more. The final judge-
ment is only partially clear from the deeds relating to the
conveyance of No. 40 Portugal Row to Sir Edward Abney and Williem
Masemore on 28 & 29 Dec 1692. This document is amongst those in
the keeping of the R.C.5. of B, There is also the Foot of Fine,
CP 25 (2)/853, Hilary Term (4 Wm & Mary) 1692.
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The decrees and Orders for this case have been researched down
to 7 Nov 1690, C33/276/701, after which it would seem that the
conflict reached a conclusion out of court for in 1705 Horatio
loore II was in possession of one moiety on the theatre which
he sold to Thomas Hiccocks.

P.R.0., C33/276/701, T Nov 1690, (Abk - p. io2).

Judgement was that no judgement would be given at that time for,
'the differences are between pearties nearly related to both to
other and therefore think fit to be accommodated in an amicable
way this court therefore does not think fit to deliver a judgement
thereon's The parties were told that council should come to some
conclusion, if thet was unsatisfactory further advice should be
sought, only on condition that this ploy failed should the parties
bring the same back to the liaster of the Rolls.

Hotson, op. cite., p.216, notes thet Davenant boarded his actresses
in this house adjoining, Mrs Davenport, lirs Saunderson (leter Betterton),
¥rs Davies and kirs Long,

P.R.0., C10/237/65, Complaint end Answer.
Schedule of Rate Books, Appendix, - 3.

B.ley, Adde Ch. 9296. Indenture between Sir %William Davenant and Sir
Willian Pussell 8%, 7 larch 1660/1. Transcription in Hotson, op.cit.,
Appendix, p.401.

Davenant . . . demolished for the better enlarging and convenient
preparing of the said theatre there [the house to the north].

R.C.5, of E., Tasburgh and Rich Agreement, 1714, Appendix,‘#yl}a’{lh

Richard Reeve'!s will, 11 HMay 1698, proved by wife Anne, sole executrix,
25 June 1702, P.C.C., PROB 6/86.

WeP.L., Rate books schedule abstracted from the Parish Rate books,

Appendix,v.i

P.R.0., €10/237/65, Compleint and Answers App. pp - ST- 84, o pp. &5 -loo.



Lincoln's Inn Fields: ILisle's Tennis Court

Lisle's Tennis Court = The Duke's Theatre in Lincoln's Inn PFields

A Reconstruction

1656 - 1705

1.
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Fige 12

Covered Tennis Courts and their Internal Dimensions
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Lisle's Tennis Court - 'a Tennis Quarrde Court!

On the site discussed above was built Lisle's Tennis Court which
was to house Davenant's'Duke's Theatre Company. Tennis courts in the
16th and early 17th centuries varied considerably in size, but when the
game had become more carefully regulated and when circumstances allowed,
they seemed to conform to a regular pattern of dimensions. These

dimensions differed according to the type of court that was constructed.

The court could be of either the dedans or guarrée variety. Tegether
figs. 10 and 11, and the two pls. XXI and XXII, provide visual expla-
nation of the dimensions and characteristics of the two types of court.
The following comparative chart sets out the prinecipal dimensions of

the two courts.

Length Breadth
External Internal External Internal Ht to Eaves
Dedans 11294 10819n 42140 381AN 301+
guarrée 1061 4m 1021 4n 4214 384" 30+

The differences noted between the internal and external dimensions in
each case are due to an estimated 2'0" thickness of the walls of the
court. But it is the distinguishing feature of the dedans court that
accounts for the difference in the intermal lengths of the two courts,
1f a court possessed both the closed penthouse and the dedans penthouse,
it was styled a dedans court; if it contained only one penthouse, the
closed penthouse, it was deemed a guarrée court. Both forms of court
had the long gallery penthouse. In both instances the width of the
court remained the same, but the dedang was longer than the quarrée
court by the depth of its dedans penthouse. Fig.l2 provides an
higtorical comparative list of tennis courts built during the period

in which Lisle's tennis court was constructed.l

(2



It is therefore possible in some respects to account for the
variations of these tennis courts built once the game had become
conventionally regularised. Irregularities nevertheless occurred
in spite of builders' and players! efforts to conform, and it is
suggested that one of the principal problems that bedevilled con-
temporaries, and has continued to trouble more recent researchers,
is that of translation from IFrench to English,

Julian Marshall in his detailed history of tennis, The Annals
of Tennis,2 referred extensively to the work of de Garsault;3 but
Iarshall inadvertently misdirected subsequent theatre higtorians who
turned to his pages and illustrations for guidance. The crucial point
is that de Garsault in 1767 explained the plans of the two courts,
dedans and guarrée, which illustrated his work, pl.XXIII, in terms of
the French measurement of 'piedg'. The error thet arose subsequently
was that the pied was translated directly into English as a foot
imperial measurement. The French pied however was not twelve inches
long but 12.79".4

Marshall, abstracting from all the information he had gleaned,
suggested an ideal dedans court having the internal dimensions 108'6"
in length and 386" in breadth. His plan is redrawn in fig.ll. His
ideal guarrée court might well have been 101'6" long had he envisaged
a dedang T'0" deep.

The height of the lower side walls seems to have been subject to
variation, as was the height of the ceiling. On average the side walls
offered a height of about 17'0O", and the ceilings about 30'.0".5

Applying the requirements for each type of tennisg court to what is
known about the Lisle/lloore site, it is clear thet had they wished they
could have built either the dedans or the guarrée court with at least

one house at one of the ends. On the other hand it has been shown that



they reduced the length of the site by allowing a 12! passage on the
western side of the plot and placed their service houses adjacent to

the court on the northern side; decisions which would nevertheless

have allowed thenm to build & dedans court if it conformed to the pattern
descrived above. However, Cibber described the court as 'a Tennis
Guarrde Court, which is of the lesser sort'.6

Layiny emphasis on the second part of this description, Hotson
vressed it into use to support his theory that the court was smaller
than phat Marshall had suggested was appropriate for a guarrée court,
and further, such a spall court would be possible on a plot only 751Q"
in length.7 Having shown that the site could accommodate a full sized
cuarrée court I would suggest that Cibber reported it accurately, and
was consciously distinguishing the one type of court from the other in
his description. He was making it clear that the court was a quarrée
court and that it was smaller than the dedans court,

In the light of these considerations I have reconstructed the
theatre in a guarrée court having the externmal dimensions 106%4" x 42t4"
and the walls 2'0" thick which in turn provide an internal space 102'4" x
3814" x 31t6", 3L'6" is the estimated height of the court deduced from
various courts and the requirements demanded in the reconstruction of
the theatre.

Lisle's tennis court was drawn by Faithorne and lewcourt, pl.I, and
by Hollar, pl.III, a few years after its construction, but neither of
these drawings gives very detailled accounts of the structure. This
deficiency may be rectified by reference to a& near contemporary court
bullt in James Streets for which there is graphic evidence of a com-
prehensive kind in the form of photographs, pls.XXIV and XXV; water

colour esketches, pls.XXVI and XXVII and precisely drawn plans, section



and plan, pla.XXT and XXII. Irom all this information it is possible
to form some impression of the court that housed a theatre.

The exterior of the court, a long nazrrow building, was probably
built of brick, perhaps rendered., The long side walls had a thicke
ness of about 18" to 24" and they rose to a height of about 17'0",
Above these side walls were set posts which rose to support the roof,
the ceiling of which might have been about 30'0" or a littls more from
the ground. Along the two side walls would have been the outward
projecting galleries. The posts supporting the roof were quite light
timbers in order not to obstruct too much light from entering the court.
The end walls would vary according to whether or not the tiled roof
were gabled or hipped. In the case of Lisle's tennis court, according
to Hollar, both ends were hipped, pl.III. Unconventionally this tennis
court had its ancillary buildings on the north side, and not adjoining
at one of the ends.9

To suprvlement the information given by Chambers! sectionsl
elevation Charles Hulpeau's Parisian court of 1653, PL.XXVIII, affords
a more lively representation of the interior of a typical tennis court.
The rather primitive perspective of the engraving emphasises the length
of the court. The same wall structure as previously noted is on both
sides and through the openings above these walls there are to be seen
the gallery supporting posts where the nets and blinds would hang,
similar %o those shown at the gable end of the court; a feature that
is idiosyncratic of this court. The joists in the roof are left exposed
in the engraving but a ceiling is shown in pl.XXI. It is believed that
more lavish courts were usually provided with ceilings, for a ball was
out of play in this area and could easily become lodged amongst the

joiste and difficult to retrieve. Both the engraving and Chambers!

78,
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section of the James Street show the penthouses running along the far
wall and along the wall to the right. The particulars regarding the
dimensions of the English penthouses are indicated in pl.XXII. The
difference noticeable in the two far penthouses is not fortuitous,

for each illustration shows the variation in the possible arrangement
of the penthouses which is the major cause of the difference to be
found in the length, but not the widths, of the developed ternnis court,
The far penthouse in the French engraving, pl.XXVIII, would be termed

a 'closed penthouse'! and that in the James Street tennis court a dedans,
pl.XXI.

To conclude the description of the structure of the tennis court
congsideration must be given to its functions, for this area too has
important implications when a tennis court is converted into a theatre.
The engraving of Hulpeau's court suggests in a simplified form the stone
flags that were used to surface the playing area. There are several
descriptions of courts in England that support the use, indeed the need,
for such stone flags rather than any other materizl. 'The whole area
of the court is paved with flags of Caen stone, each one foot square,lo
making ninety rows of flags', was the translation of the description of
de Garsault.ll Chambers directed that the markings on the pavement
should be not chalked or painted but more permanently inlaid with un-
polished ma.rble.12 The flags at James 3treet, when that court was being
converted, were considered by the Earl of varwick in 1886 rfor his court
at Warwick Castle, but on their being raised it was found that they had
been worn too thin to bear moving and relaying. Horatio licore, (II),
lMaster of the King's Tennis, at a meeting of the Hampton Court Board
of Works on 7 May 1700, argued that, 'withoutl [a stone floor} no Ball

13

can give a true bound!, But what is of interest is that the ingtruction
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noted by Chambers beneath the section of the James Street court,

The pavement of the court on small arches, abt wide

and high which will keep it dry and is better for

the Play than if lay'd on the Rarth.
Unfortunately, when writing his notes, he had noit done all his researches
and left blanks where precise information would be welcome, but the note
stresses that the ground beneath the court should be excaveted, in order
to build some kind'of vaulting beneath it to ensure a circulation of air
and avoid rising damp.

There is mention at James Street and elsewhere of cellarage that on
occasion was leased out to brewers. The builders or owners were thus
using to some financisl advantage a technical necessity. To provide such
a storage facility as well as keep the court in the desired condition, it
is suggested that beneath the floor of mest temnis courts there was a six

foot deep cellar, or if not a celler, a shallower void in which the

vaulting was constructed.

Reconstruction of LIF I

Before proceeding to a detailed description of the interior of the
theatre certain assumptions thet have heen made in the selection of
possibilities in the reconstruction of the first Duke's Theatre need to
be explained. Those related to the auditorium will be discussed immedi-
ately; those concerning the stage will be considered more appropriately
at a later point.

The first assumption is thet Davenant built the stage and auditorium
on the existing floor of the tennis court rather than adapting the
probable vaulted cellar beneath the flagged floor. Initially it might
geen an attractive proposition to utilise the previously excavated area

at the stage end of the court for stage machinery, and thereby gein on-
stage height in a building thet was not specifically constructed %o

accommodate flying space.
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This possibility has been rejected for several reasons. The
vt

height of the forestageﬁigf‘:Z&rst, the level of the first row of
the pit and its subsequent rows of benches, and secondly, the level
of the first range of boxes. All three of these features have a strict
relationship one to the other. The eye level of the audience in the
first row of the pit should be about lewvel with the forestage, i.e.,
about 416" off the pit floor level. But in order to have clear access
to the pit by way of, at the lowest,a 6! doorway, such an entrance
would rise to at least 1!'6" above stage level and so prevent the building
of the floor %o the surrounding side boxes level with the stage. This
obstruction is removed if the joists supporting the front row of boxes
are built at a level to allow access to the pit and alsc level with the
forestage. But in this instance if the forestage were T7'6", (the height
obtained by adding the joist depth to the woxrking height required fox
traps beneath the stage), and it were in part set below the existing
floor level of the court, then the pit area itself would similarly have
to be set in an excavated space,

However, presuming that the main door on the north side of the
theatre was the principal entrance and that it was at ground level, i.c.,
more or less court level, there seems very little space in which to
provide a staircase down to the pit as well as space for the other
patrons moving to other parts of the house. An alternative assuaption
would be that the floor level of the court was the floor level of the
boxes and stage. This would require the total excavation of the stage
and pit area %o provide trap space under the stage and a circulating
area under the boxes for the excavated pit.

If all or any part of this excavating had to be done by Davenant

before he started to erect the boxes and the stage, presuming that there



was & vault-basement to the court, I would consider it excessively
expensive on the one hand and difficult to reconcile on two further
grounds. First, Thomas Reeve reconverted the theatre fairly swiftly
back to a tennis court for some £500.l4 There is evidence that he
'rebuilt! one of the houses on the north side,15 but he would have,
by necessity, also opened up the windows, reconstructed the penthouses,
repaired the walls and roof, as well as redecorated the walls in their
customary black. But there is no mention in his Bill that he had to
rebuild the vaults or relay the floor; a significant and necessary
part of the court and far more important perhaps than the rebuilding
of the adjoining house. Secondly, Betterton and his seceding compsny
appear 10 have reconverted the fennis court back into a theatre equally
swiftly; at what cost and in what style is impossible to say. Although
whatever was done, as a theatre, it was capable of use for ten further
yvears and if the need had arisen, even longer. However it was a risk
that may not have succeeded and it might have been an expensive failure
if Betterton had undertaken extensive alierations. And again, there was
the possibility of the building gaining a fresh lease of life in 1705
and when it was put up for ftender in 1708.16

My conclusion is that Davenant could work speedily and less expen=-
sively on the conversion by erecting the theatre, stage and anditorium,
within the tennis court without disrupting the basic structure, i.e.,
doing no more than remove the penthouses and fill in the upper, approxi-
mately 10', open wall space. Additionally the building could revert to
its former function with the same speed and lack of expense, for clearly
Davenant had no intention of staying in a converted building longer than

was absolutely necessary.
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I assume therefore that the floor level of the tennis court was
the foundation on which the stage and boxes were set. This schene
raised certain but not insurmountable limitations with regard to the
size, both depth and height, of the boxes. But primarily the reper-
cussions would have been economic, for it reduced the possible number
of rows of benches that could be ranged in the gallery. Here as else=
where in this building it would have been the width that was the greatest
deficiency.

By keeping all measurements to a practicable minimum it hss been
possible to place the pit, boxes, middle and upper galleries within an
estimated 31'6" height, which is reasonable for a tennis court, without
resorting to excavations.

The second assumption is that if the events surrounding the
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conversion were as discussed above, Davenant employed the same procedures

as those adopted when, in the past, theatres had been erected within the
Bangqueting House or the Great Hall in Whitehall. These were conversions
which had been undertaken by Inigo Jones and John ¥ebb, both of whom
Davenant had worked with previously. Purther, it is very likely that he
was advised by Webb in this present undertaking. In this particular
there was no imnovation but there were dissimilarities which gave rise
t0 innovations which had lasting influences.

The principal amongst these was the way in which the stage and the
auditorium were combined in an organic whole. Formerly in Court pro-
ductiong of masques and plays there was certainly the integrating force
of the laws of perspective creating a strict relationship hetween the
stage and the auditorium or, more specifically, the proscenium arch and
the royal dais. 3But in those performances of masques or indeed plays at
Court the need of the actor to make his entrance on to the forestage did

not seem to emerge; the actor, except when moving into the body of the



hall, played behind or within the proscenium arch, cf. Mustapha,

1665, pls.XXX and XXXI, designed by Webb at Whitehall.17 Furthermore,
the side pewl8 geating remained ageinst the walls and separate archi-
tecturally from the proscenium arch, With the emergence of the public
theatre and its adoption of Court theatre practices came the need, the
pressure, to integrate the two parts of the house by means of more
seating and boxes which, when linked with the proscenium, absorbed its
separating and decorative function whilst providing the facility of
entrance doors. It retained its t'pictorizl! function. This allowed a
fusion of the styles, the Elizabethan thrust stage combined with the

19

proscenium arch and its perspective scenery creating a totally new

form. Nevertheless, regardless of the architectural features that

combined the stage and auditorium, it was still geometry that controlled

their relationship and proportions.

Of the few architects and men of the theatre with whom Davenant had

had a long working experience there was none who could so readily lead

the theatre into the future as John Webbzo and perhaps it was his design

that the Duke of York was discovered studying when he was visited by

Amerigo Salvetti in January 166l. In a dispatch home, dated 27 January

1660/1, Amerigo Salvetti, the brother of the lorentine agent in London,

recorded his meeting with the Duke:

Then he showed me the design of a large room he has
begun to build in the Italian style in which they
intend to put on shows as they do there [in Italy],
with scenes and machines; %but it will haxrdly be %o
the taste of those who have gseen the designs of
Cardinal Gian Carlo.cl

Sir William Davenant had taken the lease of the tennis court in
The order Col o patent on

March 1660. He s'ubm(H’eLéa_dch-t’al-’;/ 9 July 1660, and opened the theatre
in June 1661s Dawotronts patemt Al M bags Hu Creat Scar

bk 15 Joan - iébl/;i
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The plans for the conjectural reconstruction of LIF I are the
ground plan, fig.1l6; and the longitudinal section, fig.l7.

This reconstruction therefore observes the basic design princigple
which Jacobean-Restoration architect-designergs seemed to apply when
conditions were favourable. The two basic requirements of an auditorium
ané stage with perspective scenery were fulfilled by the equal lengths
of the stage, proscenium arch to back wall, the principal vanishing
point, and the proscenium arch to the royal or centre box, the principal
point of vision. In the theatre this became respectively the distance
between the proscenium and the termination of the vista and the distance
from the proscenium to the front box or the rear of that box, i.e.,
within the box area. A comparison of ground plans suggest that the
critical distance, proscenium to back wall was determined by the possible
breadth of the hall. Thus a double cube structure, with additional
working space at both ends, was the ideal, (See comparative chart,
fig.13, down to the building of Covent Garden). With the advent of the
forestage and the rise of wider custom built theatres the breadth of the
theatre determined the total depth of the stage, including the forestage,
and the proscenium arch position was plotted by the required proscenium
door and hox measurement encroaching on the forestage. In each case the
remaining depth of the stage, proscenium to the termination of the vista/
back wall, determined the distance from the proscenium arch to the front
centre box. Diagramatically this could be showvn as two squares over-
lapping by as much as is required for the forestage.

These theories I have adopted and adapted in the reconstruction
projected here. They are slightly modified in each case by factors that

cannot he avoided and finally their influences have been reconciled.
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Consequently it is for these reasons that I suggest that because
the ternmis court was 38'4" wide Davenant's stage was about 38t'4" from
proscenjum arch to the back wall, and 38'4" from the proscenium arch
to the centre box, with a forestage 16'6" deep providing a stage box
and door of entrance. INMore specific points of design will be discussed
under separate headings below.

There are two modifying factors that have been considered in
adopting this proportion. First, the length to which Davenant increased
the adjacent scene house on the north side of the theatre, and secondly,
the projected placing of the main entrance into the theatre somewhere
between the scene house structure and Davenant!'s house, at & point at
which it would not encroach on the back stage area and yet give adequate
entry to the front of house corridors leading to the main foyer/staircase
at the rear of the auditorium at the west end. Davenant had located his
scene house, dressing rooms and administration on the eastern side of the
building. Therefore I am assuming that thaet was the most logical end to
place the stage in the temnis court, and consequently the auditorium and
the main staircase were in the west end of the building.

Unless it were necessary for Davenant to relate this extension
functionally in some particular way to the stage area it would seem to
me unnecessary for him to have gone to such extremes as to knock down
Witherings! Wall,22 even if initially he had not envisaged court pro=-
ceedings ensuing ag the result of his action. He could have built up to
the wall and not involved himself in difficult legal transactions.

The position of the main entrance is conjectural and depends on the
acceptance of Davenant's scene house taking up 42' from east to west and
the Davenant house heing some 32' long. The first point has been dis-

cugsed above but with regard to the second, I suggest that the eastern



side of Davenant's house came a significant way across the rear of
38 Portugal Row, for the deeds relating to the house cite the pales
to be 4' from Davenant's house rather than the tennis court, thereby
sugegesting that the house and not the court was the cominant building

at the southern end of the Witherings plot.

Auditorium, Foyer znd Corridors

The main entrance on the north side at tennis court floor level
cives access to a corridor at the lowest 7'6", at the highest 8', and
about 6'6" wide, which leads round underneath the boxes to a foyer 17!

wide and 38'4" long at the rear of the pit. The corridor continues
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round behind the pit to another entrance to the pit on the southern side.

The stairs to the boxes, middle and upper galleries are situated in each

corner of the foyer. Access o this corridor and foyer is gained possibly

by doors in Portugal Street on the south side, one sited to give on to
the foyer at the western end, and the other, close to the doorway into
the pit. There is no evidence for the former probability but for the
latter there may be. It rests on an interpretation of itwo senarate
entries in Pepys' Diary, the first for 28 December 1666 and the second
for 6 February 1668, On the first occasion he noted,

FProm hence to the Duke's House, and there saw iLacbeth

most excellently acted, and a nost excellent play for

variety. I had sent my wife to meet me there, who did

come and after the play was done I ocut so soon o neet

her at the other door, that I left ny cloak in the

playhouse, and while I returned to get it she was gone

out and nmissed me.
This could mean that they hoth left the pit by two separate doors and
missed one another at the north side entrance. 3But he did write that
he had gone 'out! and left his cleoak in the 'playhouse' rather than the

'pit', which suggests that he had left the building hefore he realised

thaet the cloak was missing. However, it would seem difficult if there



were only one exit from the theatre that they should have totally lost
each other even if there were two doors out of the pit. On the second
occagion Pepys had again lost his wife for he recorded that after a

performance of She Would if She Could,

The play being done, I into the pit to look for my

wife, it being dark and raining, but could not find

her; and so stayed going between the two doors and

through the pit an hour and a half, I think, after

the play was done.
It is conceivable therefore that these notes refer to the main door *o
the theatre and +the 'other door' into Portugal Street. Even if this
were not the case and it could not be accepted on this evidence, it
would seem nore natural and safer to have at least one other entrance
on the Portugal Street side of the theatre for the use of patrons. If
vatrons did not congregate on this southern side of the building there
geens little point in having 'shops! there, which I presume were a kind

of hut or market place booth for the sale of refreshments, perhaps

tickets, playbooks, prologues and epilogueso23

Auditorium
The design for the auditorium has been based on the description
by Magalotti. This description from his 1669 Journal whilst in the
entourage of Cosimo 4t Medici has recently been reascribed by Orrell24
to the Duke's Theatre rather than the Theatre Royal, Bridgi;;treet as
had previously been thought.
Mogalotti refers specifically to the circularity of the auditorium:
The theatre is practically round in plan, surrounded
within by separate compartments in which there are
several degrees of seating for the greater comfort

of the ladies and gentlemen who, according to the
liberal custom of the country, share the same boxes.

.
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The recongtruction attempts to reconcile the ambiguity of incompleteness
suggested in the phrase 'practically round in plan', by setting out the
central and principal boxes in a circular fashion and by linking them
to the proscenium forestage with boxes running parallel to the walls.

It is hoped thereby to realise the qualified roundness of the description.

Boxes

At the first floor level the boxes are approached by the foyer
staircase which gives on to another 10'6" promenade and through a
separating curving partition into the 5'6" box promenade and two, one
on each side, 23" passages. This partition is intended to separate
middle and upper gallery patrons from those in the boxes as well as to
form a sound barrier.,

The placing of the boxes within the auditorium is determined by
the theory discussed above which requires that the distance of the
furthermost and central box from the proscenium arch is dependent on
the dimension of the proscenium arch to the back wall or termination of
vista, and that in turn is related to the width of the theatre stage or
building. Consequently I have set the boxes 38'4" from the proscenium
arch, the radius for the arc, 12'1%", is derived from the width of the
pit, 24'3", The width of the pit is, of course, determined by the depth
of the side boxes and the side passages. Here, whilst the depth of the
boxes has been kept to a minimum, I have rejected the possibility of
splaying the side walls of the auditorium and proscenium in order to
maintein a reasonable width for the box passages and the widest
proscenium opening possible in a narrow building.25

In practice this permits five boxes to be set out in a semi-circle
which answers the roundness of Magalotti's description and the modifi-

cation to that roundness is reflected in the one box on each side running



parallel to the wall, thus linking the 'rowund' auditorium to the
straight forestage boxes and proscenium. In all there are seven boxes
encircling the pit, each divided by columns at 8' centres. Those on
the curve are 8'!' deep and those at the sides about 4'6". The centre
box is 21'10" from the front of the forestage. Iach box could have
its own door, which is speculative, and each would be separated from
its neighbour by a low partition as Magalotti mentioned. The three
central boxes each have a capacity of 24 seated on four benches., The
outer two boxes each have a seating capacity of 1626 and those adjacent
to the stage boxes 10 on two benches. The total estimated capacity
would bherefore be 124.

With regard to the phrase 'several degrees! found in the five
circular boxes, this has been interpreted as meaning more than the usual
provision of two benches in the side boxes. In this case four rows,
more or less complete according to the shape of the particular segment,
are suggested, each stepped 4" from front to back. Although there i=s
depth in the auditorium space to afford more rows than four, there is,
acting as a controlling element, the constraint of height, in which three
tiers are to be ordered.

The benches are 10" wide and the spaces 1'3"; at the rear the bench
width has been increased to 18", because of the wall behind the seat
restricting the patron's posture.27

At the front row in all tiers the height of the box is 7'0".

The Middle Gallery

The middle gallery is reached by continuing up the main foyer
staircase to a 17' wide promenade. Thereafter this gallery follows

identically the description of the boxes but for the stepping of the

benches. 9" has been allowed here.28

Tt should ba ofcessed Hat o\ll\CLLPoc;(7yi {1‘3@%5 are estimaked & ihat ij
Stould Mok be i'nh?,rP”"-etaf oo rlgiﬂuﬂﬂﬂj arg Ala Moré Hen e 3‘-’.‘42”
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To provide greater height in this promenade, if the upper gallery
floor were to follow the height of the gallery at its highest point,
ie.cey at the rear of the upper gallery seating, it is suggested that
the gallery is approached on each side by a balustraded bridge. This
gives at least 6' head room into the gallery and 13'6" for the middle
gallery patrons in their promenade., Capacity of the middle gallery is

estimated at 124,

Upper Gallery

Only two rows of benches have been provided in this gallery.
Again, height prevents more in an area in which more steeply raked
seating is required. DLven if it were suggested that the existing
ceiling could have been raised in this region to afford greater
height, there would have been the main joists of the roof 4o contend
with,

In spite of the several criticisms one finds from Pepys when he
sat in the middle gallery, of the upper gallery he had no complaints:

16 December 1661 . . . To the Opera « .  Cutter of
Coleman Street . « » and it being the first time, the
72y was doubled, and so to save money, my wife and I

went up into the gallery, and there sat ancd saw very
Well .

Whether or not these gallery benches went round the sides of the auditorium
I am not altogether sure. This pcint will be considered along with that

of the forestage boxes and gallery boxes - balconies which also served as,
on one side, the music room. Access to these balcony boxes seems to have
been achieved by 'passing through the scenes', a matter which needs fuller
examination below. On balance, my opinion is that these gallery boxes did
provide a third tier to the house.29 The estimated capacity in the gallery

and its boxes is 80. There were possibly 8 further places over the balcony.
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The pit is 21'8" deep and 24'3" wide. It is reached by two
entrances,Eo one on each side beneath the side boxes, adjacent to the
stage, and up steps. The raked pit has 10 rows of benches 10" wide
with 1'3" spaces, except at the front next the stage where 2'0" has
been allowed. The capacity of the pit is estimated as about 124 but
with the addition of 16 more seats if hinged seating was used at the
ends of the rows.

The pit benches have been placed parallel to the forestage for
NMagalotti, when referring to the pit, noted that,

Down below there remains a broad space for other
members of the audience.3l

Since the impression gained was of a 'broad space' and it had no special
feature worth commenting upon, such as that it was curved to follow the
shape of the boxes, or that it followed the curve of the forestage, the
broadness expregsed would seem to indicate lines of benches stretching
from one side of the house to the other across the pit emphasising its
widthe.

The rather short bench set at the rear of the pit beneath the King's
box has been introduced to satisfy Pepys! remark.

By and by the King came; and we sat just under him,
so that I durst not turn my back all the play.>2

The least desirsble seats in the pit were probably those immediately below
the forestage and it is here that Pepys was sitting probably on 8 January

1663, at a performance of Tuke's The Adventures of Five Hours,

and though early, were forced to sit almost out of sight
at the end of one of the lower forms, so full was the house.

I do not presume that it was a regular practice but it was possible

to fly actors over the pit. During the King's Company's residence at the



theatre during a performance of Duffettts farce, Macbeth, in the
Epilogue the stage directions required that

Three Witches fly over the pit. Riding upon Beesomes.33

The Forestage

The forestage measures from wall to wall 24'3" and is 16'6" deep
from the proscenium arch to the front of the stage. At the foot of the
stage there was a rail of some kind, either like that in wood drawn by
Inigo Jones at the Cockpit in Court, or a wrought iron spiked deterrent
in the style of those frequently seen in 18th century illustrations.
That there was such a rail is clear from the Epilogue to Davenant's

The }Man's the Mastexr,

Others are bolder, and never cry, shall I?

For they make our Guards quail,

And 'twixt Curtain and Rail, %

Oft Combing their hair, they walk in Fop~Alley.-+

Moving up-stage a few inches into fop-alley there would most probably

have been a cut for the footlights which may have been flexible, rising
and falling, and operated from a winch below. The remaining surface ares
of the forestage would probably have had more traps than are shown on the
plan but one can be certain that there wes one single mechanised trap and
a double, grave trap, which may or may not have been mechanised. The

single trap was used in at least two plays as the stage directions show,

Then is heard a noise with Thunder and Lightning at
which time Ben Johnson personsted rises from below.

Edward Howard,

1st Prologue, The Women's Conquest, 1670.55

and again in the second prologue,

The Second Prologue personated like Ben Johnson rising
from below.

And later, in Thomas Duffett's, The Empress of Morocco, the trap was in

use. The stage directions for the prologue note that the ghost of ILabas
36 '

ascends and at the end of his speech descends.
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Hamlet was frequently performed at the Duke's Theatre and it is
not unlikely that a double trap, a grave trap, was used in the pro=-
duction.37

One reference to traps in use during Betterton's time at LIF II
comes from stage directions in the text for V. Mountfort's The Life
Mephostopholis under the stage! rises through a trap as from Hell,
and a few lines later, 'Spirits ascend!, which suggests more than one

trap on the forestage.38

The 3ide Walls: TForestage Boxes and Doors

On each side wall at stage level there is a stage box having the
internal breadth of 8!'3" and 7' in height. Each has two rows of benches.
On each side upstage of the stage box there is a stage doox, 316" x 7!,

"he capacity of these two boxes is 20,

At the middle gallery level, over each door, probably projecting,
there is a balcony furnished with flexible doors or windows in an opening
316" x T'O", Over the stage box in continuation of the middle gallery
there is a hox adjacent to the balcony. Above and over each section of
this second tier, according to the height of the proscenium arch, there
were possibly two further boxes, each would form a continusation of the
gallery boxes in the auditorium.

Dividing the boxes from the doors there are pilasters which also
gerve as a frame unifying these features on both sides of the stage and
lead to the proscenium arch proper. There is no graphic or literary
source for these pilasters or their design and they are totally conjectural.

I have made provision for only one door at each side of the proscenium
for I am unconvinced by the evidence that there were two doors on each side
of the forestage in all Restoration theatres, and reserve discussion on

this controversy for separate consideration below.



Progcenium Balconies over the Brntrance Doors and over the Stage Boxes.

Balconies over the Entrance Doors

The reconstruction of the stage door balconies takes into account
the demands reflected in LIF texts. A balcony that projects seems to
be indicated in Boyle's Guzman, performed 16 April 1669, which in both
speeches and stage directions mentions action takinz place 'under the
Balcony'e In Dighy's Elvira, a door on to the balcony is required by
actors who are directed to be 'peeping oui of the door into! a balcony.
And Camilla and Co. have passed through this deor to appear in the

balcony, Act IIT, scene i, in Tuke's The Adventure of Five Hours, 1662/3.

Perhaps the 'door' is latticed and can also do duty as a window or the

door is replaced by a window in Davenant's A Playhouse to let, Love and

Honour in which Evadne and llelora are seen at a window above, and again

in The Man's the laster and The Rivals.39

The Balcony Roxes and Husic Room

After a performence of Shadwell's The Sullen Lovers on 5 May 1668,

Pepys noted that,
He and I up to the balcony~box, where we find ny lady
Castlemayne and several great ladies; and there we
sat with them.
On 7 November 1667 at the Dryden-Davenant version of The Tempest Pepys
wasg,
forced to sit in the side balcone [sic] over against
the musique room at the Duke's House, close by my Lady
Dorset, and a gre:t many great ones. The house mighty
full, and the King and Court there.

For The Roman Virgin, Webster-Betterton, 12 May 1669, he was again t'in

the side balcony, over against the musick!, where he 'did hear, but not
see . « o but the trouble of my eyes with the light of the candles did

almost kill me!.
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Locating the music room and these balcony boxes which were
obviously in close proximity presents several problems that remain
unsolved. Langhans was not absolutely certain when he wrote, referring
to the seat from which Pepys viewed the play, 'In one of the galleries,
close to the stage, and partitioned from gallery spectators, perhaps?'4o
In his latest reconstruction he avoided the debate altogether.4l But
the above extracts from Pepys do partially help. First they suggest
that the balcony boxes are at middle gallery level and therefore accep-
table as seating foxr the nobility rather than in the upper gallery
region. Secondly, they were large enough to hold at least seven or eight
with comfort. Thirdly, on two occasions Pepys was in a box adjacent to
the music room, on the one hand, and on the other, an ordinary gallery
(middle?) box. On the first occasion, 5 lMay 1668, he would have been in
a box on the opposite side of the theatre facing the music room. TFinally,
the balcony boxes were close and high enough to fthe chandeliers over the
apron for them to irritate Pepys's eyes. Whether or not the music room
could accommodate the nine or ten musicians and their instruments that
Killigrew42 could boast about at hig Bridge Street theatre is also diffi-
cult to determine. In this instance one does not know if this number
was housed in an orchestra pit or split between two boxes on either side
of the house. If the latter then Davenant could have matched Killigrew
when the occasion arose. However on no date does Pepys record having
passed through the scenes in order to take his seat.

Yet access to these balcony boxes, probably for both the audience
as well as the musicians, seems to have been through the scenes rather
than from the staircase at the front of the house, for there are references
to passing through the scenes to the balcony, Davenant's Epilogue %o

The Man's the Master in 1669,
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Nay often you swear, when places are shown ye,
That your hearing is thick,

An so, by a Love-irick,

You pags through our Scenes upto the Balcone.

43
Provision for this I can only make by suggestion and on no authority.

Clearly the balcony, both music room and the place above the stage
door had to be easily accessible teo both the actors and the musicians
since they were moving in and out of these areas frequently, and obviously
freely, during; the course of the action, but with regard to the patrons it
would seem that Davenant thought it a liberty, conferred or extracted,
that patrons went through the scenes to their places in the balcony boxes.
To reach these boxes I have drawn very acute steps or a ladder rising from
the stage to a perch on both sides. This would also give on to the balcony
as well as the box beyond. But I do not think this entirely satisfactory
though adequate for actors moving swiftly from stage level to the balcony;
it seems today herdly appropriate for patrons to go by this route, and vet,
however unCignified, the 17th century patron may have done. I suggest
therefore that first, there might have been 2 doorway thrcugh from the
adjacent 'scene houge!'!, or secondly, the audience approached these boxes
by way of a staircase in the up-stage cormer which was connected to the
perch or floor above by some kind of bridge like the fly floor. Perhaps
the fly floor was used (though unlikely), unless there were internal
steps down to the halcony level from the gallery tier; but all this
seems rather tortucus. Of z2ll the possibilities I favour an approach
through from the scene house but that would not solve the problem for
those patrons sitting in the stage left balcony boxes. Perhaps they
could also talte their seats, on bhoth sides, from the front of house.

Total House capacity is therefore: pit 1243 boxes and stage
boxes 144; middle gallery and balcony l44; upper gallery 80; in all,
492, (5”/ mote ¥ p. 4L, C&W TNse swe gorvimaked. %wt»ea based on 5«@«9
vase o e amchence . On popudar occastoms mmamy /Mmae ey
howe been fpreséed o fo He hechies )
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Before crossing from the apron stage to the upper stage I should
interrupt the description of the reconstruction to explain the reasons
for my rejection of the possibility of there being two doors on each
side of the stage giving actors entrance on to the apron. This ig
crucial to the whole reconstruction and to the acceptance or rejection

of the four door theory.

The Avron Door Controversy

In 1913 when Hamilton Bell published the 'Playhouse! drawing he
realised that he was 'reopening a question which one was dispoged to
regard as settled'.44 That question was the controversy that remsins
dovn to today concerning the number of doors on the apron of the
Restoration stage. In his own time R.¥. Lowe, interpreting Cibberts
description of Rich's alterations at Drury Lane, claimed that there
were two doors on each side of the apron of Wren's theatre.45 On the
other hand Iawrence had demonstrated that four doors were an exception
and that two, one on each side, as in the older Elizabethan platform
were the rule.46

This present discussion neither attempts to refute the work of
those who have made reconstructions of the 'Wren'! 'Playhouse! drawing,
pl.XXIX, nor to enter the developmental debate. It is however a defence
of the suggestion that the 'Playhouse' drawing does not show the Theatre
Royal Drury Lane as it was actually built. Perhaps the drawing was a
project for that theatre, in which case it is of course useful as a
reflection of contemporary thought on theatre architecture and con~
sequently it may show features that are exceptional and unconventional.

This drawing however has been steadily accepted as both conventional
and ascribed to Drury Lane, in spite of all its inconsistencies, since

Bellt's first tentative attribution. Those grappling with Colley Cibberts
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recollection of Christopher Rich's alterations have attempted to
reconcile the two descriptions, verbal and visual, to their mutual
satisfaction.47 This is particularly relevant in the area of the
controversy relating to the forestage with its doors of entrance and
stage boxes. The 'Playhouse' drawing undenisbly shows two doors on
the apron stage but no boxes - thus persuvading historians reconstructing
not only Drury Lane but other 17th century theatres that two doors on
the apron before the proscenium archon both sides, was the convention
adopted and developed at the Restoration to accommodate the fusion of
former and contemporary forms. But Cibber'!s words do not necessarily
require or imply that there were either two doors, or two doors and a
stage box on each side of the stage on the apron of Drury Lane.
Cibber noted that,

the area, or platform of the old stage projected about

four feet forwarder, in a semi-oval figure, parallel %o

the benches of the pit; and that the former lower doors

of entrance for the actors were brought dovn between the

two foremost (and then only) pilasters; in the place of

which doors, now the itwo stage boxes are fix'%., That

where the doors of entrance now are, there formerly stood

two additional side-wings, in front of a full set of

scenes, which had then almost a double effect in their

loftiness and magnificence. By this original form, the

usual station of the actors, in almost every scene, was

advanc'd at least ten foot nearer the audience than they

now can be; because, not only from the stage'!s being

shorten'd in front, but likewise from the additional

interposition of those stage boxes, the actors (in

respect to the spectators thet fill them) are kept as

much more backward fron the main sudience than they

us'd to be.48
A reading of this description unprejudiced by influences from the
'Playhouse! drawing seems to convey that Rich substituted on each side
of the stage a box for an entrance door. This door hed been set between

two pilasters the upstage one of which was probably part of the pros~

cenium arch. Previously this door and its corresponding door on the
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other side of the apron had been the lower doors of entrance without
any other doors further down stage on the apron. Now Rich placed the
lower door on each side of the stage upstage of the proscenium arch.

In order to supovort these doors he removed the first set of grooves

and replaced them with a false proscenium. This false proscenium was
architecturally coordinated with the existing architecture by providing
it with a vpilaster on each on-stage edge thus increasing the number of
pilasters from two to three on each gide. By introducing this frame
upstage of the proscenium arch in the place of the first set of grooves
the opening was automatically reduced to that previously presented by
the flatg and borders operating in the first set of grooves. The laws
of perspective relating to scenery would consequently have imposed the
very conditions that Cibber lamented, namely that the new false pros-
ceniun caused the diminution of the scale and effect of the remaining
scenery since the first set of grooves now ran in what had been the
second set of grooves. At no point did Cibber mention any nore than
the substitution of one box for one deor znd the subsequent loss of one
groove position to accommodate the dislodged door. He never nentioned
the loss of any number of en’irances, only the changing relation of actor
and audience once the actor was forced %o work further upstage after the
apron had been cut back.

The influence of the 'Playhouse! drawing has also led textual
researchers to visuwalise the authentic stage directions derived from
prompt copies or printed texts showing evidence of prompters! notes, in
terms of this drawing which provided four doors of entrance - two doors
on each side. In those instances where six doors, three doors on each
side, seem to be required, the assumption seems to have been that these

entrances would have been made through the two entrances on the apron
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and between the proscenium arch and first set of wings, or, as some

have suggested, through three doors all of which were on the apron.49
E.A, Langhans, the most authoritative voice on this knotty problem!

has become less adamant on this point dovm the years. In his thesis,5o

in 1955, he cited as proof for the existence of four doors at LIFP I a

stage direction in Ether¢ge's She Would If She Could, produced 6 February

Enter the Women and after 'em Courtall at the lower door,
and Freeman, at the upper on th'contrary side.
Act 1I, i.

But more recently he argued against his inner conviction that this was

51

still an open guestion. In his thesis, he interpreted the stage

directions from Caryl'!s The English Princess, LIF I, 7 March 1667, in

the light of his previous deductions related to She Would If She Could,

citing two stage directions,

Enter Catesby, and Radcliff at one of the Doors before
the Curtain,

and

Enter Lovel at the other Door before the Cuxrtain.
Here Langhans thought that there were two curious stage directions which
at first seemed to be evidence of only two doors, one on each side, but

in view of the previous proof related to She Yould If She Could, it might

be better interpreted as meaning two doors in front of the curtain line
and another two behind it.52 Clearly, as he admitted, Langhans was
influenced here by the prejudice fostered by his reading of the Etherage
stage direction, but, by itself, it does not require more than one door
on each side,

Subsequently when discussing this problem in the light of evidence

for Dorset Garden (the successor to LIF I), Langhans felt unable to
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defend the four door theory on the grounds that about seventy five perx
cent of +the plays written specifically for Dorset Garden between 1671
and 1682 required no more than one door on each side of the stage, and
he claimed the same more recently in as many words.53 All this fore-
stage space was somehow to be found in a theatre that was smaller than
Dorset Garden and before the present work shows that the theatre was
larger than that projected by Hotson upon whom Scanlan54 and Langhans
depended,
i , .56
Robert D. Hume defended Langhans'! views when criticising Spring's
reconstruction of Dorset Garden, succincily sitating the case: tDispute
about the number of doors at Dorset Garden is idle. No published play
text or extant prompt book for a Dorset Garden play clearly requires
more than one door on each side of the stage. VWhere more than two such
entries are required (in all) the actors could use wing passageways and
scene doors.' Spring relied heavily on the !'Playhouse! drawing and an
interpretation of Cibber that was made to conform with the visual evidence.
Langhans hinself returned to the debate in 1981,57
In front of the main curtain was a forestage or apron
e o« o flanked by proscenium doors, at least one if not
two on each side of the stage.
But in no kmovn prompt script of the early Restoration period is
there any marking of the specific places of entrance. Later in the century

definite entrances are distinguished by the annotations,

LeDeOoePay 1leDe0ePoy UeDe0ePs and LeDePeSsy, lLleDePeS. and
UsDePeSay Or LiDeOsPay OePey UsDsCePey and LiDsPeSe, FPuSe
and U.D.P.3,

58

In the second instance no distincet middle door is noted. 'Since Druxy
Lane after 1696 had only one proscenium door on each side of the forestage,

the references to upper doors must have been to entrance ways between the
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wings or doors in the wing units.'59 Again one finds this adherence
to the 'Playhouse' drawing when interpreting Cibber's lines. Inciden-
tally, there is no date for the introduction of the terms 'prompt side!
or 'opposite prompt'e.

But could it not be that the L.D.0.P. or L.D.P.5. neans either
that one door on the apron, or after 1696, thet one door now above the
proscenium arch at Drury Lane to which Cibber referred as the Lower
door regardless of date? All the other entrances mentioned would there-
fore necessarily be upstage of the proscenium arch and made between the
Wingse

There is, I would suggest, an earlier text, that for The Female
Rebellion,6o a manuscript which shows signs of stage directions probably
ermanating from a rrompt copy or a writer conversant with contemporary
stage vractice. This text has been variously dated and attributed.
41lardyce liicoll attributes the play to Henry Burkhead, btut undated, and
the editors to 1678,61 but I would place it nearer the end of the period,
after the Ionmouth rebellion and the battle of Sedgemoor in July 1685.
The epilogue suggests internally a connection with Dorset Garden.62 The
variants on the places of entrance on each side are as follows,

at/from ye/the lLef% at/from ye/the right

at the inner pert of the/ye Left at the inmer pt/part of the Right

at/from the outer/outward part of the left
A general place of entrance/exit is nominated,

from the bottom of the scene.

Vihat emerges from this terminology is thet entrances were effected from
three points on each side of the stage and no distinction was made
specifically, in these cases, to any door on the apron part of the stage

-~ all the entrances/exits whether through proscenium doors, doors erected
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between the proscenium arch and the first set of wings or between two
sets of wings with or without doors, were deemed doors of entrance.
Unless there is specific reference to practicalities such as
knocking, pushing, locking or relationships with balconies above the
entrance/exits any entrance could be made through one of two doors if
there were such, or, as I am inclined to believe, one only door, or
any of the spaces between the first three sets of wing;s.63

A reappraisal of Langhans' interpretation of the stage direction,

Enter th: Women, and after 'em Courtall at the lower
door, an' Freeman at the upper on the contrary side.

might suggest that there was only one door on each side of the apron at

LIF I. This is an area of personazl directorial reading of the text and
whilst it cannot be conclusive I would suggest that there is an glter=-
native plotting of the scene which would not necessitate more than one
door on each side of the apron] indeed I would go further and claim that
directions do not make the position clear enough to support any categorical
statement, only that one door rather than two is the most likely.

First, there are few stage directions that can be considered in
isolation and in this particular instance preceding directions will be
taken into account. All stage directions to left and right stage are nmy
own of course, and could be reversed without detriment to the basic
plotting movement suggested in fig.l5e.

Act II, scene i, She Would If She Could is set in The Mulberry Garden,

a full stage set sandwiched between two interiors, and the action is
initiated by Courtall and Freeman. It matters little at the moment how
they get on stage but there are five stage directions to negotiate before

the critical direction in question.
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1e I assume Courtall and Freeman are upstage of the proscenium arch
in the scenic area so that the women Ariana and Gatty may pess between
them and the audience, i.e., Courtall and Freemen do not have to turn
upstage to note the presence of the girls,when

Enter Ariana and Gatty with vizards, and pass nimbly
over the stage.

For argumentssake I suggest that they enter stage left and exit stage
right. Perhaps they enter through an apron door, perheps upstage of the
proscenium; there is no clear direction in the text.
2, The men decide to follow and the direction is,

They go after the VWomen.
Consequently they too exit at the same place as the women on stage right.
Fe Immediately the women re-enter, presumably from the right,

Enter Women again, and cross the stage.
The comic business set up here requires the girls to enter from stage
right and cross to stage left. Clearly they could not come on from the
game point at which they made their exit for they would heve met the men
- thus establishing that there were two entrances on stage right. Here
there may well be two apron doors stage right or perhaps the actors made
their previous exit above the proscenium arch stage right and now make
their entrance through a proscenium apron door on stage right crossing
the stage to stage left preparatory to another exit.

e The Women go out, and go about the scene to the other
door.

Enter Courtall and Freeman.
Taking the first part of the stage direction first, because the direction
is that they are to go out and rush round upstage behind the scene to the
other door I presume that the women are to go out at one door and re-enter

through the other door on the opposite side of the stage. This directionm,
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if there were two doors on each side does not indicate which of the two
doors on stage right they are 1o use, and neither does it distinguish
between the exit doors on stage left. Additionally it is also possibly
an indication that there are only two doors on the apron, one on stage
left and the other on stage right. However, the wonen go off down stage
left through the door on the apron and c¢irclc the stage in order to re-
enter on the other side of the stage right on the apron. (This does
indirectly point to the fact that there was no staircase in either down
stage corner which would have allowed the actresses to cross under the
stage by a much easier and swifter route).

The second pert of the stage direction orders Courtall and Freeman
to enter, simply providing the instruction,

Inter Courtall and Freeman.

I assume that they enter on stage right by the same entrance as the women,
lees the apron stage door on the right side, for they went in chase of
the girls and are following them on stage by the ssne entrance the girls
had used. They, the girls, leave the stege empty for a moment and the men
follow, Courtall first and Freeman after him. FPreeman directs the scene =

e Freemon: I'11l follow directly. Do thou turn dovn the
cross~-walk and meet 'em.

Now I'reeman stands breathless in the middle of the stage and Courtall goes
off in which direction? -~ 'down the cross-walk'! with the intention of
meeting the women. He cannot go back down stage right from whence he has
just come, that would spoil the comedy and reduce the sense of the chasej
quite apart from ruining the women's enirance two seconds later which we,
the readers, lmow about but the sudience dces not. Again he camnot go
down left and exit through that deoor because he has to cut the girls off,

not follow them. So through which exit/door does Courtall go to 'turn
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down the cross-walk'? Because I telieve that all these entrances and
exits would not be carried out around two doors adjacent to one another
on each side of the stage, the movement being almost impossible figures
of eight on the apron without making either choreographic or comic use
of the whole scenic stage, I suggest that use was made of two further
exits between the scenes up stage in the wings. But I have absolutely
no idea of where Couriall makes his exit, or Preeman after him. Perheps
a possible answer would emerge from a consideration of the critical
stage direction itself, recalling that there is hardly any time between
speeches and exits and re-entrances.

Enter the Women, and after 'em Courtall at the lower
door, and Freeman at the upner on the contrary side.

Certainly Freeman could have made his exit through the lower door on stage
left ready to appear at the upper door stage left immediately on cue, but
directorially this seems to me to lack the comic possibility in the scene.
I therefore suggest an alternative plotting of the scene which seeris more
in tune with the comic situation and also does not require two doors on
the apron.

Ve are told thet the women enter by the lower door and I have
suggested that it is on stage right. Before they have gone very far on
stage Courtall enters swiftly behind them from the same door, this he
does so swiftly on his exit that I am led to believe that the previous
exit must have been to the stage right between any one of the winss on
that side but not the lower door or if it should have been the upper door
why are we not told? Which ever exit he took he was not told to run
round the scene from stage left to stage right. I think an upper door/
exit between the wings on stage right would have served to have taken him
'down the cross-walk! to meet the women. However, Courtall accosts the

women causing attention to turn to stage right and the women to turn about
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in their tracks. Immediately Freeman enters, up left, at the upper
door on the contrary side and switches atiention to the left. The
women turn about again to find themselves trapped between the two men.
Certainly this could have happened and a similar effect achieved had
this entrance by Freeman been made through the supposed upper door on
the stage left apron but the element of surprise in the entrance both
from the women and the men for the audience is surely part of the comic
business ot this scene. I do not presume it to be a modern convention
that one utilises the whole space of the stage in an exterior scene
to gain effects and here the diagonal movement over the stage would
gain expression by use of all the possibilities open to the actors. At
the same time the expectancy of the audience would be shattered to comic
effect, for if the audience can anticipate the enirances in this scene
the comedy is diminished considerably.

Even if my plotting of the scene were not acceptable, it nevertheless
shows that the distinction found in this text between upper and lower
doors does not necessitate these doors being placed on the apron. I see
no reason for there not being a lower door on the apron and an upper door
upstage of the proscenium arch. In other words one door, the lower door
placed as Cibber described below the proscenium arch, and another upstage
of the arch, the place to which Rich removed the former lower door of
entrance at Drury Lane, and yet another door/entrance further upstage
between the wing flats. In this manner one furnished the stage with the
three entrances on each side of the stage identified in the later prompt
scripts, But in all probability they existed at LIF I from its very
inception. In both cases, the Etherdge text and Cibber's Apology, there

is only one reference tc one door on one side and one on the other.
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The Proscenium Arch

The proscenium arch according to’its styling couldyif arched,
rise to about 22'0", springing either 6'6" from the top of the pilaster
capital, or if a composite arch ultimately rise over all to about 22!,
It could of course have been square framed and the lintel supported at
any point above the capital of the pilaster according %o the ordering of
the decoration. But I favour a height greater than 15'6" for otherwise
much of the swagged curtaining would have hung in an ugly fashion beneath
the architrave impeding the vision, rather than forming a valence to the
frame when in the raised position. The arch I envisage would not be
unlike that shown in the Burney sketch,64 pleIXIII. The width of the
arch, not including any decorative profile produced by the framing
pilaster,would be 24'6".

The Curtain

There seems little doubt that the usual practice was to draw the
curtain up in festoons rather than take it up into the flys straight,
for which there was no height at LIF I, or draw it off stage by means of
a traverse track. I presume that there was a decorative valence hanging
behind the proscenium arch behind which the curtain was hung, and when
it was drawn up it provided a decorative frame to the stage as is found
in the Burney sketch and, at the risk of being unhistorical, one might
refer to Hogarth's 'Beggar's Opera! paintings for an example,65 pleXLe

The curtain seems to have been managed in the same way in Betterton's
period of occupation as formerly.66
Lighting

I envisage at least three chandeliers hanging over the forestage
area and probably as many hanging over the pit augmenting the sconces

attached to the box front panels or dividing columns.67
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The Stage

The reconstruction of the stage area is based upon two presumptions.
First, that Davenant was working in conjunction with, or with the advice
of, John Yfebb when he planned the Duke's Theatre, LIF I. This probability
ig based on the fact that Davenant had worked closely with Webb on masques
before the Civil War, and that it was Webb who designed the settings for

Davenant's Siege of Rhodes at Rutland House in 1656, Furthermore it is

not beyond the bounds of possibility that it was Webb who adapted his own
earlier designs to fit the stage at Lincoln's Inn Fields when the theatre
opened with that play in June 1661. Webb himself claimed that he was one
of the few, if not the only person, capable of designing not only the
settings but also the necessary architectural environment required for

the new kind of theatre.68 This claim came after his conversion of the
Great Hall in Whitehall into a permanent Court theatre in 1665. The
extant drawings, plans and sectional elevation for Mustapha, performed

in that theatre, after opening at Lincoln's Inn Fields in 1665, are shown
in pls.XXX and XXXI. The presumption is therefore that if Webb worked
with Davenant early and late, Webb would have been the man Davenant relied
upon when 1t came to architectural and scenic matters. That allowed, it
was in all probability Webb who originally designed Mustapha at the Duke's
Theatre. Consequently whatever was initially required would have been
transferred, where possible, into the Court theatre. A comparison of

the two stages, or more precisely, a comparison of the possibilities
offered by the two buildings, leads to some interesting similarities
which support the deductions made here; the second presumption, that the
designs for Mustapha at Whitehall reflect with certain modifications the
staging facility at Lincoln's Inn Fields. It will be recognised that
Mustapha was designed in the masque tradition exemplified by Jones designs

for Salmacida Spolia, Davenant's masque of 1642.




The most important similarity in the two buildings with regard to
staging is that the Great Hall was 39'8" wide and the tennis court
3814", thus revealing a virtually insignificant difference of 1t'4%.

The depth required by Webb at Whitehall was, from forestage to back
wall, not back cloth for practical reasons, was about 30'6", and at
Lincoln's Inn Fields it is clear that even allowing for a genuine
forestage of 16'6", it was still possible to provide a stage depth

from proscenium arch to back wall of at least 38!'4". In this instance
LIF I stage was, or could be, deeper than that at Whitehall by nearly
810", With regard to height, there is no definite information except
that at Whitehall Webb could raise on a 510" high forestage an arch
with a 23!'0" opening topped by a 3'9" architrave, which was boarded in
over the top to reach the joists. This gives a clear working height

of at least %31'9". I have estimated the clear working height to the
joists in the tennis court as being about 31'6", If I were %o calculate
the working height of Lincoln's Inn Fields not from beneath stage level,
accounting for trap space, but from the level at which the pit Jjoins the
forestage, the dimension would be about 28'6"., Thus revealing the fact
that the difference in practical working height is caused by the need,
at LIF I, to provide trap machinery, otherwise the area devoted to the
stage in both buildings is more or less the same, although it is
probable that the height to the Joists in the Great Hall was grester
than that thought probable for a tennis court. At LIF I the height,
stage to grid, at the proscenium arch is 24104,

Within this space there are certain modifications to be considered
in the application of the Whitehall design to the situation in Lincoln's
Inn Fields, First and foremost Webb was not called upon to provide a

forestage and the corresponding stage doors and boxes. Attention is not
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drawn to this point in order to discuss the wider issue of the
differences between Court and public theatres but to note that in

not providing stage doors and boxes, Webb could take greater advantage
of the width of the building to give a wider proscenium opening than
would be possible in the alternative circumstance. The two most
important repercussions of this fact is thet first, any adaptation of
the Whitehall design would require a slightly reduced proscenium
opening in order to accommodate the required forestage facilities,and
secondly, a decision has to be made as to whether or not to increase
the distance between the proscenium arch and the first set of grooves
so that it becomes a wide enough space through which an entrance may be

69

made, i.ce, 119" increased to say 3164, and consequently increase the
stage depth by 1'9", or reduce the full set of wings from four to three,
thus sacrificing either, or both, decoration and stage space. I have,
because there is adequate stage depth, adopted the former possibility.
Modifying the 1665 plan for Mustapha accordingly, I have drawn up
the plans and elevations for the reconstruction showing the Mustapha
setting reduced in width, increased in depth and reduced in height.
With regard to the height of the Great Hall in Whitehall, there is
no record, but Webb's longitudinal section foxr Mustapha shows that it
was possible to take the proscenium arch to 3119" and rake even higher,
to at least 70" at the up-stage end, his temporary grid. In adaition
there was a boarded off area topping the proscenium, it is presumed, to
the lateral beams in the roof. Having set the minimum requirement for
the height of the auditorium at LIF I at 31'6", and shovm the need to
accommodate a trap beneath the stage, the working height would be
slightly less than that enjoyed by Webb in the Great Hall. On the other

hand rather than improvise a temporary grid it would seem to me that the
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joists of the original building would have been used to serve this
function in the tennis court. The height on stage at the proscenium
arch is therefore 24'0". Within the space 384" x 3814" x 240" the
scenic possibilities have been disposed.

Adjusting the layout of the wings and the shutters to the public
theatre I have retained the four sets of wings provided by Webb in his
design for Mustapha, but moved them up-stage so that by setting the
first set of wings 3'6" up-stage of the proscenium arch, the first
opening on both sides can be used as an entrance. 1In this space the
curtain would also operate.

The following chart sets out the ordering of the wings, shutters
and relieve scene, the differences that will be noted when comparing
these figures with those on the Mustapha plans are due first to the
modifications that take into account the reduced size of the LIF I
proscenium opening because of the need to provide hoxes and doors on
the forestage, and secondly, to the reduced height of the grid. The
repercussions of these alterations cause first, the narrowing of the
openings between the wings, and secondly, they reduce the openings in
the vertical dimension, stage to border, as they progress up-stage to

the back cloth.

Whitehall LIF I
wth bt wth ht
Proscenium 30181 2310 2416M 2210M
lst wings 29161 2013m 216N 1610M
2nd wings 2318+ 179 19on 140n
3rd wings i7om 149" 15t0m 1z2won
4th wings 1310M7 12130 1310M 106"

Shutter 15|0u 110" 15ton 9|6n



Following Webb's practice of raking the stage to the shutters
and then building it horizontally to meet the rear wall, I have xaked
the stage, 3" - 1', over the first 18'4" up-stage of the proscenium
arch and thereafter allowed it, over 20'0", to run parallel with the
floor below. Beneath the stage in this area I imagine the space nmay
well have been utilised as dressing rooms and store rooms that would
be required by not only the stage management but also those who tended
the candles and lanterns throughout the theatre.

Before moving on to discuss the other facilities required in the
on-stage area, it is perhaps at this point that it is appropriate to
state my attitude towards the controversy concerning dispersed shutters
and the reason for my not including them in this reconstruction.

Richard Southern7o

projected the possibility of dispersed shutters
in grooves, above and below, as & method of presenting and withdrawing
large scenic elements that filled the stage from wing to wing, rising

from the stage to the borders, down stage of the main shutter system.
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Such large units moved by these means he claimed, offered the possibility

of bringing downstage on a grander and more magnificent scale, the
shutter and its relieve scenes that had previously been kept upstage of
the fourth set of grooves. Southern applied himself particularly to an
analysis of the structure and technigue of moving Thornhill's design for
'"The lst Great flat Scene', pl.LVII. He suggested that this vast piece
of scenery was constructed in four parts, divided in half vertically,
and each half then divided again horizontally, and that it was drawn

off stage into the wings when not required. He thought it would have

been set upstage but downstage of the principal shutter system.
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This same piece of scenery, together with another of similar
proportions, will be discussed at length below, in relation to their
attribution to the Queen's Theatre in the Haymarket, consequently in
this place the argument may be kept to basic principles.

Obviously large scenic pieces such as !'The 1lst Great flat Scene!
were employed but that they were all of this size is another matter,
Regardless of their size the problem revolves around the definition of
a flat scene'. Was it technically possible to operate in grooves large
framed out sceneg, il.e., large flats divided vertically at the centre
and pogsibly divided again horizontally, if they were dispersed at any
point downstage of the principle shutter? Or, if it was not possible
to present such large canvasses in this manner, alternatively, was
another technique adopted, for example, was there a method for flying
out such scenes? And further, regardless of the technique employed,
were all such flats termed 'flat scenes!'?

Langhans7l first challenged Southern's proposition and recently

7

Spring 2 has ignored Langhans' caveats and adopted Southern's position

whilst Holland73 has totally misunderstood the whole problem. Meanwhile
T4

unaware of Langhans' work, I had come to the same conclusion'™ and sub-
sequent research would suggest a modification, if not & reservation,
with regard to Southern's theories. While working on another aspect of
Thornhill's work I found additional evidence that the 'flat scene'! did
not necessarily run in grooves but was flown in.75

In his 'Diary' kept during his visit to Paris and more particularly
to L'Hotel de Bourgogne in 1717, Thornhill noted that 'the flat scene of
a Pavil dropt down easy', and that the theatre had a 'Front cloth well

peinted wth goldn folia.ge'.76 Taken together, these notes on scenic
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details help to clarify the matter. The technical problems of mani-
pulating large scenic pieces that would comprise the Southern 'flat
scene! in grooves and the evidence from Thornhill persuade me that
the 'flat scene' was invariably flown in and out and possibly, but
rarely, in the 17th and early 18th centuries run off in grooves.

The technical difficulty resoclves itself around the practicability
of moving flats of the dimensions involved in particular theatres of
the day. DManoeuverability presents the ultimate problem.

Should it be thought that 'The lst Great flat Scene! at the Queen's
Theatre is an unusually large piece of scenery for a singularly large
theatre, one might suggest a 'flat scene! which was designed to sit
behind the proscenium arch of this present projected LIF I. It would
be 246" wide and 18'0" high at the very least. If it were divided in
half vertically, for it would be unnecessary to cut it horizontally, one
could neither withdraw it fully from sight, nor extract it from its
grooves for the width of the house is 3418" and 48'0" would be required.
Further, in this instance, as in others, when such a piece is placed
behind the wing groove positions 1 and 2, no actor could move freely
about the stage or approach the apron entrance doors. A particular case

in point is the scene discussed above from She Would If She Could which

presents this very problem. The interior scenes are withdrawn to show
the Mulberry Garden which will change to an interior immediately after
Act II, scene i, and yet in that scene the actresses are asked to exit
from one door and run round the scene to the other door on the other side
of the stage. They would surely have been trapped down stage by the
withdrawn interior 'flat scene's It is not merely a problem of moving

the shutters on and off, there remains the problem of removing them and
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stacking them off stage once out of their grooves should this need to
be done during the course of the play. Certainly an experienced stage
hand could 'run' one of these flats, or two men would not have difficulty
in handling one part of the shutter, but the space available off stage
in which 4o operate and stack the flat is denied them; apart from the
additional likelihood that they might bury flats that are to be placed
in the wing grooves at some later moment. The dimensions set out below
illustrate the problem at LIF I.

At prosc. opening, 24'6" shutter requires 49'0"; width of stage, 38t4"

U/S of 1lst groove, 21te" " " 430" t " n 58'4"
U/S of 2nd groove, 19tO" " " 3p10M; o« " ZETAN, 214" 4

In this last instance there would be 1'2" available on each side for a
passage. But I think this would be reduced by several inches for each
half of a shutter would be probably at least 9" larger than the opening
it was to fill. The extension would be required for central masking over-
lap, and off stage masking. This does not account for that part of the
flat that would have to remain in the groove in order to secure it in its
off stage position. The figures show the degree +o which this technigue
is a rather limited practical proposition. If of course these shutters
were required to operate at some point between two sets of wings rather
than immediately behind the down stage groove as noted in the figures
above, the width of the shutter would be considerably larger the further
it was placed up stage.

Alternatively if, as Thornhill claimed, the 'flat scene dropt down
easy', it might be more reasonable to consider the mammer of flying these
pieces, whether or not they had praciicable elements built into them. I

suggest that they were flown either on a drum, where there was no height;
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1 1 77

or taken out in sections, § or 5; or, as might be possible in some

up stage position, taken out in one piece. The 'flat scene' could
therefore be a cloth or even a framed out cut cloth according to require-~
nents.

For these reagons I have not considered it appropriate to introduce
dispersed shutters in this reconstruction of the stage at LIF I. I do
not, of course, reject the operation of dispersed shutters elsewhere, or
at a later date, I only reserve judgement in the case of these early

theatres.

Flying Facilities

Apart from the flying required for the raising and lowering of the
curtain, the borders and the possibility of flying in and out 'flat
gcenes' at any interval over the stage as discussed above, there are
instances recorded in the texts of the use of chariots. Whether or not
the grid was a conversion of the original joists or a grid was set up
higher in the roof space it is impossible teo say with any certainty, but
somehow it would have to be equipped with catwalks that would have allowed
the actors to climb into these machines hanging over the stage. Also
from practice, it would seem that it would have been necessary to build
fly floors, probably on both sides of the stage, from which the flying,
regardless of its complexity, would have been managed. The fly floors
could also serve to support the upper grooves of the flats. It would
also seem advisable to operate the flys from a gallery rather than the
stage floor when there would have been scene changing in progress during
a performance. Stage hands would have been feeding the grooves from
scenery stacks resting against the walls. With lines trailing around,
even when tied off to cleats, lines going up to sheeves in the grid would

have been a positive nuisance and prohibited the stacking of scenery.
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Langhans has observed that,

And if Davenant was unable to reconvert the flys to

suit his own purposes, we can understand why so few

LIF plays ask for much in the way of flying machines;

indeed it was Killigrew at Bridges Street who possessed

fancy machinery, and Davenant at LIF who lavished

attention on scenery.
True as this statement may be, the activities of the King's Company were
not inhibited by such limitations when they took over the theatre, and
although Davenant may not have used them frequently, they may well have
been built into the capability of the flys before the King's Company
arrived,

In 1674 when the King's Company performed Duffett's farce parodying
Davenant's Macheth, it was 'Performed with new and costly Machines =
which were invented and managed by the most ingenious Operator Mr Henry
Wright's This much was claimed on the title page and the stage directions
amplify the effectst

Three Witches fly over the pit. Riding upon Beescmes,
Heccate descends over the stage in a Glorious Chariot,
adorned with Pictures of Hell and Devils, and made of a
Wicker Basket.

and later Heccate has the lines,

In a Basket Chariot I will mouni,
'Tis time I know by my count.

Thunder and lightning accompanied the singing flight of Heccaie.
This would not, it seems to me, overtax the average flyman in any
79

theatre equipped to do the basic flying common to most plays.

Earlier, March 1664, in Flecknoe's Love's Kinadom, the Prologue

spoken by Venus was delivered from the clouds and the spectacular entry
titthe clouds! by the descending Castor and Pollux, with the later descent
of the four Continents in their own clouds 'in which the ropes are con-

cealed!', all convince one that the Duke's Theatre possessed the ability
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to mount a spectacular flying show if and when they wishedoeo Cavendish

in his The Humorous Lovers, 28 March 1667, required a cloud machine for

the descent and ascent of Venus and Cupid.
Again, when the Betterton Company occupied LIF II, 13 llarch 1697,

flying was required in Mountfort's The Life and Death of Dr Faustus,

Act I, scene i,

A good and bad Angel fly down,
indicating a flying sysiem equal to that initially installed in LIF I,
and six lines later, after speeches from each angel, according %o the
stage directions the 'Spirits ascend'. This has been dealt with under
the heading of traps, but perhaps these spirits were at stage level and

flew.81

In the Roof

In the roof space in the east end was the grid and the catwalks
which provided access to the flying machines. A4ccess to the grid itself
was probably effected by wall ladders from the projected fly f{loor.

Towards the west end of the roof gpace there was machinery which
need have been no more complicated than winches placed at appropriate
positions to reise and lower chandeliers that were used to light the
house. It is thought that when the witches were flown over the pit
advantage was being taken of the existing mwachinery previously used for
lighting. The possibility of this suggesiion is derived from the example
of the lighting over the pit at the Queen's Theatre and also that used
today, still extant from the eighteenth century, in the Royal Court
Theatre, Copenhagen.

Although this area over the auditorium in theatres built later in
the 18th century was used for the wardrobe, wigmakers, barbers and painters,

it is not thought that this practice was developed as early as this first
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major conversion into a 'modern' theatre, but they could well have been
accommodateds otherwise these activities were probably carried on in
the main scene house.

It would be difficult to claim that the thunder run later introduced
in this part of the theatre, was installed at LIF I at this early date.
The thunder that is called for in the stage direciions may well have been

provided back-stagé by means of a thunder sheet or by the orchestra.

On Stage Lighting

Equally difficult to claim with any certainty is the scope of lighting
equipment in LIF I and LIF II. Certainly, like the thunder run noted above,
there were works published82 explaining techniques by which atmospheric
changes coula be achieved. Amongst the early plays produced at LIF I

Tuke's The Adventures cof Five Hours, particularly Act III, scenesi and ii,

require flexibility in lighting. In boih scenes reference is made to the
darkness of the night and the rising moon - but no stars are to be seen -
as if stars usually accompanied stage moonlit scenes. Working from dark

to light, on the other hand, in Davenant's A Playhouse to Let, the sun

rises. Further, as noted above, thunder, lighting and flashing fire was
used in Boyle's Guzman, Act II, scene iv, the latier {two elements only
seen to their best advantage on a darkened stage, though of course the
stage coulcd never have been totally blacked ocut during these or any other
night scene.

None of these effects is new whether acnieved by the use of trans-
parencies during the night, Hell scenes with their flashes of 1ight from
the contemporary version of the lycopodium pipe, or aqua vitae confla-
grations, for much was traditional either to the Elizabethan stage or

that of the Court masque. Eleanore Boswell in The Restoration Court Stage,

records the contemporary lighting equipment ranging from chandeliers over
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the stage area, sconces fixed behind the flats and borders over the
whole stage as well as behind the relieve scenes. All of which could
probably have been dimmed either by the method advocated by Sabbattini,
the cylinder lowered around the light source; or the cupboard door
method employed by Motta.

Consequently one can project a basically simple technigue of lighting
by candles and oil lamps which was both unwieldy and dangerous. Together
with the lights on stage noted above, there should be included those
beneath the stage for Hell and those which illuminated the divinities who

descended in cloudse.

The 'Scene House!

The estimated floor area of the scene house is 42! x 17'6". This
building was Davenant's extension to the original house at the west end
of the temnis court which is presumed to have served as changing rooms
and refreshment rooms. 1In its original form it is estimated to have been
about 18'0" x 17'6" in plan and about 17'0" high, topped by a roof hipped
on the tennis court side and gabled on the north face. It might well have
had attic rooms. The reason for suggesting this height and shape to the
roof of this extension, and it applies equally well to the 'Davenant
House! to the west of the tennis court/playhouse, is that it is unlikely
that the side walls of the tennis court were constructed any higher than
about 17'0". Above that height there were the open spaces which were
provided to allow light to enter the court. Any obstruction to the light
on the north side of the court effected by the two adjoining houses would
surely have been a defect in the design and serviceability of the court.
The problem therefore arises with regard to Davenant's builaing and re=
construction of the smaller house as to whether or not he built above this
1710" 1limit when he extended the building to cover an estimated 42tO"

along the northern wall. Related to the above point is whether or not
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Davenant built his extension in brick or wood or a combination of these
materials.

Several facts assist the speculation. First Davenant would seem to
have made an intrusion on to Witherings' property from which he could
easily withdraw., Secondly Reeve's repairs were concentrated in this area
according to his Bill. Thirdly, there are no known agreements with the
owners of either 38 or 37 Portugal Row with regard to any windows that
Davenant might have wished to place in these new north and west walls,
Finally, whatever Reeve did to this house when the tennis court reverted
to its former function, Betterton was able to use the resources of the
reconversion as a theatre without very much trouble.

Against these facts may be placed what is definitely known about the
extension. PFirst, it contained the box office and front of house manager'!s
office; evidence is drawn from two notes. Davenant was to appoint 'three
persons to receive money for the said Tickets in a room adjoining to the
said Theatre’y, with actors appointing two or three 'watchers! of the money
taking.83

The Epilogue to Love and Honour, by Davenant, 1673, helps to explain

the whereabouts of the box office and an addiftional detail with regard to
the yard behind the theatre between this extension and Davenant's House;
that it was paved:

Troth Gentlemen, you must vouchsafe a while
Trexcuse my mirth; I cannot choose but smile!
And 'tis to think, how like a subtle spie,

Qur poet waits, to hear his destinie:

Just ith'paved Entry as you pass: the place
Where first you mention your dislike, or grace.
Pray whisper softly, that he may not hear;

Or else, such words, as shall not blast this Ear.

84
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Apart from the public entrances to the theatre there was also a backw-

door, according to the Prologue to The Siege of Rhodes, part II, line 12,

We have your Money, and a Back-Door too.

This 'back-door'! I presume was the stage door situated at the rear of

the building, probably the original back door to the changing rooms of
the tennis court, that gave on to the narrow passage way at the eastern
side of the building. It is probable that there was also another door fto
this extension adjacent to the box office giving on to the yard as an
alternative for the patrons collecting their tickets through a pigeon
hole in the western wall. It may have been through this door that patrons
wvere able to pass through the scenes in order to reach their seats in the
stage boxes and the balcony seats, possibly taking a detour via the
dressing rooms, but I think that the door, the 'back-door! was the stage
door.

It was probably this door that Pepys mentioned when he, on 29 April
1668, 'went out to see Harris' when he had gone to the theatre to see
The Tempest. And again, 1l May 1668, 'After the play done - I stepped up
to Harrists dressing room where I never wags'e Whether or not he went out
or through the scenes on this occasion is not recorded, but it seems that
there was no easy access to the bhackstage from the main body of the
auditorium.

Taking into account the above considerations, the Scene House con-
version is thought t0 have replaced the old changing rooms as the theatre's
main block of dressing rooms, ] here was room for more accommodation beneath
the stage if required; and Davenant's extension, probably built in brick
and wood, measuring at the largest 24! x 22!, (outside dimensionsh

may have had doors knocked through where necessary to the theatre. On
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the ground floor the area would have been divided up by partitions to
serve for administration offices and the box office. If the ceiling

were at about 7'6" the floor above would be the scene dock which, in

the region of some 19' up stage, the height of the raked stage would
allow the 7'6" height to the rooms below and be a reasonable point up
stage at which to have an opening into the dock from the stage. A door
in the old temnis court wall could be knocked through at the required
height, or rise to the height of the fly floor, i.e., some 16' off stage
level. I estimate that the highest flats used down stage would have been
about 16' even if the proscenium opening rose to 24'. The scene dock
itself need not have been any higher than 17' in which to manoceuvre the
flats into their stacking place once inside. Further, below at floox
level, doorways may well have been kmnocked through to allow comnections
between the adjacent house and the under stage area. Apart from providing
the dressing rooms and offices, the adjacent building would also have

accommodated the green room, wardrobe ana wigmakers.

Davenantt's House

Little has been found with regard to Davenant's house. Previously
Lisle's house provided accommodation for the manager of the tennis court,
now the domestic accommodation of the Davenant family and guests, as well
as the actresses in the company. This house was situated on the north
gide of the main building towards the western end, plan fig.lé. It was
indicated by Hollar, pl.III, in which it is seen to have a double gabled
roof. It was referred to in two conveyances of the plot and the house
No. 38 Portugal Row where it was noted that the house was 4' beyond the
blue pales that divided the tennis court property from that of the

northern plots, and again in Richard Reeve's will when it was in the
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occupation of Thomas Betterton. By estimation the depth of the house
has been drawn to measure 10'6" and its length, deduced from other
indentures related to the houses on the plots numbered later 39 and 40,
about 32'0",(plan fig.16). With regard to its height the same strictures
would apply as those mentioned in connection with the single house at the
east of the court, that is, that the original height of the house where
it abutted the tenﬁis court would not have been any higher than about
170", On this long side of the house, which was divided into two gables
in the roof according to Hollar, the roof was probably hipped to allow
light to enter the court. Whether or not there were atitic rooms at this
level, which would have been the second storey, is probable but impossible
to claim with any certainty. No documents refer to any windows placed in
the northern face of the house that might have coffended the later owners
of the properties to the north, that is, numbers 40, 39 and 38. 3But it
will be remembered that the tennis court house was built before the houses
to the north were developed, and again, in the first instance those houses
were owned by the owners of the tennis court and they may well have taken
steps to glaze the windows in such a way as to maintain their own privacy
in the back garden.

The entrance to this house could have been either on the north side
at any point along the whole length if the 4!'0" passage lay between 39
Portugal Row and the tennis court house, or perhaps just that part that
fronted the passage way from Portugal Row; or again, at the side on the
eastern end. As has been discussed above it is unlikely that there was a
door into this house on the western end since the plot of No. 40 Portugal
Row extended the full length of the plot, 186t0", from the rails in

Lincoln's Inn Fields to the Causeway or Portugal Streete.
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The wegtern side

There igs nothing to note of any practical interest on the western
side of the building except that in Hollar's engraving there seems %o
have been originally an archway built over the passage between the
stables of Lord Brudenell's house, 41 Portugal Row, and the south west
corner of the termmis court. It has been shown above that soon after
Horatio Moore I built his house in Portugal Row that this area had
become part of the premises belonging to No. 40 and stables were built

upon ite

The only details on the south side exterior are the doors into the
pit and the huts or shops that have been noted above. The shops received
attention in the title deeds. There may have been a dock door on to the
stage or a door at stage level that had a trap above it that would serve
the purpose when flats were got in and out of the theatre, or perhaps such
a dock door was placed on the east side and approached by the passage on
that side, Such a door would seem to be necessary but where it was placed

is impossible to say.

The East side

On the east side of the building there would have been space for a
5' = b' passage way which would lead from Portugal Street, along between
the east wall of the theatre and No. 20 Portugal Street, to the stage
door in the scene house built to the north of this passage. Whether or
not there were also entrances to the theatre -~ dock doors, for example -

from this path is entirely conjectural.
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Notes, ppe 71=130,

1 Recent studies of the dimensions of tennis courts include,

Se Rosenfeld, 'Sites in Lincoln's Inn Fields, Answers and
Queries" T.N., VOlQI, No. 3, 1946, P035o

E. Scanlan, 'Tennis Court Theatres in England and Scotland!,
T.N’., VOl.X, NO. l, 1955, pp.lo*l5, T.N., VOloX, NOO 2,
1956, PP‘48-50.

K.Mo Cameron, 'The Edinburgh Theatre, 1661-1682', T.N., vol.XVIII,
No. 1, 1963, pp.l8=25.

2 Julian Marshall, The Annals of Tennis, 1878,

3

M. de Garsault, Art de Paumier-Raquetier et de la Paume, 1767,

4 The pied, 1 pied = 12.79"

The scale of measurements used in France was 12 pouces to 1 pied

and 6 pieds to 1 toise. It will be realised that although it

might at first seem that the argument is over an unimportant

79" or %" difference in.‘the two scales, when the overall dimensions
of a building measuring either 102 pieds or 96 piedg are under
consideration, and a dimension is translated directly into English,
the resultant imperial measurement would be respectively 6'9" and
614" shorter than the French. The two dimensions given here as
examples are the internal lengths of, respectively, the dedans and
guarrée courts as illustreted in NMarshall, and refer to de Garsault's
illustrations provided here, pl.XX1IV, and converted in fig.lO. The
internal width of the dedans and quarrée court, according to de
Garsault, was 36 pieds which when converted is approximately 38'4".
It is the internal dimensions that are critical of course to the
measurement of the building, for they are determined by the rules

of the game. The overall size of any court will vary according to
the thickness of its walls, the materials used for the construction
causing slight further differences, and the placing of the adjoining
houses for those using it and those serving the patrons. The thick-
ness of the wall suggested by de Garsault was equivalent to 2'13"
and Chambers recorded the thickness of the James Street court at 18",
pls.XXI and XXII.

5 Plans of the Macon dedans tennis court, 1772, in the R.I.B.A. Litrary,

J4/21 (1-5), show further interesting comparisons. This court
was surveyed in order for Sir William Chambers {to build one
similar at Wilton for the Earl of Pembroke.

Internzl measurements, converted to imperial scale,

Length 107'9"; Breadth 35'6"; Wall thickness 2'3"; height to
ceiling 37'9"; lower wall height 17'1"; ceiling-ridge 211'9",
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Note over plan J4/21 (1), regarding the vault:

There must be arches for under air for pavement as in
plan X of the London court & these arches, should not
be hurried till the building is covered in.

C. Cibber, An Apology for the Life of Mr Colley Cibber,
ed. RoWo Lowe, vol.I, 1889, pp. 314-51).

Hotson, ODe Citl’ Pe 1230

For further discussion of the James Street tennis courts see,

David Clay Jerkins, 'The James Street Theatre at the 01d
Tennis Court', T.N., vol.XXIII, No. 4, 1969, pp. 143-150.

n. 5 in this article draws attention to a James Hooker and
Partner who were the rate payers for the James Street tennis
court in 1659. It may well be that this Hooker is the
associate of Horatio Moore I, in which case the 'pariner!
night have been Horatio lMoore I. I have also noted other
Hookers, Thomas (1631) and Mary (1646), engaged at the St.
James's Field Tennis Court.

C.S.P. Dom., 1625/1626, D«577.

P.R.0Q., Index 17344, 7 Car I, 12 Aug 1631l; the King leased to
Thos Hooker the tennis court and dwelling in St, James's Field
for 80 years in reversion. P.R.0., C9/4/21. (1646)

Survey of the tennis court, E. 317, Mdx 42, 1650.
Demolition of the court, P.R.O., C9/31/67, 31 Oct 1664.

David Clay Jenkins, ope Cit., Do 146 and plans p. 147.

G« Barlow, 'Gibbons's Tennis Court: Hollar v. Wilkinsont,

TeReIs, NeS., vol.8, No. 2, pp. 131~146, |93.

This is a good example of the ftranslation rather than the conversion
of data from de Garsault.

Mﬂrshall, ODe Cito, P 360

Transcription from Chambers' Drawing, R.I.B.A., J4/21, febe

The best proporticn for a tennis court 40' x 110! from wall
to wall within and the height should be 30' in the clear from
the floor to the ceiling, the court paved with Portland stone.
The ceiling boarded and coved on the side but not at the end.
The walls should be plastered with the best plaster of parls
and the joints of the brickwork must be left open about 3
deep to afford a bond for the plaster which would otherw1se
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be soon loosened by the force of the balls stricking against
it. The dwarf walls of the dedans, long gzllery and close
penthouse must be done in the same manner and all the walls
when the plaster is dry must be blacked., The side walls of
the court are only 16'9" in height and plate laid on them 9!
high and on %he plate stand upright pieces of timber 10' high
which support the roof on the sides. The whole length of the
court is divided into 10 openings before which is pleced nets
to keep the balls from falling out of the court. There are
little galleries running along the sides of the court without
2' wide for the convenience of drawing or undrawing these nets
and curtains which are placed behind them to keep out the sun.
The penthouses, or the dedans, long gallery, close penthouse
which run round the three sides of the court have their roof
sloping inwards and the height from the pavement to the summit
of the roof must be exactly 10'. If the court is properly
finished the ceiling and all the timbers must be painted red
the curtain green and the walls blacked. In some courts the
lines and figures marked on the pavement are either painted
or chalked but it will be best if they are in laid of marble
(black) not polished for when marked with chalk they must be
done every 3% or 4 games because it rubbs off and painting lasts
but a month almost in courts that are frequently used. A
gallery for spectators should be contrived which must have
wire work or nets before it to prevent the balls hitting the
company. An apartment for the persons taking care of the
court.

NeBs It will be well to have a recess at 3! the centre of
the court on the long gallery side for the man to stand in
that marks the play.

There is an additional note beneath the section elevation,

5t

The pavement of the court to be supported on small arches about
« « » wide and . . « high, which will keep it dry and better for
the play than if laid on the earth.

James's Pield Tennis Court, P.R.0., E 317 Mdx 42, 1650.

A survey of a certain house called the tennis court house with
the appurtanances situate at 5t James and neer adjoining to

the mansion house and in the parish of St martyns in the Fields
July 1650. _

All that tenement built with brick and covered with tyle consis-
ting of one Kitchen and one seller 10 steps in descent and over
the same one fair parlour wainscotted ana one Lodging Roome and
above stairs in the first story two fair Chambers and four
closetts there and in the second story two fair chambers and
over the same two garretts also one other range of buildings
adjoining on Pell Mell field consisting of one parlour one
washhouse and above stairs two fair chambers and over the same
two garretts Alsc one other house called the tennis court built
with brick and covered with tyle and paved with tyle well fitted
and jointed containing by and measurement 100 foot of assize in
length and 35 foot in breadth also one Teanto or walk lyeing on
the east side of the said Tennis court consisting of the length
aforesaid Also one garden helonging to the same inclosed round
with a strong brick wall of 20' high now in the occupation of
John Hooker gent and worth p.a. £48.
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When this property was finally demolished,

'The expense of filling up the cellars clearing the ground
and paving amounts to the sum of £325 1l4s 44!,

P.R.0., T1/331, Office of Works, 8 Nov 1748

13 colvin, HK.W., vol.V, p. 166.

Wren Soc., vol.IV, Hampton Court, Correspondence of the Office

of Works, 9 Jan 1699/1700, p. 69. This letter also refers to the
cost of repairs to the tennis court and its two houses at Hampton
Court. For contemporary costing of comparable repairs with those
at Lisle's Tennis Court, except the removal of all theatrical
equipment, the estimated cost of repairs at Hampton Court were
£525, cf. Reeves! £500 for Lisle's Tennis Court. In this letter
He Moore 1I is referred to as Captain Moore.

14 P.R.O., C10/237/65, Reeve Complaint.(%qm. b. STX
15 ipia,

16 P. Sawyer, The New Theatre in Lincoln's Inn Fields, 1979, pp. 10-11,

does not share this opinion, the material over which the differences
arise will be discussed infra p. 191, n. 23.

The debate arises from an interpretation of,

1. That Pinkethman and Rich, singly or jointly held the lease
of the theatre from 1706.

2« The advertisement in the Daily Courant, 7 Sept 1708,

The Playhouse in Little Lincoln's Inn Fields is

to be Let for a Tennis Court or for any other use,
(except a Playhouse). Enquire of Mr John Hall next
Door to the Sign of the Angel in Little Russell street.

3, That the exception cited in the above advertisement was
conditioned by the inhibition on the performing of plays
found in a document belonging to Vice Chamberlain Coke,

Vice Chamberlain Coke's Theatrical Papers, 1706-1715,
ed. J. Milhous & R.D. Hume, 1982, pp. 8-9.

and the related document,

4+ The Union Order of the Lord Chamberlain, 31 Dec 1707,9ﬂjnLcﬁAS$¢p2qq3cg
BJi., Add. Ms. 20, 726, f.26, published in an article,
Philip Clleson, 'Vanbrigh and Opera at the Queen's Theatre,
Haymarket'!, T.N., vol.XXVI, No. 3, 1972, pp. 95-6.
Ccké%lﬁy%mlppuﬁ-5o'
1 For discussion of Webb's relationship with Davenant and the designs
for both The Siege of Rhodes and Mustapha,

W.G. Keith, 'Johmn Webb and the Court Theatre of Charles II?,
The Architectural Review, vol.LVII, 1925, pp. 49=55.
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'Degigns for the First Movable Scenery on the Public Stage!,
The Burlingion Magazine, vol.XXX1, No. 173, ppe. 29-33, and
No. 174, ppe 85=98.

E. Boswell, The Restoration Court Stage (1660-1702), 1932,
Pp. 28-31.

18 Boswell, op. cit., plan ops. pe 140,

Ground plan in Westminster Great Hall, Florimene, pl.XXXII.

19 J.Re. Spring, 'Platforms and Pictorial Frames: A Conjectural
Reconstruction of the Duke of York's Theatre Dorset Garden,
1669-1709', T.N., vol.XXXI, No. 3, 1977, pp. 6-19.

20 WeG., Keith, 'John Webb and the Court Theatre of Charles II?',

The Architectural Review, vol.LVII, 1925, p. 49.

21 Jeo Orrell, '"Filipp Corsini and the Restoration Theatre!,

ToN., vOLXXXIV, Noe. 1, 1980, pe 7, for the translation of
B.I\{I., A.d.d. IVIS 27962’ Q fOl. 35.

22 P.R.0., C7/100/68, Witherings v. Davenant, Action of Waste.éﬂbp.pp“%-ﬁg)

25 E.A. Langhans, 'Conjectural Reconstructions of the Vere Street
and Lincoln's Inn Fields Theatres', Essays in Theatre, vol.I,
No. 1, pe 21, and plans pp. 19 and 20. Langhans suggests an
entrance on the west side of the court, but it has been noted
above that this western side of the theatre was probably the
property of No. 40, Portugal Row, and consequently the western
alley absorbed into that properiy, thus making an entrance on
that side impossible, certainly during the Betterton period of
LIF II if not during the first period of LIF I.

24 Orrell, op. cite, De 6.

2> Pepys, Diary, 2 Oct 1662, makes reference to the narrow passages
at the Theatre Royal Drury lane, which suggests that those at
LIF I were reasonably comfortable by comparison. Compare L'Hotel
de Bourgogne, devis et marchd; and le mémoire for the Marais,
Paris. The dimensions are converted to imperial, depth of box
from wall 6'9"; depth of box 4'6'; wall passage 2'3".

26

If such a box were divided internally it would produce a box that
would accommodate 8 persons to fulfil Davenant's commitment to the
King's Cowm pesny .



2T Comparative seat spacings, bench and void;

28

Re Leacroft, The Development of the English Playhouse, 1973, p. 84,
cites the seating in the Wren theatre project, pl.LXIX, as 2'0"
after the Wren Section, pl.XX1IX, for 'Phe Playhouse'!, which is
widely accepted as a design for the second Theatre Royal Drury Lane.
See also Re. Leacroft, 'Wren's Drury Lane', Architectural Review,
vol.CX, pp. 43-44. His reconstruciion is followed by E.A. Langhans,
'Wren's Restoration Playhouse', T.N., vol.XVIII, No. 3, 1964, ppe 91-
100, especially p. 94, Langhans' benches are 10" wide and approx.
115" apart.

Survey of London, vol.XXXV, p. 40 and p. 4%, adopts their findings.
See also further reconstruction by D. Mullin and B. Koenig,
'Christopher Wren's Theatre Royal', T.N., vol.XXI, No. 4, 1967,

pp. 180-187, for similar opinion.

For Covent Gaxrden,

survey of London, vol.XXXV, p. 87, interprets the Dumont, pl.XLIV
plan as showing the benches and void at 2'0", and this is agreed by
Leacroft, ope. cit., p. 84. But Saunders, A Treatise on Theatres,
1790, (Reprinted 1968), pp. 83-84, recorded that the Covent Garden
seats then were 1'9" for both seat and void, and further stipulated
that,

though a moderate-sized person cannot conveniently sit in

a less space than that of 1'10" from front to back, nor

comfortably in less than that of 20",

He adopted 2'0" for bench and void in his ideal theatre, p. 87.

136.

See also I,Donaldson, 'New Papers of Henry Holland and R.B., Sheridan!,

ToNe, vOl.XVI, No. 3, 1962, p. 92, for further comparative notes on
the seating in Drury Lane and Covent Garden.

R. Leacroft, op. cit., p. 110, for notes for Goodman's Fields Theatre
after notes by Capon, where the pit seating provided benches 1'0"
wide and a void of 1'6". The rear bench was 176", pl.XLV.

Additional notes describing the middle gallery, the 18d gallery.
Notes from Pepys, Dia

6 Feb 1667/8, because the house was full Pepys left his wife

and went up to the 18d box . . « the King was there, but I sat
mightily behind, and could see but little, and heazr not at all.

8 Dec 1668, supporting that the middle gallery was boxed similar
to that below in the Boxes, Pepys noted after a performance of
Boyle's Tryphon, 'got into a hole in the 184 place, above stairs,
where we could not hear well'.

16 April 1669, Pepys was again in the middle gallery but mentions
that after the play or at an interval, 'Then once again into the
pit to chat'.

From which I infer that this was by means of a staircase providing
ready access to and from the middle gallery to the pit.

Hotson, op. cite., p. 207, Articles of 5 Nov 1660 (3g), refers to
Davenant reserving a six seater box to Killigrew. Whether or not
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this was a box containing only six seats or a box in which

six seats amongst others were reserved, is difficult to prove.

If it were & small six seater box it may perhaps have been a
balcony box or a box at gallery level, although this does not
seem much of a privilege to extend to the King's Men from Drury
Lane. t it should also be noted that these articles were
drawn up poseibly before the construction was finally determined.

29 Reference to three galleries and particularly the ... upper gallery.

Davenant, A Playhouse to be Let, Aug. 1663,Prologue,
'Least malice in the Upper Gallery!'.
A. Behn, The Forced Marriage, 20 Sept 1670, Prologue,

'th'upper Box, pit and Galleries . . %

Shadwell, The Sullen Lovers, 2 Llar 1668, Act III, several
references to eighteen pence gallery and the upper gallery.
(The Complete Works of Thomas Shadwell, ed. M. Summers, 1927),

For general notes re. boxes and galleries see Langhans, T.N.,
vol.X, No. 4, 1956, p. 112-114.

50 Pepys, Diary, & Feb 1668.

51 Orrell, Ope Cites, De 6.

52 Pepys, Diary, 26 March 1667/8

55 ed. R.E, di Lorenzo, Three Burlesque Plays of Thomas buffet, 1972, p.29.

>4 Yavenant, VWorks, 1673, p. 383.

35

Edward Howard, The Women's Conquest, 1671.

36

Di Lorenzo, op. c¢it., pp. 7-8.

51 E.A. Langhans, 'Thesis', pp. 275-278, and examples from Stapylton's
The Slighted Maid,
Enter Aurora in a black veil below.

Boyle's Guzman, Act II, scene iv,
Francisco rises up with his wan on a sudden . . .

which is followed by the prompter's note,
When Francisco rises flashes of fire.

Langhans, Restoration Promptbooks, p. 45
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58 Langhans, Regioration Promptbocks, 1981, p. Tl.

Purther examples of the use of traps on the forestage of LIF II
are to be found in,

Granville's The Jew of Venice, 1701, The Preclogue, in which

the ghosts of Shakespeare and Dryden arise, crowned with laurel.
And in the prologue o Denis's Iphigenia, 1699, the Genius of
England rises and ginks.

For clarification of technicalities relstec to traps and other
machines see graphics in,

Leacroft, op. cit., for traps, figs.l31-135; for the thunder run,
fig.79; for the developed upper and lower groove, fig.ll2. See
also R, Southern, The Georgian Playhouse, 1948, pls.l, 30 and 31,
for respectively, grooves, traps and thunder run, and Changeable
Scenery, pls.3%6-41 and 50-52.

39

Boyle's Guzman, Act I, Act III, scene iii, and IV, scene vii, action
takes place 'Under the Belcony!'.

Tuke's The Adventures of Five Hours, ed. van Thal, n.d., p. 52.

Davenant's Vorks, 167%, see A Pleyhouse to Let, p. 78; Love and
Honour, p. 265-6; The Man's the laster, p. 237; The Cruel Brother,
p. 483, Act V, scene i, for musicians above, and The Rivals,

Celania and Leucippe enter ‘as at a ¥indow', Leucippe says,
"This window, Madam, looks into the taras where they are
walking, you may cover-hear all this discourse (the Curtain
being clos'd) Without discovery.

Caryli's Sir Salomon, 1671, Act II, and Act III, have scenes employing
the door and the balcony above as well as tumbling dowm stairs from
the balcony to the front door to contrive comic effect.

Shadwell, The Royal Shepherdess, 1669, Act V.

The King watches the execution from above.,

40 E.A. Langhans, 'Notes on the Reconsiruction of the Lincoln's Inn
Fields Theatre', T.N., vol.X, No. 4, 1956, p. 113,

41 T.A. Langhans, 'Conjectural Reconstructions of the Vere Street and
Lincoln's Inn Fields Theatres', Essays in Theatre, vol.l, No. 1,
1982’ Pp. 21-22-

42 Pepys, Diary, 12 Feb 1667.

45 Davenant, Works, 1673, The Man's the Master, Epilogue, pp. 382-3.

44 Hamilton Bell, 'Contributions to the History of the English Playhouse!,
The Architectural Review, vol.XXXIII, 1913, pp. 359-368,
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45 R.W. Lowe, The Life of Betterton, 1891, pp. 27-28, and pp. 49-52.

46 511, op. cite, ppe 367-8e

4t Richard Leacroft, 'Wren's Drury Lane', The Architectural Review,
VOIOCX, 1951, pp. 43"'6.

E.A., Langhans, 'Wren's Restoration Playhouse', T.N., vol.XVIII,
1964, pp. 91-100.

D. Mullin and B. Koenig, 'Christopher Wren's Theatre Royal', T.N.,
VOl. XXI’ 1967’ pp' 180-70

Peter Holland, The Ommament of Action, 1979, pp. 28-3l.

GeCeD. Odell, gShakespeare from Betterton to Irving, vol.I, 1921,
pp. 102-106, came to no firm conclusion but seemed to sway towards
accepting two doors not four on the apron stage.

A. Nicoll, A History of English Drama, 1660-1900, vol.I, 1955,
pp. 51=54.

48 tivber, ed. Lowe, op. Cite, volaII, pp. 84=5.

49 Jomn Lacy, The 0ld Troop, (1663, Vere St.), has stage direction,

Enter twelve Troopers at six doors; +two at a door.

The first production of this play was at Vere Street, c.l663,
ptd. 1672. It was later performed by the King's Men at LIF I.
The stage directions found here cculd therefore apply to Vere
Street, Bridge Street or Lincoln's Inn Fields I. Consequently
ag evidence it is poor material.

Nicoll, op. cite., pe 52, noted a similar stage direction in J.
Howard's, 1672, All Mistaken, Act II.

50 el Langhans, 'Staging Practices in the Restoration Theatres

1660-16821, Ph.D. Thesis, Yale University, U.S.A. 1955, p. 269.

51 5 4. langhans, Restoration Prompbbooks, 1981, ps 40.

52 B.A. Langhans, 'Thesis', p. 113.

23 E.A. Langhans, Restoration Promptbooks, 1981, p. 40.

54

E. Scanlan, 'Reconstruction of the Duke's Playhouse in Lincoln's
Inn Fields, 1661-1671', T.N., vol.X, No. 2, 1956, p. 48-~50.

E.i. Langhans! reply to the above article, 'Notes on the Reconstruction
of the Lincoln's Inn Fields Theatre'!', T.N., vol.X, No. 4, 1956, Dpe
112-114.
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R.D, Hume, 'The Dorset Garden Theatre: A Review of Facts and
Problems', T.N., vol.XXXIII, 1979, pp. 5-6.

JeRe Spring, 'Platforms and Picture Frames: A Conjectural
Reconstruction of the Duke of York's Theatre, Dorset Garden,
1669-1709'y T.N., vol.XXXI, 1977, pp. 6-19.

E+A. Langhans, Restoration Promptbooks, L981, p. 40. In a still
more recently published article he reverts to an acceptance of
the four doors at LIF I,

'Conjectural Reconstructions of the Vere Street and Lincoln's
Inn Fields Theatres!', Essays in Theatre, vol.I, No. 1, 1982,
PP, 18-23,

E.A. Langhans, Restoration Promptbooks, 1981, p. 80,

P. Holland, op. cite, p. 3l

Anon., The Female Rebellion, neds, {published in a limited
edition, Glasgow, 1872}, from MS, Glasgow University Library,
Hunterian Collection, T.5+21.

A. Wicoll, A History of Znglish Drama 1660-1900, vol.I, 1955,
p. 394.

Nicoll classified The Femals Rebellion as a tragi-comedy and
noted the MS in the Bodleian, Tanner 466, and that in the
Hunterian Ccollection. Whilst the play is certainly a tragi-
comedy it also contains many contemporary political allusions
that could quite as easily place it in Nicoll'!s political

play category. Nicoll also refers to articles in the T.L.S.,

8 Nov 1934, Alfred Harbage whc is responsible for the attrie
bution to Burkhead, and another, 4 Oct 1934, by B.M. Wagner.
tHarbage suggests that the author is Burkhead, author of Cola's
Fury's The entry for this play, The Tragedy of Cola's Fury, or
Lirenda's Misery, 1645 (Kilkenny), Nicoll classified as a
political play. There is nothing to prohibit an author writing
plays at an interval of 33 years, (I would suggest 40 years)
apart, but this fact does raise doubts regarding this attribution.

Epilogue, The Female Rebellion,

Since the same fate doth stage and state befall,
That who dislike White fryars hate Whitehall;
Wid'ning with Calumnys this double breach,

Drawn by the nose thro! which their brethermn preach.
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The practical function that is never referred to in the discussion
of this problem with 'apron doors!' and entrances is that concerning
entrances and exits that are made by actors in 'chairs' which would
affect both the height and width of the doors, as well as the off-
stage space.

The Burney Sketch, pl.LXIII, B.M,, Burney Collection of Theatrical
Portraits, vol.IX, No. 101, p. 65. See below in part III, the
Reconstruction of the Queen's Theatre, for further digcussion of
this drawing.

W. Hogarth, 'The Beggar'!s Opera', pls. XXXIX and XL.

Larly stage directions and observations on the curtain, 8 Mar 1664
Pepys noted at a performance of Heraclius,

*the drawing up of the Curtaine'.

References in stage directions occur in Davenant's,The Siege of Rhodes;
Boyle's, Henry V; Caryl's The English Princess; Dryden's,Sir Martin
Mar-All; Settle's,Cambyses; Behn's, The Forced Marriage and The
Amorous Prince.

For LIF II, P. Holiand, op. cite, po 5, cuotes the Earl of Ailesbury's
note, June 1695,

'it being before five « « « I discoursed with Mr Bettertin
(sic) wuntil the curtain was drawn up'. Ilemoirs, 1890,
vol.I, p. 356.

Odell, op. cit., pp. 128-139, discusses the use of the curtain during
the course of the action of the plays produced during this period,
€8, Boyle's Henry V, and Act II, Behn's The Forced Marriage.

Langhans 'Thesis', ppe. 270-1, covers the same ground noting Boyle's
Henry V as an example of an instance when the curtain was used not
only at the beginning and end of a play but also during the action,
CeZey sStage directions call for the curtain to rise in Act IV, to
fall in the midale of Act V after which it is drawn up again.

For lights over the forestage consider Pepys' remarks regarding
light in his eyes when sitting in boxes close to the stage and the
plan drawn by Sir James Thornhill, 'Diary!', p. 61, which is reproduced,

G. Barlow, 'The Hotel de Bourgogne iccording to Sir James
Thornhill', T.R.I., N.3., vol.l, No. 2, 1976, pl. II.

Webb's petition for the place of Surveyor-General.
C.S.P. Dome, 1660~1661, Charies II, vol.V, 74, 74.1l, (pe76).
A Breife of Mr Webb's case (June? 1660)
also see,
C.S.P, Dome, 1668-1669, Charles II, 251, 120. (p.132).
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This is the minimum width I consider possible, but I would prefer
an opening of at least 4'6" which eould be provided equally well.

R. Southern, Changeable Scenery, 1952, pp. 177-182 ff.

B.A. Langhans, '"Thesis', p. 290. Langhans cites the 'cut scene' in
Digby's Elvira as fanciful, but it seems to me that this is fairly
straightforward if it is considersd as a 'relieve'! scene. On pp.
29%-294, he argues the case for 'Drops' in the upstage area backing
the shutters. I consider that if it is possible to furnish the
shutter/relieve scene with drops it would not be unreasonable to
apply the same technique further down stage. This also obviates

the problem arising from large flats that are withdrawn intc the
wings. Langhans further argued, p. 295, for the possibility of
shutters having the appearance of a 'cut cloth' both down stage and
up-stage of the shutter, but a shutter in either position must have

a centre or on-stage edge to the style; again I would claim such
settings to be either cut cloths or where necessary framed out cloths.
The exanple of such a setting according to Langhans is that of the
columns in Act IV Elvira. There is also the additional problem found
in Stapylton's The Step Mother, Act III, (Nov. 1663) where it seems
obvious to me that one is dealing with a framed ocut practical Hawthorn
Tree which would have been a seti pilece of scenery.

In conclusion Langhans considered the 'flat scene' tentatively
correcting Southern's definition, p. 319, 'It would make good sense
to call a flat scene one which had no cuts in it, but it would also,
be reasonable to apply the term 'flat scene'! to a shallow scene. I
strongly suspect that Mr Southern's conjecture is right, but without
further evidence the matter cannot be definitely settled'.

It is worth noting that the inventory studied by R. Southern,
Changeable Scenery, ppe 193-203, the Covent Garden Inventory, 1743,
obviously many years later but nevertheless useful, that there were
only two cloths mentioned and yet there were probably several amongst
the forty-three items termed 'back flats!, as well as plain flats.
Covent Garden had an upper and lower fly floor, which I cannot believe
were constructed for the adjustment of borders and the flying in of
heavenly bodies alone, nor that the settings were of the traditional
divided and framed out shutter variety as described by Southern.

J'R. Spl‘ing, Opo Cltl ] Ppo 13-150
P. Holland., Op. Cit., PP 51-56-

G. Barlow, 'Sir James Thornhill and the Theatre Koyal, Drury Lane, 1705',
The Eighteenth-Century English Stage, 1972, pp. 186-188,

G. Barlow, 'The Hotel de Bourgogne according to Sir James Thornhill!
ToR.Io’ N.S., VOl.I, No. 2, 1976, Pe 96.

ibid., pl.VII, showing p.64 from Thornhill's 'Diary', 1717, V. & A.
Museum Library.
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Cloths in the Drotitningholm Court Theatre are still flovm in the
ori§inal manner of the 18th century. They are flown in amiout

at 5 of their total dreop height. This technique is still practised
widely in many theatres that have limited flying space.

EeA. Langhans, 'Notes on the Reconstruction of the Lincoln's Inn
"ields Theatre', T.N., vol.X, No. 4, 1956, p. 11l4.

Di Lorenzo, op. cit., ppe 29-33; for the King's Co. at LIF I, see
also iuffet's Mock Tempest, Act I, scene ii and Act V, scene iji;
di Lorenzo, pp. 72, 108 and 110, Settle's Cambyses also required
cloud and flying machinery.

E.A. Langhans, 'Thesis', p. 280, notes that the text may not record,
for Love's Kingdom, actual practical staging but that the text was
‘corrected's This I believe refers most likely to the lines rather
than the action. Where one finds reference to teclmical matters,
such as the ropes being concealed, the practicaliiies of a stage
production were indicated. Flecknoe's Love's Kingdom, 1670, p. 2l.

B.A. Langhans, Restoration Promptbooks, 1981, pp. 70=~T71l.

The Renaissance Stage, Documents of Serlio, Sabbattini, and

Furttenbach, ed. B. Hewitt, 1958.

F.C. Motta, Trattato Sopra la Struttura De' Teatri E Scene, {1676),
Introduction E.A. Craig, 1972, p. XxXX.

Odell, op. citey pp. 139~152.

Summers, The Restoration Stage, pp. 194-201.

Boswell, op. citey p. 43, pps 90-98 and 159-163.

G.M. Bergman, Lighting in the Theatre, 1977, pp. 44-169.

P, Penzel, Theatre Lighting Before Zlectricity, 1978, pp. 3=25.

Hotson, op. citey no2, pe 308, or p. 207, Javenant's Articles, 5 Nov
1660, Article 3c, Davenant is to appoint three receivers or treasurers.
Two or three of the Company are to act as a control.

Davenant, Vorks, 1673, p. 245



144.

Lincoln!'s Inn Fields 111

The Site, Part IT: 1705 - 1848




The Site: Part 11

1705 -~ 1848

Several documents record events surrounding the building of the
New Theatre in Lincoln's Inn Fields. One hags to use them with some
care for they are only obliguely useful because little in them relates
specifically to either the site or the actual building of the theatre.
However there is considerable evidence surviving from that period
during which the theatre functioned as a warehouse, of both a legal
anc graphic nature, of which the architectural survey carried out by
Sir Charles Barry in 1848 is of the greatest value. The early and
late information will now be brought together and examined in order to
establish first, that the site of the warehouse in 1848 was essentially
that on which the third theatre had been built) and secondly, the
extent to which the warehouse retained vestiges of the former theatre.
Having cleared this ground the reconstruction of LIF III will be des-
cribed. The period under immediate consideration is that between the

last performance on 20 October 1705 of The Old Troop, and the firsit

night, 18 December 1714, of the New Theatre which opened with The

Recruiting Officer.l

Betterton's company left the temnis court theatre on 30 April 1705

for the Queen's Theatre in the Haymarket. I+t seems that their intention

at that time was never to return. Unfortunately for the actors the
Queen's Theatre was not all that was expected; +this fact is elaborated
upon elsewhere in this study.2 Consequently from the end of August,
26 August to 20 October 1705, they returned to their old theatre giving
only occasional performances. After that date neither they nor any

other company performed in the old theatre.

145.
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Acting swiftly upon the exodus of the Betterton company the moiety
holders, Anne Reeve, Horatio Moore II, and Thomas Reeve entered into
negotiations with William Penkethman for, on 5 December 1705, he was
granted a lease of the theatre. The term was not stated in the 1753
indenture3 from which this information comes but, referring to the
earlier 1705 documents, states that it was 'for a term of years therein
mentioned and not yet expired and which said premises are now in the
tenure of or occupation of John Rich BEsg as tenant and assignee'.s John
Rich's lease was for thirty-nine and a half years as from 24 June 1714,
and had been originally taken by his father Christopher Rich. Whether
or not the term stated in the 1714 lease was the residue of the original
lease taken up in 1705, or a completely new arrangement is not clear.
However Penkethman, together with Christopher Rich, negotiated a lease
of the 0ld theatre in December 1705. That Christopher Rich does not
appear by name in the 1753 recital of the 1705 document may or may not
be an omission for the 1705 lease is not to be found. But his involve-
ment is clear from the rate books.4 The rate books reveal that though
William Penkethman was the named lessee and paid his dues in 1706, there
is a blank for 1707, and it was Christopher Rich who paid them in 1708.
Penkethman's name reappears for 1709 and 1710 but thereafter, until his
death in 1714, the rates were paid by Christopher Rich. Whatever the
term of the 1705 lease it seems from this evidence that William
Penkethman and Christopher Rich were the joint lessees from December
1705 until midsummer 1714.

Pogsibly, in the beginning, under cover of Penkethman and regardless
of any interest in mounting a company in the theatre, Rich was making

certain that he held the monopoly of playing places in order tc compete
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with Vanbrugh. Perhaps he thought that the Queen's actors would have

to return to the Lincoln's Inn Fields theatre whether they liked it or
not. 1t will be remembered that it was he who held the 0ld Dorset Garden
Theatre as well as the Davenant patent. Under that licence he was able
to raise not only a new company but also a new theatre after he had
finally broken with the Drury Lane company in 1709.5 It was an extra-
ordinary mixbture of craft and astute entrepreneurship, which proved a
valuable insurance policy for himself and his family. Even Colley Cibber
found these actions of Christopher Rich fairly opaque.6 It is unlikely
that Penkethman intended to play in London for he had no licence, later
the Union Order would have inhibited him, and when he did manage a
company of his own, it played outside central London, at Greenwich and
Richmond, and there is no evidence of his partnership on a business
footing with Christopher Rich other than what has been found here,

At the same time as the negotiations were going forward with regard
to the finding of a new lessee Horatio Moore Il was busy selling his
moiety in the property. Having settled with Penkethman, on the following
day, 6 December 1705, he sold his interest in the property to Thomas
Hiccocks for £1725. The Moores thereby withdrew from the venture created
by Horatio Moore I, having sold the house in Portugal Row in 1692 for
£850, and now the playhouse for £1725; clearly Horatio Moore II had
been well advised to defend himself against the practices of his grand-
mother and stepfather, although he did not live long to enjoy the fruits
of his labours. He died in 1708.7 It is from an indenture of 17768
that this information regarding the sale comes, and theit document does
not record any other specific details concerning the premises in 1705,
merely stating that the sale was of 'his [Moore's] moiety of the
messuages therein described'. How long Hiccocks held the moiety is

uncertain,
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This sale by Moore II of a moiety in the property would suggest
that he was allowed to over-ride the ruling of the Court after the
1689 dispute9 which stipulated that the moieties would be held by Anne
Reeve, and only on her death were they to pass to the two half brothers.
However, between 1705 and 1714 Hiccocks sold his moiety to one Deodatus
Champion. This is deduced from the indenture of {he covenant between
Christopher Rich, Rupert Clarke and the subscribers to the New Theatre.lO
In that covenant there is an extensive recital of an indenture of the
lease drawn up between Rich and Clarke on the one part, and on the other,
Anne Reeve, Deodatus Champion and Thomas Reeve. The conclusion drawn
from this document is that while Anne Reeve still nominally held the two
moieties, Horatio Moore II's interest was held by Champion. The date of
Anne Reeve's death has not been ascertained but Thomas Reeve inherited
his moiety and held it down to his death in 1737. Champion maintained
his interest at least down to 1725 for the Rich accountsll show that a
'Mr Champion' was in receipt of payments from the playhouse. In these
accounts Champion is linked with one William VWelchman. In 1773 a John
Welchman was in possession of half the Moore II moiety.12 Perhaps
W. %elchman and Champion bought the Hiccocks meiety or Champion sold
half his interest to Welchman at an unknown date, but it is surprising
that it was not referred to in the 1776 indenture.

Before proceeding t0 the matter of clarifying the site of this

13

theatre attention is drawn to the schedule showing the Moore and Reeve

moieties in reversion. This schedule details the several owners of the
gite down to 178314 when the two shares came together finally in the

nhands of Joshua Scrope alias Peart. After some years in the ownership

15

of Josiah Spode™ and the Copeland family the whole property was purchased

by the present owners, the Royal College of Surgeons of England, in 1848.16
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It is principally from the documents in the keeping of the College
recording these transactions that the information comes revealing the
changing form of the playhouse.

Returning now to the documentary evidence of 1714, the indenture
of 3 September 1714 records the progress of the Christopher Rich and
Rupert Clarke partnership in setting up the financial structure of the
new theatre company. On 31 August 1714, this document17 states, Rich
and Clarke took the thirty-nine and a halfl year lease, in trust for the

shareholders therein named, of

A1l that great and lately new erected lMessuage Tenement
Theatre or Playhouse upon the ground and the roame of
all that great messuage or Playhouse and building which
before such new erection was commonly called Lisle's
Tennis Court or the Theatre or Playhouse in Little
Lincoln's Inn Fields and the same is intended hereaftexr
to be called the New Theatre or British Theatre Together
with all Erections and Buildings thereupon and on the
North side thereof and upon any part or parcell thereof
all which premises are situate lying and being or near
Little Lincoln's Inn Fields,

Together with the new theatre are also mentioned the passageway to
the north of the theatre linking it with Portugal Row, the vaults, rooms,
yards, pumps and dressing rooms. Unfortunately one can deduce little from
this description; only make provision for the various features in the
reconstruction. Of greater interest is the fact that at this stage in
the proceedings Rich had already built his theatre, and some fourteen
weeks before its opening was finalising arrangements which must have taken
him several months, if not years, to prepare. First, he made an agreement
with the owners, the Reeves and either Hiccocks or Champion, to pull down
the old theatre and build anew; of these deliberations nothing has been
found. One may take Cibberts word for it that Rich did build the theatre
'at his own expense‘,l8 for probably until the September 1714 covenant was

signed and sealed his shareholders did not pay anything into the funds,
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and, interestingly enough, the moiety holders showed no interest in
the Company, apart from their agreed annual rent of £100. Additionally
it will be noted that at the time of the indenture not all the thirty-
six shares had been sold., The building of the theatre was prcbably
therefore a private commercial undertaking on the part of Rich alone.
As the cost of the building and the setting up of the company is not
known it is impossible to say whether or not Rich made any money from
the sale of the shares in his theatre. Some guidance as to the likely
funding of the construction of the new theatre might be suggested by
reference to various transactions undertaken by Chrigtopher Rich in the
years 1710-1714. There is absclutely no way of claiming categorically
thet the money raised in these instances was used upon the theatre, but
since Rich would have needed money during these years it is of interest
to know the manner in which he raised certain capital sums.

Following his exit from the Theatre Royal Drury Lane in 1709 Rich
started to realise money on certain assets. On 1 March 1710 Christopher
Rich mortgaged to Rupert Clarke for £250 the eight acres of pasture land

19

known as Gravel Pit Field for a variable term. Three years later,

23 April 1713, Clarke sold this same property to a John letcalf for £4OO.2O
On the same day, 23 April, Rich and Clarke sold to the same Metcalfl

another of the properties they Jjointly held, a house in Gray's Inn Lane.21
This sale brought them jointly £300. On 6 January 1712 Rich mortgaged to
Rupert Clarke two shares 'in the Theatre (part of thirty-six)' in con-
sideration of £250 for the term of fourteen years.22 At this date I am
considering these shares as in Drury Lane and not the New Theatre. From
these sales he gained, from the Gravel Pit Field property probably £350,
the Gray's Inn house £150, and £250 from the shares; over the three years

he needed and raised about £750.
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This is the only hard evidence of the activities of Christopher
Rich from the taking of the lease in 1705 down to his death on
4 November 1714. There were also notices in the press and comments
in autobiographies regarding his enterprise, all of which can be pressed
into service, but they too should be treated with some care for these
forms are ideal vehicles for spreading rumour and opinion.23
When Christopher Rich died the theatre was not complete for soon
after his death, and before the theatre opened, alterations were put in
hanc. The sole remaining document recording any information directly
concerned with the erection of the new theatre is the agreement,
29 November 1714, between Henry Tasburgh and John Rich and his brother

Christopher llosyer Rich.24

This agreement was confirming that Tasburgh
woulc convey a strip of land 3'7" x 24' or 25' to the Riches for the

better completing of the New Theatre lately erected by the late Christopher
Rich. The vestiges of this encroachment into the back yard of 39 Portugal
Row are, it is claimed, still apparent on both the 1834 detail of that
corner of the warehouse by Hardwick, pl.X, and the later Barry plan of

the whole Copeland property in 1848, pl.XIa. This extension to the

25 It will be seen that

northern side of the theatre is shown in fig.1l8.
it rests on the ground that had previously been occupied by the westerly
house attached fto the tennis court. A detail plan of this part of the
site is given in fig.19.26 That the building had gone forward up to
three weeks before its opening, when suddenly an extension had to be
built, does reflect rather badly on the planmning and designing of the
theatre, for this new construction appears to have been to provide a
staircase linking the ground and first floor. I{ is probable that the

redesign in this area had been under consideration for some time before

the date of the agreement, but on the other hand, as Rich died on 4 November
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it might have been an alteration put into effect entirely on the
decision of the two brothers. Whatever the reason, it does seem late

in the day for modifications that relied upon the purchase of additional
land; land that must only a few years earlier have been sold to
Tasburgh. This purchzase was made for forty guineas in gold and certain
conditions to which reference will be made when the actual structure and
its interior are considered.

That the Tasburgh-Rich agreement is the only indication that any
new ground had to be purchased for the building of the new theatre is
perhaps difficult to accept. But it will be recalled that attention has
been drawn above to the sale of the land which had held the westerly
house adjoining the theatre to the north and sold to Tasburgh at some
unspecified date, for in the agreement Tasburgh affirms his right to
convey this ground, declaring it free of all encumbrances, and parti=-
cularly of the annual rent charge of £8. 10. Os payable out of his house
to Sir Robert Guldeford, Bte., his neighbour and brother-in-law. At the
same time it was noted that Sir Robert had sold to the moiety holders,
again at an unknown date, the plot 14' by approximately 16, that lay
to the south of his garden and which had previously been encroached upon
by Davenant. This tidying up must have been conducted by Reeve and
Hiccocks, or Reeve and Champion, before Rich began work or, at the very
least, with his advice. But with regard to any other exiensions to the
original site there is no evidence, and it does not seem that this is
due to any loss of documentary evidence for, as all the surrounding
property now resides with the Royal College of Surgeons, one is fortunate
in having all the title deeds together and none of the deeds of these
formerly independent properties mention any such loss during the period

under discussion. Indeed, as the plans and figures bear witness, the
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plots to the west, north and east of the theatre remained virtually
unaltered from 1705 down to 1834 when the College began its gradual
absorption of the site by purchasing No. 40 Portugal Row,(figOZOL

This patch of ground from Tasburgh was therefore the only piece
of land in the whole site that the Riches leased independently, and
that only for the term of thirty-nine and a half years from midsummer
1714, or as long as the theatre functioned as a theatre, but with the
possibility of an extension of the term should the building remain a
theatre beyond that date, i.e., midsummer 1753, As has been discussed
above that situation did not arise.

When Christopher Rich died he left to his son John three-fourths
of his interest in the Davenant Patent and the 'profit cloathes scenes
etc. arising therefrom'; to his other son Christopher Mosyer he left
the remaining fourth part of the same. The residue, real and personal,

27

wasg divided between the two, This presumably included his shareholding
in the company. The lease of the playhouse was the only other item in
their possession for it was noted that John Rich, in the indenture of
1753 above, was tenant and assignee, but the lease was of course held in
trust for the shareholders and not solely his.

There are sgseveral documents that explain the financing of the New
Theatre company and provide the names of the shareholders involved in
the project. For a consideration of this aspect of the theatrefs
management reference should be made to Sawyer'528 examination of these
documents for they do not reveal any information directly concerned with
the building or structural details which are the subject of this studye.
It is observed in passing that not all shares in the theatre were taken

up at the time of the death of Christopher Rich or at the opening of the

theatre.
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Fig.20 therefore shows the site on which the new theatre was
built. Fige2l shows the theatre site in isclation. Both figures show
the plot in pink. Familiar features will be recognised; to the south
Portugal Street, with what appears to be a three foot encroachment upon
the pavement; +this feature is apparent in msps and later drawing529 and
persists in the Barry plans of 1848, pl.XIz; 1o the west, the stable of
No. 40 Portugal Row; to the north, part of the garden or yard of No. 40
Portugal Row and the extension into the yard of No. 3% which has been
discussed above. Here the second dotted line represents the extent of
the projection of the first floor over the ground level; and moving
eastwards, there is the passage leading to Portugal Row; the reduced
plot of Noe. 38; the plots of Nos. 37 and 36 remaining the same as
previously represented, fig.9; on the east there was the whole length
of No. 36 Portugal Row extending to Portugal Street. The most vital
point conveyed by these drawings is that Rich built his theatre on almost
precisely the same plot as had been employed by Moore I and James Hooker
in 1656 for their tennis court and adjoining houses, that is, Rich was
working within the confines of the original plot of 73'0" x 130'0" which
had suffered contractions on three sides. The significant growth areas
as far as the theatre was concerned were first, in the east where Rich
built over what had been, I conjectured, a 5'0" passage way running along
that side of the %tennis courtj and secondly, on the south, 3'0" along the
length of the new building over the previous pavement.

The more precise dimensions of the Rich site, LIF III, are as follows,

and they are also shown in fig.211

A1l along Portugal Street west to east, 112!'6"; the eastern
wall, 70'0"; along the northern boundary abutting 36, 37 & 38
Portugal Row, 72'0"; turning south 14'0" to the 2'3" projec-
ting extension then west 25'0" along the extension to 15'Q"
of the main building; and finally, 48'0" along the western
wall.
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1745-1848

In this form the site remained until Spode in 180230 came into
full possession of both the warehouse site and No. 37 Portugal Row,
when he took steps to weld together the two buildings on those sites
by simply constructing a bridge between them at first floor level. It
was in this state when Barry drew up his plans in 1848. Prior to this
event there are several interesting plans of the warehouse which, though
they are not all drawn with the same accuracy, afford a picture of
the changes wrought upon the basic structure and the interior of the now
old playhouse. These drawings show neither acguisition nor considerable
sale of land, thus verifyin. that the site of 1714 remained virtually
unaltered dowm to 1848, (fige20),

The three drawings are plans that come from the following sourcess
first, a plan drawn in the indenture of 25 June 179431 leasing a part of
the warehouse to Josiah Spode, fige.22a. The second drawing is a rather
scrappy affair sketching the plan of the whole warehouse as it stood in
1806 and then entirely in the hands of Spode, pl.XXXIV. This sketch
plan was made by the surveyor acting for the Sun Fire Office when he
used an elastic tape measure. The third drawing is that by Hardwick in
1832 when contriving an extension to the Royal College of Surgeons which
would skirt the north-western corner of the warehouse, pl.X.

The partial plan of the warehouse ss it stood in 1794 and as des-
cribed in the lease drawn up between Joshua Scrope alias Peart and Spode
is shown in fige22a. The dimensions which are added to the plan are
drawn from the description in the indenture. The surrounding properties
have been drawn in fige.22b, so that a picture of the whole area may be

realised and comparisons made when placing it beside previous and sub=-

sequent drawings. Fig.22b shows the resultant division in the property
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whilst making clear the relationship between the warehouse and No. 37
Portugal Row, a connection that was to become firmer in future years
when Josiah Spode owned both properties. Wiih regard to the westerly
part of the old theatre it is clear in this drawing that no change had
been suffered in the overall size of the property although there may

have been alterations to the structure. The dimensions given on the

plan and detailed in the deed do correspond fairly accurately with those
on Barry's 1848 plan. The only other point that emerges here and which
will be discussed more fully later is that it was then possible to divide
the building internally on its eastern side in such a way as to make a
tidy partition between the property of Scrope and that leased to Spode.
Fig.2% shows the area of the warehouse leased to Spode in the colour grey.
It will be noted that Scrope retained an area of about 48'0" x 21'6".52
Perhaps 1t should be observed that among several conditions to which
Spode bound himself in this lease there was the article that he should

not undertake any structural alterations to the building.

The Passageway

It will be noted that the pussageway that had previously run north-
ward from the playhouse to Portugal Row does not appear on this plan,
fige23. The deeds are not particularly helpful in this matter. One can
safely say that the passage was still in existence in 1753 when the lease
of the theatre was still with John Rich and the building, according to
the attested copy of the indenture recording the sale of the 'Reeve!

35

moiety by James lMead to Eamund Browme, on 12 October 1753, was described
as 'the said great messuage or playhouse . . . with the entry way or
pagsage from Great Lincoln's Inn Fields to the said messuage or playhouse!,

Twenty years later, 23 and 24 June 1783,34 there was effected the amalga~-

mation of the itwo moieties by Joshua Peart, later Scrope, and the
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indenture confirming this act recites the descriptions found in earlier
documents including the reference to the northerly passage, but the

words concerning this passage were scratched out. From 1789 there is
another deed35 that recites the familiar description of the playhouse,
now warehouse, and thzat omitted any note of the passage. But in February
1802, when Josiah Spode purchased the warehouse eantire, the deed states
that this was 'together with the ground heretofore used as an entry way
or passage from Great Lincoln's Inn Fields tc the said messuage or play-

36

house but now built upon'. Again in 1848 one finds the same description

when Copeland, successor to Spode, sold the property %o the Royal College
of Burgeons, including the words 'but now built upon'.37

In a separate bundle of deeds related to No. 38 Portugal Row held
by the Royal College of Surgeons there is a deed of conveyance dated
185738 but in the description of the property no mention is to be found
relating to this strip of land reserved %o the owner of No. 38 since the
days of Horatio licore I and Emline. Additionally there is no suspicion
of this passage in Barry's drawings of the whole site in 1848, neither
does it appear in the 1794 document and plan discussed above, nor in the
Sun Fire Office plan, but in this last instance this is hardly surprising.
Barry's plan of the properties to the north of the warehouse shows in
detail the state of No. 37 Portugal Row and Nos. 38 and 39 are clearly
divided by one brick wall giving each house a backyard 24' wide. The
passage way of 3t'3" had disappeared.

Taking this evidence into account I suggest that the passage way
that lay within the limits of No. 38 Porbtugal How was absorbed into that
property soon after the playhouse ceased to operate as such. The 178%

deed in which the deletion was made recognised this fact. Where in

subsequent deeds reference is found to the passage way there are two
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solutions; first, there is idle repetition of earlier deeds by scribes
who recorded ancient history rather than the current state of affairs,
or secondly, it is possible that reference is being made to that specific
part of the site that had previously been used as the entrance to the
playhouse, i.es, the 1714 equivalent of the original 4' that lay between
the tennis court and the rear wall of Wo. 38 Portugal Row. Certainly
where one finds oufcrops to the north of the warehouse in the 1794 plan
and again in the Sun Fire O0ffice plan, but absent from Barry's plan
because it is at first floor level, in the place that once would have
been the entrance from the passage into the theatre there are buildings
that perform various functions including that of we.cs. In conclusion T
suggest that the passageway through No. 38 was reclaimed by the owners

of that property very soon after 1753,

The liorth Side of the Jite

Turning attention to particular aspects of the Sun Fire Office plan
Pl XXXIV, one finds roughly indicated the area to the north of the ware-
house as it was in 1806. The yard and w.c®. on the north-west corner
are shown to be upon the earlier entrance place from Portugal Row and the
enclogsing line to the east of these outhouses is inconclusively finished
off. In the same manner is indicated the link with No. 37 Portugal Row
which had been built by Scrope on the ground level and noted as a 'covered
way's This new passage between the warehouse and Portugal Row is seen to
extend as far as the rear yard wall of No. 37 and one presumes that this
was later superseded by Spode's more elaborate bridge to be seen in the
Barry drawings of 1848. The Sun Fire Office plan in this area is not to
scale which is the main fault with the whole drawing if it were to be
relied on as the principal source of information. The consequent problems

that arise from this fact will be more obvious when examining the internal
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structure of the building. One serious omission is that of the dressing-
room house 1o the east of the covered way. One finds allusions to this
area in all the deeds before the date of this insurance survey and it is
difficult to believe that they were contained within the scope of the
building shown here. The plan of 1848 gives a truer representation of
the adjacent house even though it has suffered alterations effected by
Spode. The only reason that can be offered is that the 'house' was not
to be included in this insurance policy which was concerned primarily
with that part of the building that functioned as a warehouse and stable
and not as domestic accommodation attached t0 No. 37 Portusgal Row. This
is suggested by the notes 'Room belonging to the Dwelling House! and
1Platt which are written over this particular area of the plan. Con-
sidering the source of this document it is disappointing that it does
not appear to give as accurate an account of the building as one might
expect and indeed wish. But within its limitations it does support the
basic thesis that the warehouse was contained within the original site
plan of 1714 and consequently can be related back to the tennis court
site. However, admitting all its imperfections, the Sun Fire Office

plan is the earliest extant plan of the theatre albeit as warehouse.

The North West corner of the Site

The third drawing to be examined before gathering all together in
the Barry plan and elevation of 1848 is that of 1834. It arose out of
the purchase, or at the time of the proposed purchase, of a tiny patch of
land roughly 3'3" x 10'3" on the north side of the warehouse by the Royal
College of Surgeons from Copeland in order {0 provide themselves with
sufficient ground to put into effect Barry's designs for the new lecture

theatre, pl.IXa, 1833.
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There are three drawings on this sheet, pl.X, two of which will be
returned to when discussing the elevation of the theatre-warehouse, but
the third is a plan of the 'north west angle of Messrs Copeland's ware-
house on the level of the ground floor shewing the proposed new walls
of the College of Surgeons tinted red, and the space of ground to become
the property of the College edged with yellow!. This purchase of land is
the only loss recorded on behalf of the playhouse property from 1714 down
to 1834. Here one recognises the loss of part of the ground that Rich
had acquired from Tasburgh in 1714. This plan also provides a very clear
indication that the westerm wall of the warehouse was in common with
that of the proposed extension to the Royal College of Surgeons. The
area, in question is seen in both pl.IXa and the 1848 plan by Barry,
pl.XIa. By 1848 even those vestigial elements of the playhouse drawn
in the 1834 plans and elevations were no longer in existence. These
details of the western and north-western corner are the only drawings
that have been found of those sides of the building.

Summariging therefore the information derived from these three
drawings from 1794 down to the final state of the building in 1848 it
can be stated with some degree of confidence that whereas there had been
considerable alterations to the interior and shell of the playhouse, the
site on which it stood was virtually the same as that deduced in 1714.
The changes that did not radically alter the site were first, the loss of
the passageway from Portugal Row running between Nos. 37 and 38 which one
suspects occurred at some time between 1753 and 1756; and secondly, the
sale of the patch of ground 3'3" x 10'3" in 1834 to the Royal College of
Surgeons. Neither of these can be claimed as really significant losses

to the actual plot on which the theatre had been built.
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The state ¢of the site of the warehouse as it stood in 1848 is
shown in fig.24. In that plan are noted all the above mentioned
alterations with the addition of details from the Barry plan of 1848,
The outline of the warehouse has been included to show the overall use
of the land. The theatre or warehouse is coloured grey as is No. 37
Portugal Row to which it was tied at that time, both being in the owner-
ship of Copeland. To the east in sepia are the properties that were
once in the hands of Henley. On the western side Nos. 38 and 39 are
shown in yellow and without the familiar passageway. All that area
coloured blue represents thelprOperty belonging to the Royal College of
Surgeons who now possessed No. 40 Portugal Row and would shortly extend
their college to the east and absorb not only Nos. 39, 38 and 37 but
also No. 36. The Salter extension of the R.C.S. absorbed No. 39; No. 38
et seq. remained separate houses until after bombing, pl.XLVI, in 1941l.

This fig.24 should be studied in conjunciion with the copy of the
plan of the warehouse drawn up by Barry in 1848 which defines more parti=-
cularly the specific dimensions of the various parts of the building.
The plan, fig.25, shows also detalls drawn from the 1794 indenture, the
intrusion into No. 39 Portugal Row around the north-western angle of the
warehouse. The Royal College of Surgeons had already acquired No. 40
Portugal Row with its stables on Portugal Street., It will be seen that
the whole warehouse is quite comfortably contained within the original
73" x 130" plot bought by Horatio Moore I and James Hooker. The overall
dimensions of the site are therefore, fig.25, on the southern Portugal
Street facade, about 112'6", 12'3" the opening that had been the stable
of No. 40 Portugal Row but now College buildings, and the remaining
49" « 510" on the eastern side had become the frontage of No. 20 Portugal

Street, pleXId. On the western side of the warehouse the depth was about



170,

48'0". Turning east along the northern side, the rear wall of the
warehouse abutting the yards of Nos. 40 end 39 Portugal Row was about
4010", then moving north along the warehouse and rear wall to meet the
back wall of No. 38 Portugal Row, about 25'0". lioving east again there

is the uneven line c¢reated by the rear yard walls of Nos. 37, 38 and 39
Portugal Row which ccllectively give a distance of about 77'0". On the
eastern side the distance north and south is drawn from the original plot
line to the 1714 - 1848 front giving 76'0", but it will be noted that
from the rear of No. 36 to the front of the warehouse the depth was 71'0",
However a glance across the plan will reveal that those properties to the
north had various depths. The depth of the property consequently increases
in places, t0 T73'6" north and south in the region of No. 38 Portugal Row.
The unevenness of the vestigial rear walls of the houses 4o the north of
the warehouse is of course the result of various sales and resales and
encroachments that had taken place over nearly two hundrea years, and it
is not surprising therefore that there is a certain untidiness here., It
is probable that the only original wall is that of No. 36. In spite of
these irregularities it would seem that they are not significant enough
to cause a rejection of the basic thesis thzat all tennis courts, theatres
and warehouses were built within the original 1656 site of some T3'0" x
130'0", and that this plot by 1714 was reduced in length to about 112!'6"
and in depth to about 48'0" on the west and to 50'0" on the eastern side.
It then supported the theatre, auditorium and stage, with the additional
plot of about 25!'0" x 72'0" adjoining to the north that contained the main
staircase and dressing rooms of the theatre. It is within this plot,
taking into account the knovn exchanges of property in the area of Nose.

39 and 38 Portugal Row, that one can place the tennis court as well as

the first and second theatres that 'stood as the first chapter in the

39

history of the modern stage'.
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The final description of the theatre when a warehouse is derived

from the indenture of 184840 reads as follows:

a playhouse called the New Theatre with dressing rooms
coffee house and other buildings . . « formerly known

as and described as all that great messuage « « o used

as the New Theatre and all that house or tenement here-
tofore used for dressing rooms adjoining to the north

side of the . « » playhouse and therewith usually occupied
and enjoyed together with the ground heretofore used as an
entry way or passage from Great Lincoln's Inn Fields to
the said playhouse but now built upon and also all those
buildings rooms and appartments formerly used as sheds or
shops or coffee houses and the shed heretofore used as a
passage into the said playhouse adjoining to the south
side thereof all which said premises situate and being in
Little Lincoln's Inn Fields in Portugal Street . . «

Having isolated the site and traced its formation from 1705 down to
1848, before reconstructing the theatre within the warchouse and its
adjoining buildings, a brief account of the alterations suffered by the
theatre in its several conversions will bhe necessary to determine that
which remained of the original theatre and thus act as a guide in its

reconstruction.

A brief account of the interior and exterior alterations, 1745-1848

Although this period, over one hundred yesrs, is that in which the
building no longer functioned as a theatre it is the period for which most
evidence survives in the form of artists! impressions of the exterior and
more accurate architects! plans and elevations of the exterior and interior,
of what had become a warehouse. Over the same period there are several
deeds that describe the contemporary state of the interior and outhouses.
All these documents serve to explain the final and most comprehensive set
of drawings, those by Charles Barry; the result of a survey of the ware-

house carried out in 1848, pls.XIa, b, ¢ and d.
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During the course of this examination that which is vestigial of
the playhouse will be determined. After all the alterations carried
out over those one hundred years have been erased from the Barry plan
a reconstruction of the playhouse as it stood between 1714 and 1732 will
be projected.

At the close of 1732 the new theatre in Covent Garden was ready and
John Rich moved his company westwards across Drury Lane. Rich maintained
his interest in ithe Lincoln's Imm Fields theatre down to 1793 but appears

4l

not to have paid any rates after 1748. In those seventeen years inter-
vening the theatre was used intermittently by various companies including
his own from Covent Garden. Other companies of note that played the
theatre during those years were Giffard's company coming from Goodman's
Fields; Handel's Opera Company played several seasons and there were also
a number of miscellaneous troupes and benefit performances. A full
catalogue of the occupants over these years is to be found in The London
42

and needs no repetition here. The last recorded theatrical per-

Stage,

formance at the theatre was that of Love and Folly, produced as a benefit

for Galliard on 11 December 1744. It is not thought that these companies
would have altered the building in any significant way since they only
rented the theatre for short seasons.

The next inhabitants of the theatre were a company of Guards, a
military force larger than usual to keep crder in the theatre, but their
presence was precipitated by rumours and fear of the dreaded Scote There

are three newspaper reports of this incident,

Yesterday morning a Colonel's Guard (by order) marched to
the Playhouse in Lincoln's Inn Fields, where they are to
continue, in order to be ready to quell any disturbances
that may happen from the adherents of the Pretender and
the enemies of our present Happy Egtablishment,.43
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44

Sawyer ' ' noted another which was unclassified and seems to be a more
elaborate version of the above. It is not supposed that the Guards
were established long in the theatre and were soon recalled to barracks
without leaving a very deep impression on the theatre.

& military presence in the theatre was again noted several years

later but there is some confusion as to the precise date; the extent of

the occupation and the alterations were mentioned in the following notice:

The Workmen are getting ready the old Playhouse in
Lincoln's Inn Fields with all Expedition, in oxrder to
meke Barracks for fourteen hundred Soldiers that are
to be kept there. Provision is already made at
Somerset House for fifteen hundred Men that are also
to lie in Barracks there.45

This quotation comes from a cutting in the R.C.S. of E. Scrapbock,
'Lincoln's Inn Fields, Etc., Historical Cuttings', but the newspaper and
date has not been traced although the archivist has noted that it came
from '1750'c. However, the same information is recorded by both Heckethorn46
and Chancellor47 but without their source. Both date the incident as
occurring in 1756. Without supporting evidence from a more authoritative
quarter it is not thought thet this informastion should be treated too
seriously for if a great deal of work was expended on this conversion to
house a regiment of soldiers, it is unlikely that they were withdrawn
after only eighteen months. There is no note of this in the ratebooks
and a search in the Ordnance records or the P.R.0O. has produced no sup=-
porting evidence,

Also contradicting the possibility that the theatre became a more
permanent military establishment is the anonymous note degcribing a
visit to the theatre before it became a warehouse. This record is a
manuscript48 in the theatre collection of the Garrick Club and is ostensibly

dated 1757 but intermal evidence shows that it was written after 1763. The
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writer recalled that the theatre was in a fairly chaotic state reminding
him of the scene at Covent Garden affter the half price riots which
occurred during Janunary and February 1765.49 This might well have been
the state in which the army left the building after providing themselves
with sufficient space to bed down for a day or two, by clearing the stage
and removing the benches in the pit and lodging them in the boxes around
theisame. The date of that visit to the old theatre by this commentator
must have been after 18 November 1755, the date of the riot at the per=-
formance of the French dancers at Drury Lane, and before John Banks, the
subsequent tenant, took up his lezse in 1756. What exactly Banks did to
the theatre is not altogether clear but the rateable value of the theatre
was suddenly raised to £200 and that for the dressing rooms/house to £60.50
There is a note in the margin beside this entry stating that an appeal was
to be made against that assessment. In the following year when liessrs
Charles Smith and Co. paid the rates they did so on a revised nominal
figure of £15C for the theatre.

It would seem that if anybody made any radical alteration to the
theatre it was John Banks who, having realised the commercial possibilities
that lay in the theatre, converted it and leased it at the earliest oppor-
tunity. Charles Smith and Co. took up a twenty-one year lease as from
24 June 1758.51 Those involved were entered in the ratebook for that
year, John Trotter, George Smith, Bradshaw and Charles Smith.

All that can be said with certainty is that between 1745 and 1756
the theatre was 'dark!' and in a dilapidated state giving only a livelihood
to the carpenter-caretaker and his wife who hung her washing in the
'clouds'!, and that they lived in rooms which had previously been the

52

dressing rooms. Thereafter the converted theaire functioned as a ware-

house, offices and domestic accommodation. The tenants who were recorded
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above were later joined by others, a fact that is drawn from several
leagses that were taken up before 1794 when Josiah Spode leased a large
part of the premises for his own use.,S3

In addition to the four businesses carried on by the men named
above was thaet of the Six Clerk's O0ffice, which in 1744, was 'to be
removed 10 the old Playhouse in Portugal Stireet for three years till
their office is rebuilt in the same spot of ground, with some additions,
where it at present standso'54 By 1782 the warehouse had become a
veritable warren providing both domestic accommodation and commercial
facilities. This partitioning becomes clear in both the indentures of
the period and visible as late as 1806 in the Sun Fire Office plan,
pl.XXXIV. From this plan it is possible to deduce partially the remains
of the domestic accommodation which was built into the western part of
the old theatre and described in the indentures. The larger remaining
portion was employed as office space and various workshops. A deed of
178255 provides the names and descriptions of several people then in
occupation, Joshua Peart, Edmund Estcourt, John liiller, Daniel Pike,
John Foulkes, Humphrey Bowles, Messrs Turner and Gallimore, china manue
facturers; Harris, china-man; William Garth, upholsterer; Trotter,
upholsterer; and additionally of course were the vaulis below that were
rented out, at that time to Meaux.

Such was the state of the theatre when Josiah Spode came on the
scene in 1794 when Joshua Scrope (formerly Peart) leased for twenty-one
years at £210 per annum a large part of the warehouse. The indenture of
25 June 1794 included a lengthy description of the premises and particularly
that part leased to Spode. Scrope imposed severe restrictions on the uses
to which Spode could put the building and on any alterations that he might
wish to effect. That deed also reported on the changing occupants of the
warehouse down to that date when Messrs Thomas Turner and Ambrose Gallimore

had become Turner and Shore. John Miller, attorney, whose room had
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previously been used as the clerks!' office, was now used by the Society
for the Improvement of Naval Architecture. Ilessrs Stevenson and Co.
had also moved in. The full description of the premises taken up under
the 1794 lease by Spode can be read in the Appendix.

The plan that was drawn in the margin of this deed is reproduced
in fige22a. It was not until 1802 that Spode bought the freehold of the
whole warehouse and the house in Portugal Row, No. 37. But in 179556
Scrope leased to Spode not only the remaining area of the warehouse that
in 1794 he hed reserved to himself but also this house to the north of
the warehouse in Portugal Row. The 1794 plan from the lease and the Sun
Fire Office plan, respectively figo.22a and pleXXXIV, therefore provide
interesting material for comparison reflecting changes between those
years and before the later alterations made by the new owner Spode, no
longer suffering any inhibitions upon his own designs,

During the 1820s and early 30s the Spode company prospered and later
there was a merger effected between the Spode family and that of the
Copelands; Dboth engaged in producing the fine chinaware for which they
are still famed. The resultant company operated under several permutations
of the two family names. In 1833 it was the Copelands that were managing
the company. William Copeland occupied No. 37 Portugal Row and made the
conversions that are to be seen in the Barry drawings of the warehouse
and adjoining properties that were shortly to be acquired by the Royal
College of Surgeons. Although it was suggested that Spode may have made
the alterations to the warehouse seen in this plan there is no factual
evidence to support any precise dating, for it may well have happened in
the time of the Copelands who it is believed, constructed the enclosed

bridge between the two properties.



Li/a

wenn Fy wyy B warssrsreg Yy i rpenabus Typ vl cagpas g rrdes [Ty ‘Tor 3797 X

o Ty PG Ty PG R ooy

N AN é

B e e e

Dre 0 YomLy g TGET ey g 8 \_\SV\




178.

There is one other very important plan, that of the north-west
corner of the warehouse, drawn by Philip Hardwick in 1834, pl.X. The
importance of this sheet of drawings is that it records changes that
were to be effected in that area and in doing so reflected changes that
had been made at an unknown date on the small plot of land that John Rich
had purchased from Tasburgh in 1715057 The drawing indicates old and new
windows that were placed in both the western wall and the northern wall
of the old playhouse thus allowing a clearer impression of Barry's later
plans as well as the possibility of relating details in that area to the
Sun Fire Cffice plan.

The Copelands occupied both the warehouse and the house, No. 37
Portugal Row, until Aldn. V/illiam Copeland conveyed the whole property
to the Royal College of Surgeons on 16 February 1848. Following the

purchase by the College the old theatre was demolished.

When the college bought the building the only parts of
the theatre that remained were the outer walls built
on an arched cellar, a large Queen Anne staircase, a
saloon on the first floor, and an attic, lighted by
windows in the roof, which had been probably the scene
painting loft,.

Thig description of the building prior to demolition comes from Timbs58
upon whom D'Arcy Power depended when writing her article’” in 1900. This
late notice of the theatre may not be totally accurate but in its limited
way details the existence of specific features that rmust be accounted for
in the final reconstruction. Of special interest is the allusion to the
wueen Anne staircase for there are two drawings in the collection of Mr
Robert Eddison which, although anonymous and undated, claim to be authen-
ticated sketches of the grand staircase that was 'the grace' of the ground
floor entrance and continued to rise with equal splendour to the roof,

figs.26a and b.6o
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There seem therefore to have been possibly three main periods
during which alterations could have taken placej; first the Banks
conversion of 1757; secondly, Scrope may have made alterations the
effect being set out in the 1794 lease to Spode. This document, however
confusedly, fixes the state of the theatre at that date. Thirdly, those
alterations effected by the Spode-Copeland partnership after 1802 which
are finally reflected in the Barry survey of 1848. Because the W.P.Ls
note adds iittle to the information already produced above it will only
be shown here in £ig.27, but used in evidence whenever necessary. Taken
together, this plan and the accompanying notes, reveal that not only was

61 but

there little remaining of the theatre in 1823 or possibly 1831,
also that Spode could not give certain help to the writer.

From the details in the Barry plan, pl.XIa, it would seem that the
Copelands swept away all the domestic accommodation that Banks had either
built or adapted from the theatre, that is, that area in the western part
of the warehouse that Scrope had criginally leased to Spode. It is in
this area that one might assume the saloon had been set. It is equally
clear that in the eastern end of the building Scrope had either converted
or retained Banks' introduction of stahles and a coach house; they may
well have been retained by Copeland. This is not definite for Barry's
plan is at first floor level. However, the many illusirations of the
building from this late period would suggest that this function was
retained at ground level in the eastern wing of the warehouse down to
1806, pl.XXXIV.

Throughout the whole period.the central body of the warehouse seems

to have been used on all floors as large or partitioned storerooms,

offices or display showrooms, pl.XXXIV and pls.XIa and XIb.
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One of the major problems that arises is that of determining
whether or not the floor levels that are shown in the Barry section of
the warehouse are of post-1802 provenance or stem from an earlier period
and possibly relate to the theatre. This matier affects the placing
and/or any alterations to the staircase at every storey. There are
staircases noted in the Sun Fire Office plan that do not correspond with
the description in the 1794 deeds, neither are they present in the Barry
plans It will be noted that staircases cccur in similar but not identical
places in the W.P.L. note, fig.27.

Barly floor levels and their related staircases are extremely
difficult to assess from the plans, and indeed, the fenestration on the
south side of the theatre affords little help, for in theatres floor
levels are singularly difficult to read from the exterior as they are
raked and accompanied by complex adjustments usvally achieved by compen-
sating steps. Additionally I believe that much of the familiar southerm
wall of the theatre was provably filled with blind windows and served,
more than anything else, as a decorative screen front, thus presenting a
fashionable stylish facade. Some of these 'windows' may have been opened
once the building became a warehouse.

In addition to the difficulty raised above with regard to the floor
levels and principal staircases, there are also the discrepancies between
the statement of Timbs and the drawings of Barry which compound the
problems. The evidence to be reconciled is that which is provided by
the Eddison undated sketches, figs,26a and b; the Barry plans, pls.XIa
and XIb, and what seems to be a sound record in Timbs of 'a large Queen
Anne Staircasels

First, Barry's drawing is the only unimpeachable evidence of the

main staircase in 1848 when the College bought the building. Secondly,
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one cannot be certain as to whether or not Timbs was familiar with
either the staircase when it took the form in the Eddison drawing or
that showvn by Barry. There are considerable differences in these two
gtaircases and, though the Barry drawing does bear some similarities
with the staircase in the Sun Fire Office plan and the Eddison drawing,
it is possible that the Eddison drawings come from an earlier date, i.eo.,
before 1802, or the date of the insurance survey, 1806. On the other
hand the accuracy of Timbs is to be doubted for he did not provide his
sources and he was writing twenty-eight years after the building had been
demolished. Gordon and D'Arcy are not supporting evidence for they merely
lifted verbatim Timbs' description. My conclusion is that Timbs is une
reliable, and that the Eddison drawings depict the original Queen Anne
staircase that was 'the grace' of the entrance; the staircase extant in
1848 in the Barry drawing was a reconstruction of the original staircase,
adapted to do duty in a2 reconstructed theatre. Two features confirm me
in this opinion, first, the great window on each landing on the north side
occurs not only in the deeds bui also in both drawings of the whole struc-
ture; and secondly, it would not have been impossible to reconstruct the
Eddison staircase when it was decided to divide the theatre internally,
for access to the upper floors was initially reserved to those who leased
or owned the western part of the warehouse ana partitions were set up that
would have required such a cannibalisation of the staircase. It should
be noted how awkwardly the arch straddles the main staircase in the Sun
Fire Office plan, though it is admitted that this may be due to the
inexpert surveyor.

There is no evidence of a saloon on the first floor existing in 1848
that had any connection with the theatre. Indeed, it would be difficult
to claim, for it was never mentiocned in any title deed, that any part of

the domestic accommodation in the western part of the theatre was derived
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from a period of earlier glory. Such a chamber would, it is thought,
have been noted in the lease to Spode in 1794, but there is at no date
any reference to a saloon. One assumes that if there were a saloon it
would have been in the western part of the building since all evidence
points to the stage being in the east. PFrom the 1794 deed one gains the
impression that the first floor was divided in much the same manner as
that shown in the ground floor plan from the Sun Fire Office, and from
the number of doors that were glazed one infers that fthere was little
natural light entering the building. If this were true the Barry plan
indicates that further alterations had taken place by 1848 for all the
small rooms in the west end on the first floor had been taken away to
afford one vast room running the length of the building with another,
though smaller, to the north side, running in the same direction. Fire-
places had been installed at all levels in such places as one might
imagine previously the western box or pit promenade had been as well as
half way up the rear wall over what had been the stage, and on the ground
floor, another in a position that might have been centre stage. Some
early illusirations show the stack to this system of flues.

With regard to Timbs' observation concerning ‘'an attic, lighted by
windows in the roof, which had been probably the scene painting loft!
there is nothing to contradict the statement and it is not other than one
might have expected. This is also true for the comments found in the

W.PosL. note, that

There are a number of small Rooms above and a few years
ago there were some Portraits on canvas on the Walls -
but sc decayed were pulled down . . 02
There are no. lights shown in the Barry plan actually set in the roof but

such windows are indicated in sketches of the south facade which might help

date the point at which alterations were made. Again, from the Hardwick
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plan of 1834 one is given a long rectangular window in the western wall
at attic level, and two on the same level on the northern side.

The Barry section does not show an arched cellar but this need not
be interpreted as a negation of the Timbs information. The sectional
drawing passes through that part of the theatre that is thought to have
been the pit area which would not be raised on an arched cellar if the
depth to which the theatre was excavated was no deeper than the 915"
indicated. This does not rule out the possibility of vaulted arched
cellars at both ends of the theatre or beneath the pavement, for cellars
in the latter position are mentioned by both Rich in his Compleint, 1733,
and by Shepherd in his Answer, 1754.63

Related to the cellars but presumably in a more central area where
the pit had stood there remained the original walls that surrounded the
pit. It was during the demolition that when more recent partitions were
removed there was discovered an original doorway over which there was an
alcove in which was recovered, though damaged, a terra cotta bust of
Jonson. This piece has been lost but a companion, that of Shakespeare,
is now the property of the Garrick Club.64 No reference has been found
to any other internal decorative feature remaining down to 1848.

A further adjustment to the Barry plan is the removal of the fire-~
places. Reference has already been made to the two fireplaces situated
in the eastern and western sides of the warehouse. OCn the western side
in the Hardwick elevation, pl.X, the chimney stack has five pots suggesting
that there was a fireplrce on each level from basement to attic. The same
may well have been true on the east side. These hearths, it is suggested
were introduced when the theatre became converted to domestic and other
commercial functions. The remaining collection of fireplaces that has to
be erased is that at the west end of the north wall. In the Hardwick
drawing there are three pots to this stack. The fireplaces are referred

to in the 1794 lease and although the fire insurance plan omits them the
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reason might be that the surveyor was confused in this area as may be
deduced from his representation of the flight of stairs in this quarter.
The impression gained from a comparison of all the drawings is that this
flue was set up, probably as early as 1758, in the now disused staircase
that had been built on the extra piece of land bought from Tasburgh. For
some unknown reason the land was never reclaimed by Tasburgh's heirs and

it was a section of that plot that the R.C.S. was concerned ito acguire

when they commissioned Hardwick to carry out the survey that gave rise to
the drawing, pleXs This was to allow the completion of the Barry extension
to the College as set ouit in the 1833 plans, pl.IXa.

This drawing alsc makes reference to old windows that would have %o
be blocked up and they will be taken into account in the reconstruction
which follows.

Changes other than those recorded in the Hardwick and Barry plans
for the north west corner occurred on the north side of the theatre. A
comparison between the Sun Fire Office plan ana the Barry 1848 plan
reveals that the Copelands had reorganised the sanitary arrangements
and the general use of the yard on this northern side that had once been
the means of entrance to the theatre through No. %8 Portugal Row., However,
apart from the redeployment of this yard, the returning of the passageway
to its owners, and the bridge over the rear yard to link the warehouse
with No. 37 Portugal Row, very little seems to have been done that would
alter the basie structure of the original building. Even with the extant
plans and descriptions of the north side, of the dressing rooms that
became a flat cor house linked to No. 37 Portugal Row, little can be said
with any certainty. That the dressing room block was on four floors with
windows on the eastern side and a fireplace on the western side of every

roon on each floor is very likely. If there were an alteration effected
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by the Copelands when they yoked this block with their Portugal Row
house, it is suggested that they hacked away a considerable amount of
brickwork from the northern leg of the very thick internal wall when
they bridged the gap over the yard. Some support for this suggestion
may be found in the manner in which the roofing of this part of the
building was carried out, ple.XIc.

On both the east and west sides the Barry plan, pl.{Ia, shows that
no large scale alterations had taken place to the main fabric of the
building since it had been built. On the east side there is the proba-
bility that the window was an addition once the theatre ceased to function.
It is highly unlikely that it was in the original construction. The only
other addition on this side of the building is that of the fireplaces and
that has already been touched upon above. MWoving to the west side the
only alterations that are certain are those that are noted in the Hardwick
drawing of 1834 which help to explain the state of that side of the
theatre before the Barry development according tc the 1833 plans by Barry
proceeded. What is made clear in ple.lXa is that on the removal of the
coach house and stables to No. 40 Portugal Row, the Barry extension
shared the western wall of the warehouse in common. Whether or not there
were cther round headed windows on that side of the theatre as shown in
the Hardwick elevation is not certain. The position of the single window
does suggest that there might have been three, but on the other hand the
position of the flue in this wall, according to its date of introduction,
would have prevented such a design. Additionally, there is no record in
the correspondence between the College and Copelands with regard to the
Barry extension taking the light of the warehouse, fig.28.

The south side of the warehouse is shown in the Barry elevation
pl.XId, and in many illustrations of the theatre once it had become a

warehouse, There is only one illustration of the exterior, south side, -
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from the time when it operated as a theatre and that is the partial
rendering by Hogarth, pl.XXXIII. There had been a more elaborate central
entrance, it is thought, which only remzined in the form of the mutilated

65

porch in the centre of the facade, The entrances on the eastern end
have already been touched upon above when the stables and coach house
section was discussed. These entrances cannot be considered with any
certainty as post theatre alterations. The doorways to the warehouse on
the western end of the front can be related to the state of the building
when it had been converted to domestic purposes but whether or not that
conversion was carried out with regard to already existing doorways is
similarly undocumented. The only qualifying note to be introduced in
this area is that drawn from the Hogarth engraving in which the audience
is seen to be entering through a rusticated archway which bears every
resemblance to that shown frequently in later drawings. This archway
may have been subsequently blocked up as all other drawings of this show.
I thirk it is possible that the original entrance, or one of the original
entrances, was that shown by Hogarth and that when the building was con-
verted this arch was blocked up, a window set up in its place and the
entrance to that part of the building that seems to have been primarily

domestic, was through a more modest door that is represented in the later

drawings and water colours bearing the label 'Spode!,
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Notes, pp. 144-188.

1 Contemporary reports, The Weekly Packet, 18 Dec 1714,

The Paitentee had 'been at vast Expense to make this Theatre
as convenient for the Reception of an Audience as any one
can possibly bes!

JoHa Wilson, 'Theatre Notes from the Newdigate Newsletters?,

TeNey, v0l.XV, Noo 3, 1961, p. 83, entry for 18 Dec 1714,
This day opened the New Playhouse in Lincoln's Inn Fields,
they stile themselves the comedians under the letters patent
of the late King Charles II. The House is the finest and
most Convenient of any ever Erected here. His kajesty was
this Evening at the opera and fthe Prince and Princess at the
Theatre in Drury Laneo.

Cs Gordon, 0ld Time Aldwych, Kingsway and Neighbourhood, 1903, pe 335.

John Rich 'opened the theatre on 18 December 1714 and spoke
the prologue of the opening play (Farquhar's Recruiting Officer)
dressed in mourning!, quoting from Davies, Dramatic liscellanies,

1784.

G. Barlow, 'A First Night Prologue for the New Theatre in Lincoln's
Inn Fields', T,l,, vol. {evedting—publication).
Sxxvin, Ne. 2, 1A 8% pp. Bi-3.

2 infra, pp. 309=310 Queen's Theatre in the Haymarket.

3 R.C.S. of E., indenture, 12 and 13 Oct. 1753, (Ackp: p- 3.

refers to indenture 5 Dec 1705 lease to W. Penkethman and confirms
the conveyance of Sir Thomas Reeve's (I) d. 1737, moiety via his
trustee James Mead to Edmund Browne as trustee for James lLlead and
John Locke who are trustees for Sir Thomas Reeve (II).

4 WeP.Ls, Churchwardens' and Overseers!' Accounts, Be 35/A135.

5

Repercussions of the Union Order, related matters are recorded and
documented in,

J. Milhous, Thomas Betterton and the Management of Lincoln's Inn
Pieldg 1695~1708, 1979, pp. 207=-221,

Je Milhous and R. Hume, Vice Chamberlain Coke's Theatrical Pspers,
1982, pp. 116~118, 123-126, et passim p. 146. i
*The Silencing of Drury Lane i 1709, Theatre Jovrnal,
6 f4%0.
Cibber, ope cite, vol.Ii, ps 100.

7 Horatio Moore II, d. 9 Feb 1708, PROB 6/86, £.166, P.C.C. Admins,
1710 (August).
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8 R.C.S. of E., indenture, 30 May 1776, referring to the indenture

of 6 Dec 1705, Moore II to Hiccocks the Moore moiety, that moiety
to Joshua Peart.

9 P.R.O., C33/276/701, the ruling of which was that the litigants
should resolve the problem amongst themselves; that resolution
appears in the manner in which Sir Edward Abney Kt and William
Masemore acquired No. 40 Portugal Row, 28«9 Dec 1692, This
indenture is in the keeping of the Royal College of Surgeons of
England.

10 g.ii., Add. Che 9303, 3 Sept 1714, cites indenture of Lease of theatre

by Anne Reeve, Deodatus Champion and Thomas Reeve to Christopher Rich
and Rupert Clarke, 31 Aug 171l4.

11 Rich Account books, B.M., Egerton 2265 & 2266, 1724=1727.

8 Peb 1724/5, Paid Mr William Welshman in full Balance of
Ground Rent for Lir Champion's moiety Dec to Xmas last - £79., 1l2s 1d.

2% Sept 1724, Daily rent charge, theatre, £3. 12s 0d.

Chocolate Rooms 8s Od.
9 Sept 1726, Daily rent charge, theatre £4e 128 Ode
Chocolate Rooms 8s.0d.

1e %.CeS. of E., indenture 30 May 1776, ( App. p. 131),

John Welchman at his death 1773 owned half the Moore II moiety.

13 Schedule of Title Deeds etc. relating to the premises purchased of

Mr., Aldn. Copeland by the Royal College of Surgeons or England,
Appendix,i@.izawlmg,

14 ReCoeSe of Eey 23 & 24 June 1783%, indenture tidying up conveyance of

the warehouse/theatre to Joshua Peart prior transactions of 22 & 24
June 1782 left uncompleted due to the death of Dame Reeve Feb 1783
who died intestateo (Abp. b I33)

15 R.C.S. of E., indenture 26 & 27 Feb 1802, (Ao -p- 145).

Joshua Scrope conveyed freehold of the warehouse to Josiah Spode.

16 R.C.S. of E., 16 Feb 1848, conveyance of warehouse and 37 Lincoln's

Inn Fields from Aldn. W. Copeland to the R.CeS. of Ee (App-pp. ike-2).

17 Belle 4 Adds Che. 9303, see Appendix,g»ioi.

18 Cibber, ope cite, vOleII, pe 100
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19 GuL.Cey MoLoRe, 1712/6/111. ( Agp. p- 105).

20 ihide, M.LeR., 1715/2/1. (App.p. 108).

2l ibide, MeLeR., 1715/2/2. (App. pr 198)

22 ibides MeLoRe, 1712/5/113.(Agp.p-105

2> Press Commentss:

Typical of such deceptive press notices, which, without adequate
support from other sources, it would be dangerous to accept on their
face value, are those found in the Daily Courant. The first of
these advertisements is dated 7 Sept 1708,

The playhouse in Little Lincoln's Inn Flelds is to be Let

for a Tennis Court or for any other use, (except a Playhouse),
Enquire of Mr John Hall next Door to the Sign of the Angel

in Little Russell street.

Plausible as this notice might seem the lease of the theatre was held
at this time by Penkethman and Rich. In that year Rich paid the rates
and these were regularly paid thereafter by him. Since the reason for
Rich's interest in the theatre is unknown - except that he currently
held the monopoly of alternative theatres and no alterations had yet
been made to the Queen's Theatre = it would be difficult to suggest a
reason for Rich wishing to relinquish control of the building. Sawyer
aeduced that the Lord Chamberlain had prohibited ifts use as a play-
house from the parenthetical '(except a Playhouse)'. It is unlikely
that the moiety holders had any longer an interest in tennis or would
have been prepared to gut the old building once again to its former
shell so that it could revert to a tennis court. On the other hand
it is certain that the Queen's Theatre and the Theatre Royal were
still in an unsettled state and their functions misapplied. Rich
had not yet been evicted from the Theatre Royal but he was not {the
nost popular theatre manager. Additionally the Drury Lane share-
holders were nov enamoured of the manner in which they consicered
themselves robbed of their dividends. In this prevailing atmosphere,
which showed no signs of abating, one cannot imagine Rich had any
intention of releasing control of any part of London's theatrical
machinery.

A more obvious satirical puff was published 12 Aug 1709 in the
Daily Courant,

Any persons who have a mind to be concerned in or to rent the
playhouse in Little Lincoln's Inn Fields are desired to meet

Iir Porcino and Mr Sniff at Nando's Coffeehouse within Temple
Bar, upon Tuesday next the 16th instant, at 4 o/clock in the
afternoon; who will be there to make very reasonable proposals
relating to the said house, which may be seen in the meantime.
Inquire of Mr Colley, next door to the Scowerers under the said
house, or at the Magpye.
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It is difficult to believe in the characters involved, or to
accept them or the whole advertisement as other than a mocking
of Rich with a parody of the previous day's genuine advertise-
ment announcing a meeting called by  Swiney to meet the Drury
Lane owners. Their theatre had been silenced since 6 June.
Rich had probably removed their scenery by that time and per-
haps stored it in Lincoln's Inn Fields. Twelve weeks or so
were to pass before William Collier forcibly gained access to
the theatre on 22 November.

Of the same category of rumour is the notice of John Downes',
in The Tatler, No. 193, 1 July, 1710, in a postscript stated that
he was,

credibly informed, that they design a New House in Lincoln's
Inn Field, near the Popish Chapel, to be ready by Michaelmas
[29 Sept] next; which indeed is but repairing an old omne
that has already failed.

R.C4S. of Ko, Deeds of 39 Lincoln's Inn Fields, (Parcel D), 29 Nov
1714, Articles of Agreement between Henry Tasburgh and John Rich and
Christopher liosyer Rich, 9 June 1715, conveyance of plot subject to
above agreement. Appendixe p.i2o.

In this part of the reconstruction of the site the basic plan used in
rart I, i.cey, OuSe 1874, for the figures has been supplemented by
Barry's 1848 survey of the Warehouse and 37 Lincoln's Inn Fields.

Plan redrawn from the Hardwick plan, 1834, pl.X, and the Barry survey
plans, pl.XI, 1848.

Christopher Rich, Will, % Nov 1714,
PROB 11/541, f£.228, P.C.C. 228 Aston, proved 26 Nov 1714 by John
Rich and Christopher Mosyer Rich.

Paul Sawyer, The New Theatre in Lincoln's Inn Fields, 1979, pp. 12-20.

192,

Plates, showing projection of the theatre on the south side, Map, Rocque,

1746, pl.VII; plans, Barry, 1833, pl.IXa and 1848, pl.XIa; and
sketchesg, pls.XIIl and XIV.

R.C.S., of E., indenture 26 & 27 Feb 1802,

Joshua Scrope conveys to Josiah Spode both the warehouse and
37 Lincoln's Inn Field. Appendix, p.ins.

The precise nature of the bridge is shown in the Barry plans, ple.XI.

But there is the note of some covered way in the 1806 plan by the

Sun Pire Office surveyor. At what date, and by whom the construction

shown in the 1848 plans was carried out is not certain.
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R.CeSe 0f Eo., indenture of lease, 25 June 1794,(}¢F.PPJ35:|w®.
Joshua Scrope to Josiah Spodes

Joshua Scrope leased only part of the warehouse to Josiah Spode
in 1794,

P. Sawyer, The New Theatre in Lincelnfs Inn Fields, pe. 135 & p. 26,
refers to another indenture of this same deed, W.P.L., Deed 114/1/1794,
stating that this transaction was first a sale, p. 13, and a lease,

pe 26. He appears to have misread the document. The 1794 indenture
is for the lease of part of the warehouse. Scrope retained part for
his own use. WNearly a year later, 25 iay 1795, (R.C.S. of E., 37
Lincoln's Inn Fields), Scrope leased in addition to Spode the previous
exception from the warehouse as well as the house, 37 Lincoln's Inn
Mields. (Sawyer was not to know that Scrope was formerly Peart).

Cf. fige23 and Barry plan, pl.XIla.
ReCoeSe of Es, indenture 12 Oct 1753, Mead to Browne, Appendix, . ide

ibidey indenture 23 & 24 June 1783, Reeve to Peart, Appendixﬂ?iig,

The Reeve moiety to Peart/Scrope.

ibide, indenture 13 & 14 July 1789,
Darby paid debts of Peart, i.e., Peart mortgaged to Darby.

ibid., indenture 26 & 27 Feb 1802, (Appk. p- 145).

Scrope conveyed to Spoce the warehouse and 37 Lincoln's Inn
Melas. There is also following the indenture of 24 & 25 March
1802 which states that Spode has paid off the Scrope mortgage
on beoth properties.

ibide, indenture 16 Feb 1848,

Copeland conveyed to R.C.S. of Es both properties, the warehouse
and 37 Lincoln's Inn Fields, Appendix, P.nue.

ibides, indenture 28 Apr 1837,

William N, Hamilton conveyed to R.C.3. of E. 38 Lincoln's Inn
rfields.

Hotson, op. cite, pe 1206

R.C.S. of E., indenture 16 Feb 1848, conveyance of warehouse and
37 Lincoln's Inn Fields to R.C.S. of K., item 40, Bundle 'E!.
Appendixe p. 1AT.

WoPelo, St. Clement Danes Parish Rates, Shire Lane Ward, 1748,
B 159/A38.
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42 The London Stage, part 3, 1729-1747, ed. A.H. Scouten.

43 The General Advertiser, 7 Oct 1745

44 Sawyer, ops Cite., ppe. 24=25.
About One in the Morning, & Detachment of the third
Regiment of Foot=Guards, under the command of Lord
Charles Hay, and several Officers, consisting of up-
wards of 100 Men, march'd from the Palace to Lincoln's
Inn Fields Playhouse; and a Party of the same Number
was to mount Guard there every Day till further Orders,
to be ready to quell any Disturbances that may happen
from the Adherents of the Pretender.

A further advertisement explained that,

On Sunday morning early a party of Guards were detached
from Whitehall to the New Playhouse in Lincoln's Inn
Fields, of which they took possession; and soon after
it was rumoured that his Majesty's Principal Secretaries
of State had received intelligence that = great quantity
of ammunition and arms were secreted there for the use
of the Pretenders and his Adherents; but whether they
were found we know not; however a company of the 2nd
regiment were on duty there that night. Penny London
Post, 7-9 Oct 1745,

The London Stage, part 3%, xxvii, notes that,

Rich, owner of the vacant playhouse at Lincoln's Inn Fields,
loaned it to the Government as a garrison quarter for London.

45 R.C.5, of B., 'Historical Cuttings', p. 26.

46 ¢ W. Heckethorn, Lincoln's Inn Fields, 1896, p. 156 .

41 E+.Be Chancellor, The Romance of ILincoln's Inn Fields, 1932, p. 203.

Sawyer, op. cites pe 25, notes this incident but doubting his
source quotes, HeB. Wheatley, London Past and Present, 1891,

voll.II, pp. 397-98.

48 The Garrick Club, M3 in 'Playhouses, theatres and other places of

public Amusement in London etce!', vol.lI, p. 90.

49 For riots on the London stage see,

Sir St. Vincent Troubridge, 'Theatre Riots in London', Studies in
English Theatre in Memory of Gabrielle Enthoven, 1952, ppe 84=97.

LeSe, part 4, ppe lxi, clxxxvi, and pp. 89=91.
Duke of Devonshire Lib. Chatsworth, Rich Register 1750-1773.

Note 1762/3, A Great riot at Covent Garden Theatre last Feba
by Reason the Audience call'd out for a Farce
every night after the Play. Five nights no
plays Acted.
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20 WePeLey St. Clement Danes Parish Rate Books, Shire Lane Waxd,
1756, B54/A49.

R.V. £100 John Bank Empty Ass'd, £3, 0. O. Rec'd, £3.
Poor Relief Rate, 12 May 1757, BL71/A38.

To be raised

to £200 John Bank Paid  £4. 5. O
£ 60
B173/A38 1758
£200 £9. 3. 4. (Werehouse)
gtruck out and Charles Smith & Cos Paid
£150 inserted £5¢ 0. 0o (Flat)

51 R.CeS. of Eey Indenture 24 June 1758.

Lease between (1) John Locke (2) Sir Thomas Reeve et al. and
(3) John Trotter, George Smith, Bradshaw & Charles Smith.

72 Garrick Club 1S., op. cite

-
o3 ReC.Se of Eo, Leases between 1758 & 1794, ana the occupiers of the
warehouse/theatre,

24 June 1758, Joshua Peart, Edmund Estcourt, John Trotter,
George Smith, Bradshaw & Charles Smith.

30 May 1776, Peart, Estcourt, Trotter, Smith, Bradshaw &
Smith.

1 June 1782, Peart, Estcourt, Millar, Pike, Foulkes &
Bowles; llessrs Turner and Gallimore, Harris,
Garth, Trotter, Smith, Bradshaw & Smith.

2% June 1783, Peart, Estcourt, Miller, Pike, Foulkes & Bowles;
lessrs Turner & Gallimcre, Harris, Garth & Trotter.

Down to
25 June 1794, Peart, Thomas Turner & Shore,

Mr John Miliar Attorney used as a clerk's office
now Society for the Improvement of Naval Architecture.
Other areas now Messrs Stevenson.

24 Je Timbs, Curiosities of London, 1876, p. 54

79 R.C.S. of Ee, Indenture 1 June 1782. (Awp. p- 132D,

56 ibide, Indenture 25 May 1795. Ciwp.p-lﬁﬁ)

27 R.C.8, of Ee., Tasburgh - Rich Agreement, 29 Nov 1714 and 9 June 1715.

CAWP,yp lie}



8 7. Timbs, op. cite, p. 688.

Charles Gordon, 0ld Times Aldwych, Kingsway and Neighbourhood,
190%, p. 336, recites Timbs' note.

29 M. D'Arcy Power, 'The Centenary of the Royal College of Surgeons of
England', The Physician and Surgeon, vol.I, 1900, p. 1054.

60 Robert Eddison, Private collection, figs.26a and b, note over sketch,

Lincoln's Inn Fields Theatre Stair.case. These sketches were purchased
at Mr Burn's salg and are reliable.

61 The alternative dating 1823 or 1831 recognises thet the reckoning

could have been from either the year of the first lease 1794, or the
year of purchase, 1802,

WoPeLe, '"Theatre Royal Lincoln's Inn Fields Collection', p. 23,
The notes accompanying the plan are as follows,

I think 1 was the Gallery entrance perhaps the pit also -

2 Box Entrance - the first landing supposed to be the Stage Level.
The Ceiling there 14 feet high 2 landing 8 feet high the third
landing into the Roof -~ the East must have been the stage end.
There are a number of small Rooms above and a few years ago

there were some Portraits on canvas on the Walls -~ but so decayed
were pulled down - on 9 Dec went to Spode about a drawing for
Pantomime for DL and obtained the above the building about 110
feet in length Spode there 29 years.

62 ibide

63 PeRaOey 011/2662/1, Complaint, 15 Mar 1733: Answer, 3 May 1734.

4 §.C.S. of ., 'Historical Cuttings', p. 38,
A Manuscript noting that,

When the china warehouse of Messrs Spode and Copeland
was purchased . « « on taking the warehouse down parts
of the old wallis of the Lincoln's Inn ¥ields Theatre
were discovered and in a recess over the box entrance
was found a terra cotta bust of Shakespeare, down the
Pit entrance one of Ben Jonson - the latter was unfor-
tunately destroyed - the former however was preserved
entire and became the property of the late Duke of
Devonshire who gave £150 to the College for it and
whilst President of the Garrick Club presented it %o
that institution.

see also note in Heckethorm, op. cite, pe 156.

65 Pls.,IXd, XII, XI1I, XIV & XVIa; also noted in R.C.S. of E. indenture
16 Feb 1848, Copeland to R.C.S. of BE. as the 'shed on the south sidet,

(Avﬂo. Pp- U"é"—(>‘
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Chrigtopher Rich, builder and financier

Before entering upon an invelved reconstruction of Christopher
Rich's llew Theatre in Lincoln's Inn Fields the uncertainty concerning
its architect must be discussed. There has been the assumption, pre-
sumably based on the later collaboration of John Rich and Edwarxd
Shepherd when the former extended his interests and moved to the new
theatre in Covent Garden in 1732, that John Rich resorted to the man
he knew, an architect his father had employed and one therefore who had
experience in designing a building that presented problems not found in
the normal course of an architect's experience. Since the Restoration
only three purpose built theatres had been constructed; the third only
five or six years earlier, the Queen's, that was widely held to have
been an expernsive mistake. The other two, both of which Christopher
Rich had intimate knowledge, were the Theatre Royal Drury Lane, built

the Dyke’s Cempany
in 1674, and Dorset Garden, built for - Zf © in 1671 and now, 1709,
it was demolished.

Little is known for certain of the Drury leane theatre and yet it
woula be difficult to maintain other than that Rich wished to build
LIF III with all the benefits of the Theatre Royal and none of its
defects. One is of course concerned here with problems regarding archi-
tectural infiuences. Unfortunately knowing nothing for certain about
Drury Lane at that time, one cannot male those necessary comparisons
that would be useful either in the reconstruction of LIF III or in the
developing of theories about the evolution of eighteenth century theatre
architecture.

What little is known about LIF III does suggest that Christopher
Rich rejected Vanbrugh's notions of what a theatre should be. This turns

one bhack to Drury Lane and Dorset Garden, both of which are the subject
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of controversy. Consequently it would be unwise to raise the recon-
struction of the LIF III on the uncertain foundations of speculations
regarding those two theatres. Precedent therefore cannot be depended
upon in this case. Equally dangerous, it might be argued, would be
too heavy a reliance on its successors, that theatre built in the Great
Hall at Hampton Court Palace, 1718, and those theatres that were built
by Shepherd, one for John Rich, Covent Garden 1732, and the other at
about the same time for Giffard in Goodman's Fields.l In the case of
Covent Garden it could be claimed that Rich demanded of Shepherd a
bigger and better LIF IIT and that Shepherd studied LIF III in order
to satisfy his patron, and when commissioned to build Goodman'!s Fields
on a site as similarly limited in scope as that in Portugal Street,
Shepherd immediately employed all he had learnt fifteen years earlier.
But there are obvious similarities in both Covent Garden and Goodman's
Fields and what seems called for in the reconstruction of LIF IIT. One
may be accused of working backwards without sufficient authority but on
this particular point, one can turn for support %o the documents arising
out of the 1733 controversy between Rich and Shepherd concerning the
defects in the building of Covent Gardenoz

These documents refer back constantly to LIF III as the exemplum
for both Parties and consequently describe that theatre in some detzil,
pointing out differences between Covent Garden and LIF ITI. On these
grounds the Bills in the case are of importance but although Shepherd
refers to LIF III as his guideline in his defence, to deduce from his
argument any proprietorial feelings he might have felt regarding LIF III
is to offer a wery subjective reading of the documents. One cannot
press from the Complaint or Answer a categorical assertion that Edward
Shepherd was responsible for, even in partnership, the theatre in Lincoln's

Inn Fields.3
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Claims that are made in favour of the attribution of LIF III to
Edward Shepherd are primarily due it seems to information provided by

Robert Wilkinson in Londina Illustrata, 1825, which has been subsequently

plundered by many nineteenth century local historians who took over much
of his material as well as his errors and inconsistencies. Wilkinson
was probably never more confused than when trying to make sense of the
history of London theatres.

If it is accepted that Christopher Rich had time to consider and to
learn the architectural hack work as he went, it is feasible that he did
it all himself, providing that he employed an experienced draughisman
and builder. Two documents lend weight to the probability that Rich's
builder-bricklayer was a man named Ivans who was partnered by another
bricklayer one Boswell. First, the Rich-Tasburgh agreement of 17144
states that the extension to be built on the lately acquired land was to
project about two feet four inches at the height of ten foot. Rich was
to build a 'Handsome coveing under such projection and paint such coveing
prettily as Ilr Boswell and Mr Evans bricklayers shall direct'!. Several
years later when John Rich was attempting to recover a certain amount of
money which he claimed to have overpaid to Evans, it is clear that Bvans
had been involved in building activities about the theatre for many years
and, on the evidence offered above, from its very foundation.5 The
amount that the Riches had originally owed Evans would suggest that they
were paying for more than odd repair work about the theatre. They had
entered into a bond to pay Evans by way of setting over to him the rents
of certain houses until the debt had been settled.

But Shepherd's name is not mentioned. A bricklayer directed the
work, not a plasterer-~surveyor or architect. DPerhaps Rich built the

theatre with the expertise of John ¥Evans and Boswell. Perhaps Rich
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instructed Shepherd who contracted Evans to build the theatre. Until
definite proof comes to light it might be more accurate to use the
phrase 'built by Rich' to mean that both the designing and financing

was at the direction of Christopher Rich.

The exterior and the entrances on the south side, Portugal Sireet

The facade on Portugal Street, unlike any other theatre at that
time - with the exception of the now defunct Dorset Garden theatre - had
an exposed front which allowed its architect to give it an imposing
appearance. Both Drury Lane and the Queen's were surrounded on all sides;
Vanbrugh could only build his Piazza on the Haymarket to advertise the
splendours that were within.

At the very outset there is the basic problem of relating the
graphic representations of the exterior of the theatre to those of the
interior, and relating them in turn to supporting literary descriptions.
The difficulty arises because the external features of theatres do not
necessarily, as is more usual in other forms of architecture, relate to
the functions of the interior. I refer particularly to the guidance that
might be afforded by floor levels, fenestration and doorways, not fore
getting that the roof and chimneys also reflect important internal details.
Although the exterior was most freguently represented in late eighteenth
century and early nineteenth century sketches, they do not show great
changes in the facade. There are changes indicated in the roof details
but, however unreliable they may be, unfortunately not all of these
details can with any cexrtainty be related back to 1714 or even 1753.

Having recalled this obvious and general hazard elaborated upon
above, one can turn attention to the reconstruction of the theatre,

starting on the outside and then moving inside according to the needs
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of the argument, but at the same time drawing together the whole
building and relating the variocus parts one to the other. All refer-
ences will be made to the reconsitruction plan and elevations, figs. 29,
30 and 31, (Pox, vol. @),

The interior of the theatre will be divided into three parts,
paying attention first to the avditorium, and secondly to the proscenium
arch which links the auditorium to the third element, the stagej although
it will not always be possible, nor indeed desirable at all times to keep
the three areas distinctly separate in the discussion.

There is nothing vestigial in the Barry drawings of 1848 or the Sun
Fire Office plans, 1806, pls.XIa, XIb, XIc, XId and XXXIV to suggest the
point at which the line dividing the stage from the auditorium was struck.
The symmetry of the Portugal Street facade does not help to distinguish
the internal disposition of its parts. With regard to the Portugal Street
elevation, pl.XId, the information supplied is only partially helpful.
The problem is that of identifying the entrances to the stage and the
auditorium. The sketches of the theatre after 1756, the earliest 1795,
pl.XII, show a doorway at the extreme east end, moving west the next bay
also shows a doorway, the centre bay sports a more impoging portal, the
next bay a domestic front door, and finally the west bay, a window where
one might expect another door to correspond with that on the extreme
eastern end. At this point speculation enters into the reconstruction
and the following suggestions are made and indicated on the reconstruction
plan, fig.29.

First, the eastern doorway was, it is proposed, the original stage
entrance on to Portugal Street, not to be confused with the stage-door
which was on the north side. The architectural styling of the freestone

decoration and the importance given to this end of the building suggests
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that it was conceived in the original design. Moving immediately to

the western end of the building the window seen in the archway is, I
think, a modification effected in 1756 when that part of the theatre
became converted to domestic quarters. The structure of the building
and its symmetry strongly urge this approach. In place of this window
therefore I suggest another doorway and that would do duty as an entrance
for patrons proceeding to the upper reaches of the auditorium and the pit.
This leads one to conclude that the auditorium was in the western end of
the theatre and the stage in the east. Hogarth's engraving, 'The Bad
Taste of the Town', pl.XXXTII, may be used as supporting evidence on this
point.

It has been shown that earlier theatres on this site had the stage
at the eastern end and it is suggested that Rich for similar reasons
placed his stage in the same position. The proposal rests on two parti-
culars other than precedent, first the relationship of the dressing rooms
to the main shell of the building,and secondly, the manner in which the
bullding was subsequently altered. There are also other supporting
factors which are meore or less useful, some possibly beg the guestion.

The most powerful argument for thse eastern location is that the
dressing rooms and managerial offices were all at the eastern end of the
building, adjacent on the northern side. The earlier house on that part
of the site had also done duty as dressing rooms and scene room on the
lower level and consequently it is likely that this relationship was main-
tained. To have placed the stage at one end of the building and the
dressing rooms at the other would not have been the action of a well
experienced theatre man. With regard to the relationship of stage to
dressing rooms in contemporary theatres attention is drawn to the plan of

Vanbrugh's Queen's Theatre, in which one finds a similar placing of these



204.

rooms, pl.XLIX. Shepherd's Covent Garden, before the alteration to

be seen in Dumont's plan, pl.XLIV, had dressing rooms placed adjacent

to the stage, and on the rather limited site in Goodman's Fields Shepherd
built the dressing rooms to one gide next to the stage, pl.XIV. The only
variant in these theatres is trat the dressing rooms were not always on
what would be considered today as the traditional prompt side, for the
site was not necessarily sympathetic to such subtlety.

When in later years LIF III was subjected to large scale alterations
1t seems that the western end was most amenable to adaptation o domestic
purposes, giving three floors, which it is suggested were approximately
the original landings of the circle levels related to the principal stair-
case, whereas the eastern part was used for stables and coach houses. When
divided between Scrope and Spode it was mentioned that the dividing wall
should be built to the roof.6 This surely could happen cnly in the stage
area for there the possibility would exist to build a partition from stage
to grid without having any intervening obstructions.

There is also evidence to be drawn from the placing of functional
windows which are indicated in drawings and mentioned in the deeds, empha=-
sising that there were several in the western and northern walls but none
on the eastern wall. When considering similar features provided by sketches
of the southern facade it will be realised that the symmetry of the design
gives no help and it is suggested that those windows which were on the
stage wall, which ever that was, were blind and only built into the facade
to give it a handsome unified appearance; +to have had them all practicable
would have been a positive nuisance.7 An interesting comparison is afforded
by the side wall on the street that Shepherd designed for Giffard in
Goodman's Fields. This presents a much more economical design which really

does show its internal structure from the outside., Clearly, in that instance
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Shepherd was not concerned with trying to impress the audience attending
the theatre that they were entering anything less than a theatre, but
Goodman's Fields was not Lincoln's Inn Fields.

Additionally persuasive is the evidence from Hogarth's engraving of
the exterior of the theatre, 'The Bad Taste of the Town', Feb. 1723/4.
Admittedly he could have juxtaposed the east and west ends of LIF III to
satisfy his own compositional values but this is arguable. PL.XXXIII
shows the Queen's Theatre to the left and LIF III on the right. With
regard to the Yueen's Theatre, this is a fairly accurate rendering of the
Piazza as seen looking up the Haymarket towards Piccadilly, the theatre
would be on one's left; looking up Portugal Street in a westerly direction
the thestre was on the right and Hogarth shows what appears to be a doorway
inte the projecting bay at that end. The drawing shows the same details
as those sketched by artists later in the eighteenth and nineteenth
centuries. It is therefore claimed that the window in the rusticated
archway after 1795 was a late 18th century conversion, probably coming
into existence about 1756 and that it replaced the doorway into the theatre
shown by Hogarth when it was illuminated by two splendid lanterns. The
two doorways in the receding bays might have been alterationg perpetrated
by later owners of the premises when it no longer functioned as a theatre.
The door to the west, the domestic front door, may or may not have been
particularly useful to the theatre for it is not far from the western door
or that in the centre of the building, unless it was specifically used to
segregate the audience. It was certainly the front door to the 'house!
that was built into that end of the theatre later in the century. But
the eastern doorway, a larger double door, would have been useful on to
the stage for scenery and large properties, in other words, it may have
been the theatre's dock-doors.8 Certainly they disturb the elegance of

the design but, as will be realised, there was no possibility of providing
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such an entrance on the northern side of the theatre and it was enclosed
on the other two sides. This double door in the east end adds further
weight to the theory that the stage was in the east and this was later
talien advantage of by subsequent owners of the theatre when deciding on
areas that could be easily converied into stables and coach house.

The principal and central doorway is considered to have been part
of the original structure. The design seems to call for such a door in
the centre of the projecting bay. When the building functioned as a theatre
it is probable that this entrance, having more importance if not elegance,
led into the pit and first circle of boxes from the Portugal Street side.
It will be noted, of course, that there was a public entrance on the north
side, the Portugal Row entrance, giving on to that side of the auditorium;
this entrance will be discussed below.

Several documents describing the Portugal Street side of the building
repeat that it had a 'shed' before the entrance, 'and the Shed +theretofore
used for a passage into the said Playhouse adjoining to the south side
thereof'.9 All the extant drawings show more or less consistently the
hoist hinged to the eastern edge of the doorway ready to unlcad and load
Copeland's packing cases, but there is no sign of this 'shed'. The door
is provided with a rather minimal arched porch or heood of neagre propor-
tions which does not belong very happily to the building. It is probable
that this hood is all that remains of a more elaborate porch which pro-
jected some few feet over the pavement to the road and this feature might
have been deprecatingly described as a 'shed'. But there is no graphic
evidence to help visualize this object mentioned in the indentures.

The plan shows the five doorways proposed on the south side, one at
each end of the theatre in the projecting bays, that to the east on to the
stage area and that west into the auditorium or rear foyer; between these

in the centre a more imposing entrance into the pit and boxes; on either
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gide of that, to the west, possibly ancther entrance to the auditorium
but not certain, and to the east a large double door giving on to the
stage as a dock door.

On the basis of the evidence discussed above the stage has been
placed at the east end of the building and the auditorium towards the

western end and accordingly they are shown on the reconstruction plans.

The entrance on the north side

Advertisements like that appearing for Ferdinando, 9 February 1734,
distinguished clearly between the entranceson the north and south for
they suggested to the patrons that,

Coaches are desir'd to come on the Lincoln's Inn Fields
side and Chairs on Carey Street side. It is desir‘'d

that all Persons would be pleased to oxder their Coaches
to wait within the Rails in Lincoln's Inn Fields, which
will entirely prevent any stop at the Door of the Theatre.

The passageway, %'3" wide, that had previocusly allowed patrons to
enter the tennis court and LIF I and LIF II, was maintained throughout the
life of LIF I1I. DNo graphic evidence has been found of this entrance in
Portugal Row.11 The passage is shown in the figs. 18-20 drawn to represent
the state of the site during the years 1714 down to 1744 during which time
the building functioned as a theatre. It is also shown passing between
No. 39 and No. 38 on the reconstruction plans as it enters the yard on the
north side of the theatre. Reference was made to the passageway in an
advertisement for Handel's Opera Company, 22 Nov. 1739, 'The passage from
the fields to the House will be covered for the better conveniency! of the
patrons.12 Having negotiated this passage patrons passed a collection of
13

outbuildings, w.cs, & pump in the yard, and the miscellaneous huts, 'all

those buildings or apartments theretofore used as sheds or shops or coffee
houses’.14

The location of the main entrance on the north side into the theatre

has been determined by reference to several factors. First, the projected
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scope of the scene rooms and dressing room tlock to the east of the

rear wall; secondly, the relationship of any entrance into the building
with the main sfaircase well situated on the north side of the theatre;
and thirdly, the relationship between all these parts, the scene room,
the principal staircase, main entrance and the projected scale of the

stage itself.

The Basement

The whole fabric was raised on an extensive basement. The full scope
of the basement in 1848 was drawn by Barry, his section, pl.XIb,shows a
basement running the whole breadth, and one assumes length, of the ware-
house. The depth was 9'5". There are repeated references to this basement

15

and cellars when the theatre operated as a warehouse, At times part of
it was used by a carpenter, part ag a private wine cellar,l6 and at times
it was leased to Meaux Brewery. The Sun Fire Office plan, 1806, indicates
steps descending to it in the west end of the building. It is fairly safe
to suggest therefore that the basement, though subject to some partitioning,
existed in 1756; the date of the change of function from theatre to ware-
house. Prior to that date there are several references to cellars which
argue in support of accepting this basement as being the foundation upon
which the theatre was built.17 It is thought unlikely that in spite of
the alteration effected in 1756 further excavations on the site were
undertaken.l8

It was noted above with regard to LIF I and LIF II that it is probable
that the original tennis court had a basement, not necessarily as con-
siderable as that found in LIF III, but nevertheless a basement. Now it is
suggested that in 1714 this was further excavated in every direction. In
the Rich v. Shepherd Complaint and Answer concerning Covent Garden in 1733,

one finds reference back to LIF III and its basement. Additionally it was

noted that there were cellars not only under the theatre itself but also’
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beneath the street, Portugal Street.l9

By reference to the basement attention is drawn to the possibility
that the ground floor level given in the Barry plan was more or less the
level of the stage in the up-stage area and of the rear auditorium foyer
or passage leading to the first range of boxes, thus allowing the recon-
struction of the pit to be placed below ground level and afford adequate
space beneath the stage for any stage machinery that might be required.
This would also provide access from beneath the stage to the orchestra
pit. Support for this comes from contemporary practice at the Queen's
Theatre, pl.XLIX; Drury Lane, pl.XXIX; and Covent Garden, pl.XLIV.

This same ground floor level has been adopted in this reconstruction.

The Auditorium

The guiding principle determining the division of the house into
auditorium and stage is that set out in the reconstruction of the first
Lincoln's Inn theatre, i.e., that the width of the theatre determined the
depth of the staée, thereafter the same dimension was applied to set the
position of the boxes which was estimated from the location of the pros-
cenium arch. The position of the proscenium arch on the stage is related
to the depth of forestage required by a stage box and one door of entrance.
This rule seems to have been adopted at the Queen's Theatre by Vanbrugh;
at Covent Garden by Shepherd; at Hampton Court by Thornhill; and Drury Lane
by 1748, and consider Goodman's Fields,-C pls.XLIX, XLIV, XLIII and XIV
respectively. At the same time consideration has been paid to the position
of the dressing rooms and scene rooms, the main entrance with its principal
staircase as well as the suggested entrance into the building from the
Portugal Street side. Consequently the fore-stage has been drawn 43'6"
off the eastern wall. This procedure also allows the maintenance of the

strict geometric relationship between the audience in the centre box on
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one gside of the proscenium arch and, on the other, the perspective
scenery.

The area devoted to the auditorium is therefore 43'6" wide by
64'9" long. Within this space are set up the pit, the boxes, middle
gallery and gallery. The pit at basement level is surrounded by the
ranges of boxes which have been organised in relation to the floor levels
indicated by Barry. The adoption of these levels follows from the con-
sideration that all alterations to the. theatre maintained the staircase
on the north side of the building in, more or less, its original gtate.
Thi.t staircase related also to another built within the 1714 extension
which in turn led on to the floors in the west end, all of which rose to
equal heights, i.e., according to Barry and supported by the 1757 W.P.L.
note,21 from ground storey to first floor, 12'1%; from f£irst floor to
the second or upper storey, 15'9"; and from upper storey 40 beneath the
main joists, T'9%.

The reconstruction of the auditorium has been influenced by three
main sources of information, first the Hogarth engraving, 'The Beggar's
Opera Burlesqued'; secondly, estimations of seating capacity that have
been deduced from the Rich Account books;22 and thirdly, the Bills in
the case that Rich brought against Shepherd. These sources are supplemented

by other contemporary records to fill in a more detailed picture.

The Pit

The raked pit measures approximately 32'0" deep from the forestage to
the boxes and contains thirteen rows of benches, 10" benches with 1'3"
spaces.?? At the rear beneath the box fronts the bench is 1'6" deep to
follow contemporary practice and allow a little ease. The benches follow
the arc of the box front. An alternative to this styling would be to follow

that adopted at Covent Garden and though the same arc would be used the
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gseats would be built in straight segmental sections. The same qualifi-
cation could be applied throughout the whole reconstruction. The capacity,
estimating 1*'3" for each person, would be approximately 294, but additional
seating could be provided if hinged seating were installed in the two
aisles. This would allow a further 44 places, thus giving a maximum capa-
city of 338. It was these benches t%it were found removed and piled in the
boxes in 1757 according to the Garric$7§%.24 Also noted in that memorandum
was the orchestra pit. Here it is sho;n to be about 22'0" long and 4'0O%
at its widest point in the curving orchestra rail. The orchestra pit
would have been reached from a doorway set in the fore-stage beneath stage
level. The musicians'! room might well have been under the stage at the
rear. Access ito the pit for the audience would have been up steps from
the surrounding basement corridor through doors at the front of the pit
beneath the second box on both sides, i.e., not the stage box but the next
one moving into the house. The corridors, 2'3" wide, were approached from
two directions. First, it is suggested, that having entered on the north
side of the theatre access to the pit could have been gained by descending
the staircase that was a continuation of the principal staircase which,
from an entrance under the first landing at ground floor level, led to the
basement. This is suggested by the Bddison sketch of the ground floor
flight of steps, fig.26. The staircase has been reconstructed in the
elevations of the north side of the theatre, figs.29 and 31. The second
point at which descent tc the pit corridor could have been made was in
the north west corner of the auditorium. ?his would be of use to those
entering the house through the rusticated arch on the Portugal Street side
of the building.

The depth of the pit shown in the reconstruction is determined by two
factors; first, the distance proper for boxes from the proscenium arch
according to the theory developed abovej and secondly, the estimated

2
seating capacity according to interpretations of the Rich Account books. Z
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The Boxes

The pit is surrounded by boxes set out in a fan shaped design.
This style has been adopted after consideration of the alterations put
in hand at the Queen's Theatre 1708/9, pl.XLIV, the subsequent develop-
ment of Covent Garden, pl.XLIV, and remarks made in the Bills John Rich
ve. Edward Shepherd, the Goodman's Field Theatre and late plans of the
Drury Lane theatre, 1775.

The main body of the boxes at the rear of the pit, the first row in
the boxes set 43'6" from the proscenium arch, contains nine steps (4")
in the 20'6" depth, with the possibility of a few 1'6" seats set against
the rear wall between the doors. This would provide an approximate
capacity of 270. The bench spacing here is the same as that in the pit.
The only difference is that 1'6" has been allowed for each body rather
than 1'3" everywhere else in the house except this first range of boxes
and side boxes. Access to these boxes is through five doors in the rear
partition. Set within the front row of benches rise six columns supporting
the middle gallery. They are set at 7'0" centres. The height of this
first range is 8'0" at the front. The area is partitioned into five
sections,.

Linking these boxes with the forestage boxes are four boxes on each
side of the house. Phe columns dividing the boxes are at T'O" centres and
at the apron are 8'O" high. Two benches are possible in each of the first
two boxes on each side close to the stage, but only one bench in those
remaining towards the rear. This would provide a capacity of approximately
24 on each side. Not including the stage boxes therefore, the total capacity
of the boxes is estimated at 318.

The boxes are approached at ground level. On the north side there

might have been a partition separating the main foyer from the box corridor.
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Through a doorway in this partition the audience could pass to the
entrance door to their respective box on the north side, or continue
along the 213" passage to the rear of the house and the doors set in

the partition there. If necessary they could pass on round to the south
side along a similar 2'3" passage way to the boxes on the south side.27
Access to the boxes and the pit possibly could also be made through the
principal porched entrance on Portugal Street.

Reference has been made above to the terra cotta busts of Shakespeare
and Jonson ancd it is suggested that those busts were housed in recesses
over the entrances to the boxes and pit entrance door respeotively,28 on
the north side. It is also possible that there were similar recesses at
every box entrance, each sporting the head of a playwright.

The decorative styling of the auditorium and ranges of boxes as drawn
in the elevation, fig.30, is derived from Hogarth's engraving, 'The
Beggar's Opera Burlesqued'!, pl.XA{XVII. The argument for the acceptance
of this drawing a8 & true representation of the interior of the theatre
is set out below with the discussion of the forestage and proscenium arch

after concluding the description of the remaining galleries.

The liiddle Gallery

This tier follows the general lay-out of the boxes below and the
recongtruction of this area is more clearly seen in the longitudinal
section, fig.30. The side boxes in the middle gallery follow precisely
those in the first range of boxes. The difference arises in the gallery
at the rear @f the auditorium. The depth of the gallery is 24'0", con-
taining eleven rows of stepped benches which together with the boxes at
that level provide seating for approximately 416. The benches and spaces
are organised in the same manner as the pit, but here where the rake is

increased, each range of benches is 1'0O" higher than that before it, this
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stepping would be assisted by 6" steps at every riser at either side

2 This would also lead

of the gallery in a passageway at the wall.2
on into the boxes in the middle gallery. It is also suggested that
access to the middle gallery would be possible from the main staircase
on the north side, the staircase built into the Rich-Tasburgh extension,
ancé the stairs in the north west corner at the rear of the auditorium.
Lgain, as in the boxes below, the columns supporting the galleries pass

through the front row of benches. In this range the columns give 8!Q"

head rocm at the front of the gallery.

The Upper Gallery

Proceeding up any of the staircases mentioned above one enters into
the upper gallery. Due to limitations on the height of the building it
is estimated thst there could be no more than eight rows of benches con-
tained in the 16'0" depth of the galiery. The benches here would be set
out and raked in the same manner as below except that the stepping is
increased to about 1'6", thus requiring an intermediate step of 9". Such
a gallery could probably hold as many as 240, but whether or not the usual
48 could be pressed into the side boxes at this level, and still see the
stage below, 1s another matter for the sightlines would have become mare
critical. However there would be space for accommecdating at lewust 32 more
patrons. The slips above, reached by a corridor from the gallery floor,
would probably only give rcom for 32, giving a total capacity in the gallexy
and slips of, at the minimum, 272 plus 32, 304. There could on occasions
be a few more pressed into this area on popular nightge.

The front of house ranges of boxes, galleries ana pit, along with the
stalrcagses thet served them as described above, will now be related to the
central dividing feature between the auditorium and upstage area, the fore-
stage, its proscenium arch and stage boxes with their balconies, which have
determined the style and to some extent the proportion of those parts of

the house considered above.
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The Proscenium Arch, Stage Boxes and Balconies, and the Forestage

Discussing the interior and proscenium arch of LIF III, in the light
of the various versions of 'The Reggar's Opera', Sawyer, the most recent
commentator on the theatre,concluded,

Just how accurately Hogarih represented the interior of
LIF III in his many paintings of the second scene in

Act III of The Beggar's Opera is debatable, but I think

we cannot unhesitatingly accept any of his versions as
literal truth. The stage takes on & breadth and elevation
in later versions that it did not have originally.30

However, because Sawyer misconstrued his evidence found in the 1794 deed,
and did not take into account all the available representations of the
LIF III proscenium arch and its forestage, it is necessary before going
any further to reassess the evidence he produced as well as additional
material, some of which has been previously misattributedBl and the rest
not hitherto recognised.

Having resolved the proscenium arch problem and therefore also the
authenticity of Hogarth's 'The Begsar's Opera Burlesqued', thus allowing
as reliable and acceptable evidence drawn from Hogarth for the style and
proportion of the forestage and boxes, those boxes and balconies will be

related to the auditorium that hos been reconstructed above.

The Proscenium Arch

There are five illustrations that depict the proscenium arch of the
theatre in the 1720s and early 1730s. Only one shows the proscenium arch
in its entirety. The others record seclected elements and emphasise
different aspects. But of these five representations it is only necessary
to compare three for two are duplications in which there is no marked

variation. The earliest sketch, probably dating from 1724,52

is a pen and
ink drawing with water colour wash, of John Rich playing Harlequin Dr
Faustus, pl.AZXXV, The artist is not known. The second representation,

Cs1728, 'The Beggar's QOpera Burlesqued!', exists in two forms, one a pen

and ink wash sketch, pl.XXXVI, the other an engraving of the latter in
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which the only difference is that the engraving is more worked up than
the drawing, pl.XXXVII. The third source of evidence is that provided
by Hogartht's 1728-1730 more elaborate versicn of 'The Beggar's Opera',
that is, the Tate Gallery picture which is a copy of that in the Mellon
Collection. There is a fourth piece of evidence in a vignette which
shows a progcenium arch which, it is suggested, is drawn in part from a
knowledge of the one which is now argued to be that of the Theatre Royal,
Lincoln's Inn Fields. Because it seems to depend heavily on Hogarth's
drawing, this last illustration, Bickham's ‘A lasgue at the 0ld House',
pl.XLI, will be discussed separately after consideration of the first
three major examples.

First the common features in each representation will be discusgsed,
secondly, the differences; thirdly, the problem relating to the accep-
tance of each version as being independently ‘authentic'; and finally, a
projection of the proscenium arch. The only drawing that provides an
unimpaired view of the proscenium arch is 'Harlequin Dr Faustus', there-
fore comparisons will be made in relation to that sketch.

A1l three renderings show on each side a pedestal upon which crouches
a satyr on its haunches supporting, like Heracles, a massive weight. The
decoration may be divided into three parts, the pedestal, the satyr and

superstructure.

The Pedestal

'Harlequin Dr Faustus', pl.XXXV, shows & bombé pedestal standing,
in relation to John Rich, about 3'6" to 4'0" high. The pedestals in the
Tate 'Beggar's Opera', pl.XL, are partially masked on both sides by the
audience but it could have the same profile as that in 'Harlequin Dr
Taustus'e. The only special decorative feature in the Tate 'Beggar's

Opera'! is that on the stage right pedestal there is a large acanthus leaf
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design to be seen behind the shoulder of the down stage lady. There is
nothing mutually incompatible in either the heavy moulding or the

acanthus motif, in fact, the contrary is more than likely. The height

of the pedestal in the Tate picture could be approximately 5'0" to 5t6".
There is a considerable amount of cheating in the proportions of the
figures, actors and audience, as well as the furniture in this area. The
pedestal in the Tate picture seems to project well into the scene rather
than belong to the proscenium arch which is hidden behind the heavy draped
curtain. In 'The Beggar's Opera Burlesqued', pl.£XXVII, the pedestzl is
magked totally by Lucy, the sow, and Macheath, the ass. But the satyr is
placed as if it were raised on a pecestal such as that found in either of
the other two drawings. One may therefore suggest that the lower division
was a pedestal possibly of the bombé variety, as in the 'Harlequin Dr
Faustus!, with or without the acanthus decoration of the Tate 'Beggar's

Opera'.

The Satyrs
All three designs show the satyrs clearly. The differences that

occur are in the postures of the beasts. In the 'Harlequin Dr Faustus!
the stage right satyr supports a corbel with its left arm raised over its
head whilst revealing its face. Its right arm is lost; possibly the
anetomy was too confusing or the work is unfinished, which is certainly
true of the soffit of the arch and the scenery. The stage left satyr
supports with its left arm and consequently masks its face. The right
knee of this satyr is higher than its left and the beast does not squat
quite as low as that on the other side of the stage. One could argue
that in this drawing the stage right satyr watches the action, and that

on the stage left side turns away.
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In the Tate 'Beggart!s Opera' the stage right satyr almost straddles
the top of the plinth; resting on its right arm it supports the mass
above with the left arm and loocks up-stage. That on the stage left
however looks down infto the scene and at Polly. It sits well down on
its haunches under the weight of the stone work, supporting it with the
left arm and resting the right arm on the left thigh. This is a reversal
of the postures seen in 'Harlequin Dr Faustus'! and could be explained
away on compositional grounds or simply coincidental and depended on the
way Hogarth transferred his original sketch to the canvas. The argument
would satisfy those questions asked regarding the composition of both
pictures, but it would leave the facts relating to the proscenium arch
still in doubt. Precisely the same dilemma arises from the information
provided by the 'Beggar's Opera Burlesqued!, for here again the satyr
adopts a posture which is only a slight variant of that seen on the stage
right side of 'Harlequin Dr Faustus'. Once again it could be that the
satyr is looking inito the scene to serve a compositional function rather
than representing faithfully the figure on that side of the stage.
Although there are two drawings which show the stage right satyr looking
on to the stage, one of them, 'The Beggar's Opera Burlesqued!, does not
show its corresponding figure looking either upstage cor on stage. The
problem is that two representations are satirical compositions in which
any artist, and especially Hogarth, would take advantage of a decorative
feature found in reality and use it to his own ends. Consequently, since
one does not know the artist of the 'Harleguin Dr Fgustus', one does not
know to what extent or in what capacity he also was using the satyrs. It
does seem, however, that though unfinished, the 'Harlequin Dr Faustus!
drawing is of a different character compared with the other illustrations

in that it is a theatre genre piece not attempting to do any more than
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depict authentically a moment in the harlequinade. !'The Beggar's
Opera Burlesqued', as the title suggests, is a blatant piece of extrava-

gant satire upon The Beggar's Opera in particular and opera in general.

But in the final paintings in the 'Beggar's Opera' series Hogarith seems

to have painted a naturalistic not satirical representation of the stage
action. The extent to which Hogarth has exaggerated the existing features
might be related more to compositional rather than satirical considerations.

Turning attention now to the third division, the upper section of the
proscenium arch, one gleans little from the Tate 'Beggar's Cpera' for,
whatever it is that these satyrs support, much of it on the stage right is
in shadow and on the stage left, the spherical form is shrouded behind the
curtain. However the satyr on the stage right side in '"The Beggar's Opera!
is seen to grasp some kind of spherical corbel, although the engraving
does not define it clearly. Above this corbel is a shapely urn set within
a shell alcove. What appsars to be an elaborate decorative feature in
'The Beggar's Opera Burlesqued' is reproduced in a more mundane and less
exuberant manner in 'Harlequin Dr Faustus'. In this drawing both sides
correspond showing the corbel as square and imperfectly drawn,and above,

a tall elegant urn within an undecorated alcove, no shell or keystone.

The remaining features of the proscenium arch, the adjacent Corinthian
pilasters, the soffit and curiains are each shown in the three principal
representations under discussion. But no drawing or painting shows two
of these items in conjunction. Only 'The Begger's Opera Burlesgued'
sketch and engraving describe the pilaster that linked the proscenium
arch with the front of house boxes. Both show the shaft of the pilaster
rising to the height of the second circle of boxes before terminating in
a Corinthian capital. Only the engraving suggests that the pilasters

were fluted. The ordering of the bases or pedestals is obscured; as
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also is that of the capital to cornice and soffit. This engraving

shows the gallery box front running into the capital in order to allow
those in the gallery some sight of the upper reaches of the forestage.
But this would not be supported by the evidence provided by the
'Harlequin Dr Faustus'y, for in that work the soffit traverses the stage
almost immediately above the alcove. The soffit is shown, sketchily,

to have been coffered. Only the Tate 'Beggar's Opera' shows the swagged
curtains, the Royal arms and the house motto. Certainly this would have
been out of place in 'The RBeggar's Opera Burlesgued! in whick the lettering
and clouds provide an inner frame to a composite picture. Finally one
should recall that the 'Harlequin Dr Faustus'! is an unfinished work which
could accommodate the swags and drapes at a later stage.

The position from which the curtains were hung seems to be immediately
down stage of the satyrs and pedestals, sandwiched between these and the
pilasters. The valence swags and arms appear %o be attached to the dom
stage edge of the soffit which would seem to be deeper than that suggested
in 'Harlequin Dr Faustus', otherwise the curtains would not have obscured,
in the Tate 'Beggar's Opera', the alcove and urn, and draped themselves
over the satyrs - unless this is because Hogarth preferred to give a
softened and barogque frame to his picture and avoid the squareness of the
proscenium arch running into the actual frame of the picture. Be that as
it may, neither of the two illustrations shows the curtain in any position

up stege or down stage of the proscenium arch.

Proportions of the Proscenium Arch

Approximate measurements of the proscenium arch estimated by relating
the heights of the characters depicted to their surroundings:

'Harlequin Dr Faustus! approx. 16'6" x 12t'Qv
'The Beggar's Operat, Tate " 230" x 15'Qn 7
'""he Beggar's Opera Burlesqued! " ?  x lswov
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Drawing together all elements of the proscenium arch as variously
described in the several illustrations one is able to suggest a design
for the proscenium arch of LIF III about the years 1724-1730. Finally
the following description will be related to the width and height of the
reconstructed theatre.

Collectively the drawings show that the sides of the proscenium arch
were divided into roughly three equal sections, the pedestal, the satyzr
and the alcove with urn. The 'Harlequin Dr Faustus' drawing alone shows
an winterrupted view of the objects, but with regard to the pedestal
shown in the drawing, there is nothing to negate its existence in the
other two illustrations.

Concerning the satyrs and urns, since they occur throughout, there
is every likelihood of their authenticity. The only point at issue
arises over the variations found in these features. With regard to the
satyrs it was shown that these variants could occur for two reasons -
either the compositiocnal requirements of the artist or his satirical
intentions. But whichever reason seems most acceptable there is no zood
argument for the rejection of the satyrs. The same holds true for the
third order of detail, the urns in their alcove.

The arguments for the apparent difference between the Hogarth and
the anonymous 'Harlequin Dr Faustus' might be based upon the ability of
the artist and the nature of the work produced. 'Harleguin Dr Faustus!
is unfinished but nevertheless shows signs of being a very literal and
pedestrian and therefore probably more accurate representation of the
scene. It exaggerates nothing with a view to create a theatrical or
dramatic atmosphere, on the contrary, its handling suggests that the
parts are shown but naively proportioned and contracted slightly. This

nay be for reasons of the drawing's ultimate purpose when possibly
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reproduced in oil or engraved; one does not know. Therefore by reason
of its appearance of actuality and fact, I am prepared to accept this
'drawing as representing the LIF III proscenium arch, seeking for support
that evidence provided by Hogarth.

This leads one t0 accept that Hogarth was not inventing the proscenium
arch but only exaggerating and possibly embellishing that which was already
there and readily identifiable by his petrons as specifically LIF III. In
satire or burlesque, a form which relies essentially, for its immediate
success, upon its symbolic or emblematic shorthand, it would have been
pointless for Hogarth not to have shown the most characteristic and indivi-
dual element of the theatre - its proscenium arch. Since therefore the
Tate 'Beggar's Opera'! and 'The Beggar's Opera Burlesqued! jointly show
similar elements to those represented in 'Harleguin Dr Faustus! one
suggests that all three illustrations corroborate each other to give the
decoration at the sides of the proscenium arch. Additionally, upon
similar arguments it is suggested that the corinthian pilaster, coffered
soffit and heavy swagged curtain should all be accepted as authentic,

The Royal arms in the lellon and Tate pictures present difficulties
for the first quarter of the arms is inaccurately drawn unless George II

changed them.33

The extraordinary fact is that the first three versions
of 'The Beggar's Opera'! show the correct marshalling of the arms, i.e.,
England and Scotland not England quartered with France and Scotlande

With regard to the theatre motto, Veluti in Speculum Utile Dulce,

it is not unlikely that such & decoration was pleced around the arms; a

similar motif is thought to have existed at Drury lane - Vivitur Ingenio.

Vhether or not the arms and mottc were placed in the theatre in precisely

the same position as that shown in the pictures is discussed below.



225

Having clarified the position with regard to identifying the
LIF III proscenium arch there remains for attention the vignette, 'The
lMasque at the 0ld House', pleXLI. This arrives at no useful conclusion
but that all evidence has been thoroughly examined. Published in 173%8-9,
this engraving exhibits certain elements of the proscenium arch that have
been discussed above and now claimed to be that of LIF III. The plate
has received 1little or no consideration in the past.34

Before examining this engraving it should be mentioned that it was
reproduced in a much reduced state by Desmond Shaw-Taylor in Covent

35

Garden. The drawing was not considered in that place but by implication
it was thought to be a representation of an eventi at Covent Garden and
therefore depicted the proscenium arch of that theatre. However, the plate
when used in that work omitted to show the song o which the picture
related and also the title, 'The llasque at the 0ld House', which is, one
would argue, the title of the scene and not of the song which began on the
previous page. In 1737 the '0ld House' was certainly not Covent Garden
but more likely +to be LIF III, rather than even the older house Drury Lane.
The only other place in which one has found this Bickham engraving
is anongst the notes on LIF III compiled by an unknown Victorian theatre

historian who had visited the theatre in 1823.56

The most that one can
claim is that this historian knew something of the theatre, or verhaps
that some well informed person persuaded him that it was concerned with
the LIF III theatre, and consequently he included this single sheet in
his collected notes, not for the song, but for the illustration.

On comparison, 'The Masque at the Qld House'!', pl.XLI, with 'The
Beggar's Opera Burlesqued', pl.XXXVII, it becomes clear that all the

architectural details on stage right of the picture are the work of

Bickham. Upstage of the proscenium arch pilaster is an enormous doorway
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that is inaccurately drawn. Although Bickham's engravings were considered
highly in his own day most of his scenes, Watteauesque pastorals, did not
include, to any great extent, architectural features and those vignettes
showing architecture or interiors are singularly clumsy because of the

lack of application of gquite simple rules of perspective. Other decorative
features on that side of the stage must also be considered with some sus-
picion for they are not to be found in the sketches considered above.
Additionally there is some inconsistency on Bickham's part when relating
one side of the stage to the other, for neither the bases of the pilasters
nor the box fronts are the same.

Another of Bickham's contributions is the free handling of the
audience in the stage and circle boxes, particularly the menner in which
he has related the scene to the song by introducing Pulchinello and
Columbine in the stage left box where they fill the space that elsewhere
accommodated six personse.

The differences in the box area are first, '"The Beggar's Opera
Burlesqued' shows a decorative arch to the boxes, 'The Masque at the 0ld
House' boxes are square; 'The Beggar's Opera Burlesqued! shows the box
fronts of the circle tongue and grooved, those in 'The Masque at the Old
House', turned balustrades; thirdly, the profile of the stage boxes in
'The Beggar's Opera Burlesqued' is obscured, but in 'The lasque at the
0ld House' Bickham has to complete the scene himself and the shape of the
box front seems to be determined by the profile of the rococo frame
rather than reality.

In spite cof these inconsistencies the scene is important for the
representation of the satyr supporting the corbel, urn and shell upstage
of the stage left pilaster. This satyr fills what would have been a wide

open space in the composition on that side of the picture.
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But whilst it is agreed that Bickham shows some ingenuity he also
reveals his dependence on Hogarth and ignorance of the actual theatre
for with regard to the satyr etc. he only shows as much as Hogarth had
drawn, thereafter he is at a losss IFurther, he shows himself noi exactly
sure of what Hogarth had drawn for the whole decorative feature is not
placed within the proscenium arch wall as Hogarth drew it, but it appeaxs
to be a profile flat projecting on to the stage without a base or pedestal
of any kind. It is this unacceptable structure that forces one to con-
gsider the engraving in relation to the proscenium arch of the LIF IIT but
at the same time to reject it as not adding any more to our knowledge
already gleaned from those drawings discussed above. L1t would be difficult
t0 show that Bickham was drawing upon any personal experience of this or
any other theatre when executing the design. This is particularly evident
in his treatment of the two main characters in the scene which again
depends on Hogarth.

One is guessing at the characters inveolved in the satire depicted
when suggesting that the strutting ass braying on stage right is Farinelli
and the roaring bull to the left centre, Senesino, for although these opera
gingers at the King's Theatre are mentioned in the text, the figures are
extracted from Hogarth's 'The Beggar's Opera Burlesqued'. The labels that
the actors carry are either indecipherable or unhelpful.

The figure on stage right stands in the posture of the parodied
Peachum in 'The Beggar's Cpera Burlesqued' where he has a wolf's head, but
Bickham has provided him with liacheath's head from the same Hogarth work
and reversed it. On close inspection the head is badly joined on to the
body; the decapitated head does not grow out of the stock at the neck.
The hands hold the same pose as given in the original but Bickham replaced
the account book under Peachum's arm by the box in which are placed two

puppets, the significance of which eludes me.
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The stage centre character one suggests is a representation of
Senesino but without his height for the figure is taken fron Lockit in
'The Beggar's Opera Burlesqued'! with very minor alterations. The
costume is altered only about the footwear which from boots and leggings
Bicltham changed to the theatrical boots and spurs of the operatic hero.
That Senesino's right leg and foot do not match his left may be accounted
for by suggesting that in Hogarth's drawing Iucy's dress hid that leg
and Bickham was forced to supply his own. The keys that hang at Lockitt's
left side are replaced by the label which is tacked on to Senesino. The
label is difficult to read bubt the letters seem to be 'Ma « « « of ye
Housew'., The glowering bull's head of Lockit in 'The Beggar's Opera
Burlesqued! has been replaced by a roaring head in 'The liasque at the
0ld House!, but this is not an original contribution of Bickham for the
head is also taken from Hogerth.

In summing up this analysis of 'The llasque at the 0ld House! it is
concluded that the evidence found here cannot be used to support the
conclusions reached above regarding the proscenium arch of LIF III for
this drawing, whilst superficially appearing to provide evidence from
another hand in 1737, i% depends so heavily upon Hogarth's drawing and
engraving of 1728 that it cannot be considered an originzl work but a
reworking of the already ten year old Nogarth drawing without contributing
any new information; neither does it afford any basis for conficence in
Bickham's personal knowledge of the theatre.

Due consideration has bheen given to all the evidence deduced from
the graphic evidence analysed above in the drawing of the projected re-
congtruction of the proscenium arch and forestage. Account has also been
taken of the mathematical relationship between the auditorium and the
scenic stage as well as the physical requirements that seem demanded by

the scope of the site.
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With regard to the site, it will be observed that the theatre was
not built absolutely square on the plot. This is obvious in the plans
provided which have been redrawn from Barry's survey plan. It would
seem that this discrepancy could be due to the theatre having been
built, in the north western corner, upon the same line of the old tennis
court. This may be the reason for the west side being slightly shorter
than the east end.. But, striking a mean for this reconstruction it was
decided that for all practical purposes the width 43'6" would serve.
The width of the proscenium arch was then determined by the subtraction
of the estimated depth required in the stage boxes and the passage
serving them. Consecuently on squaring up the site the longitudinal
centre line was struck 21'3" from the south wall on the inside. BHaving
allowed 2!'3" for the passage and 6'0" for the depth of the stage boxes,
this produced a maximum figure of 25'6" for the width of the proscenium
arch including the thickness of any pilasters decorating the arch. The
pilasters shown in the drawing reduce the opening to 24!'6". The distance
of the proscenium arch from the edge of the forestage was calculated by
estimating the width reguired for the stage boxes, the apron entrance
door and applying the control of 43'6" from the first row of benches in
the boxes to the arch. Also considered was the orderly arrangement of
the division of the side boxes.
Reconciling all these forces led to providing a forestage 15'3% deep.57
The width at the front of the forestage measures 27!'3" and the total width
at the false proscenium is 24'0". The width of the stage boxes has been
estimated at 8'0" which allows 7!3" for the apron doors. Separating,
slightly overlapping and linking these two features is the pilaster, 1'6%
wide, of the proscenium arch, which has its upstage edge 43'6" from the
circle of benches in the front boxes. The disposition of the traps and

footlights has also been taken into account. This arrangement has been
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influenced by the manner in which they were set out on the forestage
of the Hampbton Court Palace theatre, 1718, pl.XLIII.

The height of the proscenium arch has been deduced from the Hogarth
engraving, the need to provide three ranges of boxes in the auditorium,
and the proportion and ordering of a pilaster approximetely 1'6" wide.
The height suggested is 22'3", There is no evidence for the design of
the arch spanning the opening. I would suggest that 2 shallow three
centred arch would be in place here, rising to about 24'0" or even
higher over the centre of the stage. From the 'Harlequin Dr Faustus!
drawing one could infer that upstage of the arch there was a coffered
goffit connecting overhead the apron doors. This soffit seems to have
been about 19'6" high, set over the capital of the pilaster. The

painting around the proscenium is considered below.

The Forestage

On the forestage itself at the very front there was a spiked rail
protecting the actors from the audience, and these were still in place in
1757, 'many of the spikes which separated it [the orchestra pit] from the
stage were still rema.ining'.38 Provision has also been made for foot-
lights which are thought to have been flexible, rising and falling through
a cut, according to need, by means of a winching system operated beneath
the stage. Five single traps and a double 'grave trap! have been intro-
duced in the same configuration as that in the Hampton Court theatre
forestage in the belief that that theasre was designed to accommodate
productions from both the Lincoln's Inn Fields and Drury Lane companies
and therefore reflected contemporary stage practice and requirements. I%
is thought that the five single itraps would have been mechanised with a
simple counterweight system, but whilst the double trap may have been

39

gimilarly operated it is not certain.
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The Stage Boxes

The stage boxes are shown to be slightly larger than those else=
where in the house, 8'0" wide, and would hold with ease eight persons
in each. Boxes of the same dimensions are shown at all three levels
and evidence for this comes from Hogarth's 'Beggar's Opera Burlesqued'.
In both the preparatory drawing and the engraving Hogarth clearly indicates
the three tiers linking the proscenium arch on the one hand and on the
other, the corresponding ranges of boxes in the body 